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Item 1. Business
Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may be "forward-looking statements." Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements
that express our intentions, beliefs, expectations, strategies, predictions or any other statements relating to our future activities or other future events or
conditions. These statements are based on current expectations, estimates and projections about our business based, in part, on assumptions made by our
management. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict.
Therefore, actual outcomes and results may, and probably will, differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements due to
numerous factors, including those described above and those risks discussed from time to time in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the risks
described under "Risk Factors" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and in other documents which
we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
In addition, such statements could be affected by risks and uncertainties related to our financial condition, factors that affect our industry, market and
customer acceptance, competition, government regulations and requirements and pricing, as well as general industry and market conditions and growth rates,
and general economic conditions. Any forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made, and, other than as required by Federal
securities laws, we do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
Background and Corporate Information
MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc. (the “Company," “MediaNet,” “we,” or “us”) was incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada on June 4, 1999,
under the name of Clamshell Enterprises, Inc. We were formed as a "blind pool" or "blank check" company whose business plan was to seek to acquire a
business opportunity through a merger, exchange of stock, or other similar type of transaction. On March 31, 2003, we completed a business acquisition by
acquiring all of the issued and outstanding common stock of ShutterPort, Inc. in a share exchange transaction. We issued 5,926,662 shares of Common Stock
in the share exchange transaction pursuant to which ShutterPort’s shareholders received one of share of our Common Stock for each share of common stock of
ShutterPort which they owned. As a result of the share exchange, ShutterPort became our wholly owned and operating subsidiary.
The former shareholders of ShutterPort acquired a majority of our issued and outstanding Common Stock in connection with the share exchange transaction.
Therefore, although ShutterPort became our wholly owned subsidiary, the transaction was accounted for as a recapitalization of ShutterPort, whereby
ShutterPort was deemed to be the accounting acquirer and was deemed to have adopted our capital structure.
We changed our name to MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc. in May 2003. In September 2003, we changed the name of ShutterPort, Inc. to BSP Rewards,
Inc. and in June 2005, we changed the name of BSP Rewards, Inc. to Brand-A-Port, Inc. In June 2005, we formed a new Florida corporation, named “BSP
Rewards, Inc. In August 2010, we voluntarily dissolved Brand-a-Port, Inc. On October 19, 2009 (the “Merger Closing Date”), pursuant to a Merger
Agreement (the “Merger Agreement”), dated as of August 10, 2009, and subsequently amended and restated on September 25, 2009, among the Company,
the Company’s then subsidiary MediaNet Merger Sub, Inc., a Nevada corporation, and CG Holdings Limited, a Cyprus limited company (“CG”), we acquired
all of the issued and outstanding shares of CG for 5,000,000 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock (the “Merger”). As more particularly described herein, the
Merger resulted in a change in control of the Company along with the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock to Common Stock. As a result of the
Merger, CG became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and CG’s subsidiaries became indirect subsidiaries of the Company.
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CG was organized in Cyprus on March 17, 2009, as a holding company for certain companies operating the “DubLi” business. DubLi commenced operations
under its current business model in October 2008. Prior to that time, the persons and companies now associated with DubLi carried on various Internet
auction activities, including reverse auctions and traditional auctions of the kind maintained by eBay. The operations of DubLi are carried out through the
following entities (collectively, the “Operating Subsidiaries”):
•
•
•
•
•

DUBLICOM LIMITED (“DUBLICOM”), a Cyprus limited company, which runs DubLi’s auction websites;
Lenox Resources, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, that holds DubLi’s intellectual property;
DubLi Network Limited (“DubLi Networks”), a British Virgin Islands limited company, that operates DubLi’s global network with its business
associates;
Lenox Logistik und Service GmbH (“Lenox Logistik”), a German corporation, which serves as the product purchasing agent of DUBLICOM for
products sold to customers outside of North America, Australia and New Zealand. Lenox Logistik also serves as an outsourced service provider that
employs persons who are collectively responsible for DubLi’s administrative, accounting, marketing and purchasing activities;
DubLi Logistics, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“DubLi Logistics”), which serves exclusively as the product purchasing agent of
DUBLICOM for products sold to customers in North America (United States, Mexico, Puerto Rico, Canada), Australia and New Zealand.

All of the Operating Subsidiaries, other than DubLi Logistics, were acquired by the Company by operation of law upon the consummation of the Merger on
the Merger Closing Date. DubLi Logistics was acquired by the Company on May 24, 2010. In addition, on May 24, 2010, the Company acquired DubLi
Properties, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, which holds certain rights to real estate in the Cayman Islands.
Business
Overview
CG, through the Operating Subsidiaries, is a global network marketing company that sells merchandise to consumers through Internet-based auctions
conducted under the trade name “DubLi.com.” Our online auctions are conducted in Europe, North America, Australia and New Zealand and we have a large
network of independent business associates that sell “credits,” or the right to make a bid in one of our auctions (referred to herein as “Credit” or “DubLi
Credits”). These auctions are designed to offer consumers real savings on these goods.
Online Auctions
The DubLi.com auctions are designed to provide consumers with the ability to obtain goods at discounts to retail prices through a fun and convenient
shopping portal. These auctions offer only certain inventory (brand new, newest model, full warranty) from the world’s leading manufacturers.
In order to participate in and make bids in any the DubLi.com online auctions, consumers must purchase Credits. Each Credit costs either US$0.80,
AU$0.90or 0.60€ depending on portal location and entitles the consumer to one bid in one auction. Discounts are available on the purchase of a substantial
volume of Credits at one time. Credits can be purchased directly from DubLi or from one of DubLi’s business associates. Accordingly, we generate revenue
from the DubLi.com auctions both on the sale of Credits and on the sale of products to the ultimate auction winners.
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DubLi has two types of auctions Xpress and Unique Bid which it operates on four separate platforms, one each for Europe, Australia and New Zealand, North
America (United States, Mexico, Puerto Rico and Canada) and Worldwide.
In an Xpress auctions, the product up for auction is displayed with a starting price, which is the lowest available retail price (the “Starting Price”). Each time a
person makes a bid (which costs him or her one Credit), the Starting Price, or the price as reduced from the Starting Price, is decreased by either US$0.25,
AU$0.25 or 0.20€ and the reduced price becomes visible to the person making a bid and to no other person. The bidder can choose to purchase the item at
the reduced price so shown or can opt to wait in the hopes that others will make bids and drive down the price. The actual purchase price is always less than
the Starting Price and is often a substantial discount to the Starting Price.
In a Unique Bid auction, the auction is scheduled with a definitive start and end time. At any time prior to the auction end time, persons can make bids (one
bid for one Credit) on the price at which it would purchase the product. Bids must be made in 0.20 increments in USD, AUD or Euro. The person who has
placed the lowest unique bid (i.e. no other person has bid the same 0.20 incremental amount) is entitled to purchase the product at such bid price.
In both styles of auctions, there are generally a high number of bidders and most bidders place more than one bid. Accordingly, between the sale of the
product and Credits, DubLi often realizes more than the price which it paid for an item. Substantially all items sold by DubLi in the online auctions are
purchased by DubLi on the open market at market price without any substantial discount. In the future DubLi may seek to work with wholesalers or retailers
to purchase items for less than they can be purchased by the average customer.
Credits are sold to consumers directly by DubLi, through our network of business associates, or through the Partner Program (described below). As of
September 30, 2010 approximately 98% of our Credit sales are made through our network of business associates and, accordingly, we are dependent on our
business associates for a significant portion of our sales. As of September 30, 2010, we had business associates located in over 70 countries. Business
associates are incentivized to locate and sponsor new business associates (“Downline Associates”) and establish their own sales organization.
Business associates earn commissions on:
•
•

the sale of Credits by the subject business associate directly to retail consumers (“Affiliated Consumers”) who are signed up by such business
associate (“Retail Commissions”);
the sale of Credits by down-line Associates sponsored by the subject business associate or such business associate’s down-line associates
(“Organizational Commission”).

To earn Retail Commissions, a business associate must purchase Credits from DubLi and resell such Credits to its Affiliated Consumers. Credits are sold to
business associates by DubLi at the same price offered to retail consumers. When an Affiliated Consumer places an order for Credits, the Credits are
automatically deducted from the Business Associate’s account and transferred to the Affiliated Consumer’s account, and the Business Associate is eligible to
earn Retail Commission. If a Business Associate does not have sufficient Credits in his or her account to cover an order by an Affiliated Consumer, DubLi
will supply the balance of Credits to fill the order, but the business associate will not be eligible to earn commissions on the Credits supplied by DubLi. The
amount of the Retail Commissions earned by a business associate varies from 5-25% based on the total Credits purchased by the business associate over a
consecutive twelve-month period. In addition, a Business Associate may make a profit from the sale of a Credit by purchasing the Credits in bulk (packages
containing 800 or 2,000 or 5,000 Credits) from the Company at wholesale and selling them to customers at the same price at which the Company sells the
Credits to its customers.
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To become a business associate, an applicant must register with DubLi by filling out an online Business Associate Application and Agreement and purchase
an e-Biz kit for US$175.00, AU$210.00 or 140.00€. The e-Biz kit is the only purchase required to become a business associate.
DubLi also offers a partner package and program (the “Partner Program”) to companies, associations, affinity groups and non-profit organizations (which it
refers to as a “white label solution”). Using the Partner Program, these groups can, through DubLi, open and utilize an auction portal open to their members.
Each partner earns a thirty percent (30%) commission on all Credits sold to such Partner’s members through their portal. Using the Partner Program gives
participating organizations a professional web presence, access to products offered on the auction portal through DubLi, and the use of DubLi to complete all
customer purchase processes. DubLi provides a variety of ready-made templates that can be customized to the individual requirements of any organization,
including the use of the organization’s URL. The Company receives the remaining 70% of the sales proceeds from which it pays all related costs and
expenses.
DubLi-BSP Shopping Mall
The Merger of the Company and DubLi has enabled DubLi to improve the Company’s BSP Shopping Mall in combination with its auction sites, business
associates, and partner programs.
BSP Rewards
BSP Rewards provides private branded loyalty and reward web malls and programs to both for-profit and not-for-profit companies and organizations. The
program is designed as a shopping service through which members receive rebates (rewards) on purchases of products and services from participating
merchants. Earned rewards may be accumulated by the member and may be used to purchase gift cards or donate to a charity. Alternatively, rewards can be
loaded onto a debit MasterCard which can be used to make additional purchases from any participating merchant in the program or from anywhere in the
world that debit MasterCard cards are accepted. The BSP program is proprietary to the Company.
The BSP Rewards program is a web based retail mall concept. Retail sellers of goods and services who join in the program as participating merchants agree to
pay rebates (between 1% and 30% of the sales price) to us for our members who purchase goods and services through the program at their individual web
stores. We collect all rebates paid by participating merchants and retain a portion (generally 30% of the rebate) as our fee for operating the program. Another
portion of the rebate (generally 50% of the rebate), is designated as a "reward" earned by the member who made the purchase. The remainder of rebate
(generally 20%) is paid to the organization or company which enrolled the purchasing member in the program.
At the present time, when a member elects to redeem all or any portion of the rewards which he or she has accumulated, the member must purchase gift cards
online that are redeemable at participating merchants or load their reward points onto our stored value MasterCard or participating affiliated cards that can be
utilized at online and in-store merchants for redemption. The BSP debit card allows the reward points to be loaded on the card and spent like cash at
participating merchants and anywhere debit MasterCard is accepted.
Member providers are companies, organizations and groups that enroll their employees or members in the BSP Rewards program. The program is sometimes
offered free to member providers who auto-enroll their member base. Member provider agreements provide that the organization will normally enroll their
members for free or nominal amount and BSP shall pay to the member providers a percentage of the rewards earned by the members that each member
provider enrolls in the program. A member provider only earns a percentage if the members enrolled actually earn rewards through the program.
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Presently, our marketing program is focusing on groups or organizations that have the potential of enrolling large numbers of members, such as major
membership clubs and organizations, credit and stored value card users. Having the capability of quickly expanding the BSP membership base to their large
participating groups, would greatly enhance our potential membership and revenue streams. To extend our presence in these markets and others, we would
require substantial working capital prior to enhancing marketing efforts directed at larger organizations as such efforts may be time consuming and costly.
During the 2nd half of 2010, the Company took steps to focus more time on larger participating groups that have the potential of enrolling large numbers of
members and terminate the smaller and inactive smaller groups.
Entertainment and Super Saver
In November 2010, the Company initiated a music sharing subscription based program within the DubLi portal that provides a social media platform and
approximately 18 million songs that can be streamed from the Internet (“DubLi Music”). For a monthly fee, a subscriber can stream an unlimited number of
songs. DubLi Music enables subscribers to stream and features significant editorial content and provides user-friendly ways for subscribers to explore,
organize, listen to and share music. DubLi Music subscribers can build and share playlists, create customized radio stations, and customize their own
homepage to receive recommendations, new release information and other content specific to their music tastes and listening history. The Company believes
that adding DubLi Music to its portal may increase DubLi brand awareness and shopping mall sales and auctions activity and the revenue potential of our
various service and product offerings. Business Associates will be primary drivers in promoting and selling this product.
Also in November 2010, the Company introduced its Super Shopper Package, a monthly subscription plan that provides Auction customers:
•
•
•
•

2.5% Cash Back on annual gasoline purchases;
2% Cash Back on all products purchased on the Xpress Auction;
2 Entries in monthly grand prize drawing; and
25 DubLi Credits per month.

New Online Mall
In February 2011, the Company introduced a new version of its online shopping mall (the “BSP Rewards Mall”).
The BSP Rewards Mall has been designed and built to deliver a personalized shopping experience that is customized to each of its users. The BSP Rewards
Mall uses a search, compare and save process to equip its users with relevant information they need to make purchase decisions. The BSP Rewards Malls’
primary objective is to provide the shopper’s information in a clear, concise and easy to use format where the user is able to obtain their desired results in the
fewest “clicks.” The BSP Rewards Mall monitors and analyzes each user’s comings and goings, their navigation activities, search tendencies and several
other proprietary factors and uses this information to customize the user interface and recommend products and services that the user will find interesting and
relevant.
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Users may search for products and services by entering key words or category inquiries. They are also able to refine their searches by using a number of
filters, including number of products, price and brand. The BSP Rewards Mall uses merchant provided auction price indexes and product information
(descriptions, price and graphics) and inputs these dynamic results into our shopping database and updates everything on an ongoing basis. The website is
designed on a Service Oriented Architecture - for a cross website synchronization interface that allows us to easily add/modify new merchants and their
corresponding id links, automatically render product information (descriptions, price and graphics) and track and input dynamically changing
discounts/specials into the database. The website also tracks and reports user data on a regular basis. The BSP Rewards Mall will initially launch in three
markets; Germany (launched in February 2011), the USA and Canada (planned for April 2011) and Australia (planned for April 2011).
Websites will support two initial languages; English and German. Spanish will be added in April 2011. The architecture has been designed to allow for
easily adding/modifying and updating multiple shopping malls in different countries, currencies and languages. It is our intent to launch a localized
shopping mall in every country in which we have a sufficiently large sales force on the ground to support such an endeavor.
The shopping user experience will be localized depending on user’s IP address – US users will see products available in the US, Germany will see German
merchants/products. Users will be able to search by product and/or categories and will be allowed to refine search with price range and other filters provided
on the result comparison page. We will also offer a number of search related features like dropdown search suggestions, auto-complete and recommendations
to assist in the users’ search. The Shopping Mall’s “Business Intelligence Tracker” technology will monitor our user’s activities and recommend products
based on their previous searches and selections. Business Intelligence Tracker will also analyze our user’s activities and recommend similar auctions and
provide links to related DubLi auctions and completed auctions.
The DubLi Mall incorporates a number of other features that are expected to build customer loyalty:
*

detailed customer account information;

*

easy to use technology;

*

convenient product description displays;

*

product ratings by customers;

*

banner and email alerts with respect to auctions, products and special prices;

*

prior navigation histories available to the user; and

*

product “wish list(s)” that can be shared with others.

Distribution
We presently have sales operations in 70 countries and territories, including the U.S. Unlike most of our competitors, which sell their products through third
party retail establishments (i.e. drug stores, department stores), we primarily sell our products to the ultimate consumer through the direct-selling channel. In
our case, sales of our products are made to the ultimate consumer principally through direct selling by independent representatives or business associates and
directly from our web sites. Business associates are independent contractors and not our employees. Business associates earn a profit by purchasing products
directly from us at a discount from a published price and selling them to their customers, the ultimate consumer of our products. No single business associate
accounts for more than 10% of our net sales.
A business associate contacts customers directly, selling primarily through our web site, which highlights new products and special promotions for each sales
campaign. In this sense, the business associate, together with the website, is the “store” through which our products are sold.
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We employ certain electronic order systems to increase business associate support, which allow a business associate to run her or his business more efficiently
and also allow us to improve our order-processing accuracy. For example, in many countries, business associates can utilize the Internet to manage their
business electronically, including order submission, order tracking, payment and two-way communications with us. In addition, business associates can
further build their own business through personalized web pages provided by us, enabling them to sell a complete line of our products online. Self-paced
online training also is available in certain markets, as well as up-to-the-minute news about us.
In the U.S. and selected other markets, we also market our products through consumer websites (www.DubLi.com in the U.S.). These sites provide a
purchasing opportunity to consumers who choose not to purchase through a business associate.
The recruiting or appointing and training of business associates are the primary responsibilities of vice presidents, sales directors, team coordinators and team
leaders. These individuals are independent contractors who are rewarded primarily based on total sales achieved in their Downline Associates. Personal
contacts, including recommendations from current business associates, webinars and live local area events constitute the primary means of obtaining new
business associates. The DubLi network program is a multi-level compensation program which gives business associates the opportunity to earn bonuses
based on the net sales made by business associates they have recruited and trained in addition to discounts earned on their own sales of our products. This
program limits the number of levels on which commissions can be earned to six levels and continues to focus on individual product sales by business
associates. Given the high rate of turnover among business associates (a common characteristic of direct selling), it is critical that we recruit, retain and
service business associates on a continuing basis in order to maintain and grow our business. In this regard, we have initiatives underway to standardize
global processes for prospecting, appointing, training and developing business associates, as well as training and developing our direct-selling executives.
From time to time, local governments and others may question the legal status of business associates or impose burdens inconsistent with their status as
independent contractors, often in regard to possible coverage under social benefit laws that would require us (and, in most instances, the business associates)
to make regular contributions to government mandated benefit funds. Although we have never needed to address these questions, they can be raised in future
regulatory changes in a jurisdiction or can be raised in additional jurisdictions. If there should be a final determination adverse to us in a country, the cost for
future, and possibly past, contributions could be so substantial in the context of the volume and profitability of our business in that country that we would
consider discontinuing operations in that country.
Sales promotion and sales development activities are directed at assisting business associates, through sales aids such as electronic brochures and other
multimedia technology, websites (www.DubLinetwork.com and www.DubLi.com), newsletters, webinars, live local events and DubLi Network Academy a
specially designed marketing educational curriculum. We use web advertising to support the efforts of business associates to reach new customers, specially
designed sales aids, promotional pieces, multimedia presentations. In addition, we seek to motivate our business associates through the use of special
incentive programs that reward superior sales performance. We have made significant investments in management time and research to understand the
financial return of such field incentives. Periodic sales meetings with business associates are conducted by the vice presidents and sales directors. The
meetings are designed to keep business associates abreast of product line changes, explain sales techniques and provide recognition for sales performance.
From time to time, various regulations or laws have been proposed or adopted that would, in general, restrict the frequency, duration or volume of sales
resulting from new product introductions, special promotions or other special price offers. We expect our pricing flexibility and broad product lines to
mitigate the effect of these regulations.
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Competition
Competitive Conditions
We face competition from various products and product lines both domestically and internationally. The consumer products industry is highly competitive
and the number of competitors and degree of competition that we face in this industry varies widely from country to country. Worldwide, we compete against
products sold to consumers by other direct-selling and direct-sales companies and through the Internet, and against products sold through the mass market
and retail channels.
Specifically, due to the nature of the direct-selling channel, we compete on a regional, often country-by-country basis, with our direct-selling competitors.
Unlike most other online retailers, we compete within a distinct business model where providing a compelling earnings opportunity for our business
associates is as critical as developing and marketing new and innovative products. As a result, in contrast to a typical online retail company which operates
within a broad-based consumer pool, we must first compete for a limited pool of representatives before we reach the ultimate consumer.
We believe that the personalized customer service offered by our business associates; the amount and type of field incentives we offer our business
associates; the high quality, attractive designs and prices of our products; the high level of new and innovative products; our easily recognized brand name
and our guarantee of product satisfaction are significant factors in establishing and maintaining our competitive position.
Auctions
DubLi competes with a variety of other companies based upon on the type of merchandise and the sales format they offer to customers. These competitors
include, but are not limited to:
•

online bidding fee auction websites such as Swoopo.com, Beezid.com and Zapadeal.com;

•

various standard, online auction websites such as eBay.com, Bidz.com and uBid.com;

•

a number of e-commerce companies focused primarily on excess and overstock products with fixed price formats, including Amazon.com,
Overstock.com, Shopping.com, eCost.com, and SmartBargains.com.

We believe that the DubLi online auction business has been able to distinguish itself from other competitors based upon its easy-to-use technology, its
network marketing strategy, local marketing knowledge gathered through the DubLi business associate sales force, and its exclusive focus on certain
inventory (brand new, newest model, full warranty) from the world’s leading manufacturers. We believe that our ability to continue to grow and effectively
compete is contingent upon our ability to make customers aware of our service offering, provide an enjoyable shopping experience and provide customers
with an opportunity to purchase merchandise at a potentially significant discount to prevailing market prices. See “RISK FACTORS - We may not be able to
compete successfully.”
Music
DubLi Music faces competition from traditional offline music distribution companies and from other online digital music services, including Apple’s iTunes
music store, Pandora Media’s internet radio services and Napster’s music subscription services, as well as a wide variety of other competitors that are now
offering digital music for sale over the Internet. Microsoft also offers premium music services in conjunction with its Zune product line, Windows Media
Player and MSN services. We also expect increasing competition from media companies, online retailers such as Amazon.com, Inc., social networking
companies such as MySpace, Inc. and Facebook, and emerging companies such as Spotify Ltd. that offer consumers free, advertising-supported music content
and applications through their websites. Our music offerings also face substantial competition from the illegal use of “free” peer-to-peer services.
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As the market for purchasing music online grows, we expect that competition for subscribers will be intense. In particular, Apple heavily markets and
promotes its brand and digital music download services in order to drive sales of its higher margin hardware products. We expect that Apple will continue to
spend significantly to market and promote its brand and the sale of downloadable music to further its business model. We also expect that other competitors
will continue to spend heavily to promote their brands and to attract and retain consumers for their services. We further believe that our ability to compete in
the digital music business will be negatively impacted by a lack of a compelling portable device solution for our music services. We are in the process of
addressing this competitive problem by developing an application for Apple’s iPhone and iPod and Google’s Android. We are dependent on Apple to
approve this application when it is submitted and there can be no assurance that they will approve it.
International Operations
Our international operations are conducted in 70 countries and territories outside of the U.S.
Our international operations are subject to risks inherent in conducting business abroad, including, but not limited to, the risk of adverse currency
fluctuations, currency remittance restrictions and unfavorable social, economic and political conditions.
See the sections “Risk Factors - Our ability to conduct business, particularly in international markets, may be affected by political, legal, tax and regulatory
risks” and “Risk Factors - We are subject to financial risks related to our international operations, including exposure to foreign currency fluctuations” in
Item 1A.
Trademarks and Patents
Our business has not been materially dependent on the existence of third-party patent, trademark or other third-party intellectual property rights, and we are
not a party to any ongoing material licenses, franchises or concessions. We protect our DubLi name and other major proprietary trademarks through
registration of these trademarks in the markets where we sell our products, monitoring the markets for infringement of such trademarks by others, and by
taking appropriate steps to stop any infringing activities.
Research and Development
The Company’s research and development is performed by in-house staff and outside consultants. Research and Development expense aggregated $156,138
and $37,836 in 2010 and 2009, respectively.
Employees
As of September 30, 2010 the Company had 47employees.
Website Access to Reports
Our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, are, and have been
throughout 2009, available without charge on our investor website (www.medianetgroup.com) as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with or
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). We also make available on our website our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. Copies
of these SEC reports and other documents are also available, without charge, from Investor Relations, MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc., 5200 Town Center
Circle, Suite 601, Boca Raton, FL 33486 or by sending an email to investorrelations@medianetgroup.com or by calling (561) 417-1500. Information on our
website does not constitute part of this report. Additionally, our filings with the SEC may be read and copied at the SEC Public Reference Room at 100 F
Street, NE Washington, DC 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling 1-800-SEC-0330. These filings
are also available on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after we have filed or furnished the above referenced
reports.
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Item 1A.Risk Factors
Our success is dependent on our ability to establish and maintain a large and growing base of business associates.
Approximately 98% of our auction Credit sales, which represents approximately 84% of our total revenue in the year ended September 30, 2010, are made
through our network of business associates and, accordingly, we are dependent on our business associates for a significant portion of our sales. To increase
our revenue, we must increase the number of and/or the productivity of our business associates. Accordingly, our success depends in significant part upon
our ability to recruit, retain and motivate a large base of business associates. Our operating results could be harmed if our existing and new business
opportunities do not generate sufficient interest to retain existing business associates and attract new business associates.
The primary way we recruit new business associates is through a network marketing strategy. The success of a network marketing force is highly dependent
upon our ability to offer a commission structure and sales incentive program that enables our business associates to recruit and develop other business
associates to create an organization. To compete with other network marketing organizations, we may be required to increase our marketing costs through
increases in commissions, sales incentives or other features, any of which could adversely impact our future earnings.
There is a high rate of turnover among business associates, which is a characteristic of the network marketing business. The loss of a significant number of
business associates for any reason could negatively impact sales of Credits and could impair our ability to attract new business associates. In addition, the
level of confidence of the business associates in our ability to perform is an important factor in maintaining and growing our business associate
network. Adverse publicity or financial developments concerning the Company, could adversely affect our ability to maintain the confidence of our
business associates.
Our business associates may not comply with our policies and procedures.
Our business associates are independent contractors and, accordingly, we are not in a position to directly provide the same direction, motivation and
oversight as we would if the business associates were employed by the Company. As a result, there can be no assurance that our business associates will
participate in our marketing strategies or plans or comply with our Business Associate Policies and Procedures and Terms and Conditions.
Extensive federal, state and local laws regulate our business and network marketing program. Because we conduct operations in foreign countries, our
policies and procedures for our business associates differ due to the different legal requirements of each country in which we do business. While we have
implemented business associate policies and procedures designed to govern business associate conduct and to protect the goodwill associated with our
trademarks and trade names, it can be difficult to enforce these policies and procedures because of the large number of business associates and their
independent status. Violations by our independent business associates of applicable law or of our policies and procedures in dealing with customers could
reflect negatively on our operations and harm our business reputation. In addition, it is possible that a court could hold us civilly or criminally accountable
based on vicarious liability because of the actions of our independent business associates.
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We face significant competition.
We face competition from competing products in each of our lines of business, in both the domestic and international markets. Worldwide, we compete
against products sold to consumers by other direct-selling and direct-sales companies and through the Internet, and against products sold through the mass
market and prestige retail channels.
Within the direct selling channel, we compete on a regional, and often country-by-country basis, with our direct-selling competitors. We compete within a
distinct business model where providing a compelling earnings opportunity for our business associates is as critical as developing and marketing new and
innovative products. Therefore, in contrast to a typical company which operates within a broad-based consumer pool, we must first compete for a limited pool
of business associates before we reach the ultimate consumer.
Direct sellers compete for representative or entrepreneurial talent by providing a more competitive earnings opportunity or “better deal” than that offered by
the competition. Business associates are attracted to a direct seller by competitive earnings opportunities, often through what are commonly known as “field
incentives” in the direct selling industry. Competitors devote substantial effort to finding out the effectiveness of such incentives so that they can invest in
incentives that are the most cost effective or produce the better payback. As a result, we are subject to significant competition for the recruitment of business
associates from other direct selling or network marketing organizations. It is therefore continually necessary to innovate and enhance our direct selling and
service model as well as to recruit and retain new business associates. If we are unable to do so our business will be adversely affected.
Our ability to conduct business, particularly in international markets, may be affected by political, legal, tax and regulatory risks.
Our ability to capitalize on growth in new international markets and to maintain the current level of operations in our existing international markets is
exposed to risks associated with our international operations, including:
•

the possibility that a foreign government might ban or severely restrict our business method of direct selling, or that local civil unrest,
political instability or changes in diplomatic or trade relationships might disrupt our operations in an international market;

•

the lack of well-established or reliable legal systems in certain areas where we operate;

•

the possibility that a government authority might impose legal, tax or other financial burdens on our business associates, as direct sellers,
or on DubLi, due, for example, to the structure of our operations in various markets; and

•

the possibility that a government authority might challenge the status of our business associates as independent contractors or impose
employment or social taxes on our business associates.

We are also subject to the interpretation and enforcement by governmental agencies of other foreign laws, rules, regulations or policies, including any
changes thereto, such as restrictions on trade, import and export license requirements, privacy and data protection laws, and tariffs and taxes, which may
require us to adjust our operations in certain markets where we do business. In addition, we face legal and regulatory risks in the United States and, in
particular, cannot predict with certainty the outcome of various contingencies or the impact that pending or future legislative and regulatory changes may
have on our business in the future. The U.S. Federal Trade Commission has proposed business opportunity regulations which may have an effect upon the
Company’s method of operating in the U.S. It is not possible to gauge what any final regulation may provide, its effective date or its impact at this time.
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We may not be successful in developing brand awareness, which is critical to our business.
We believe that brand recognition is critical to our business. Development and awareness of our “DubLi” brand will depend largely on our ability to increase
our business associate network and customer base. If business associates and consumers do not perceive us as offering an entertaining and/or efficient way to
purchase merchandise, we may be unsuccessful in promoting and maintaining our brand. To promote our brand, we expect to continue to recruit new business
associates, to incentivize existing business associates and to increase our marketing and advertising budgets. Since a significant percentage of our cost of
sales is the commissions paid to our business associates, we anticipate that, relative to some of our competitors, a smaller percentage of our gross revenue will
be available for marketing or promotional activities. Failure to successfully promote our brand in a cost effective manner could significantly harm our
business and financial condition.
We may not be able to maintain the competitive bidding environment critical to our business model.
Our business model relies upon our generation of a competitive bidding environment involving numerous active bidders. If we are unable to maintain such
an environment for any reason, we anticipate that our revenue associated activities other than actually purchasing merchandise (i.e., viewing prices on Xpress
auction and submitting bids on Unique Bid auction) would generally decrease and, as a result, the price discount realized on purchased merchandise would
also generally decrease. We believe our success depends in part on our ability to offer merchandise that enjoys wide demand by consumers. Consumers’
tastes are subject to frequent, significant and sometimes unpredictable changes. If the merchandise we offer for sale fails to generate brand consumer interest,
our revenues and gross margins could be negatively impacted. Any reduction in the price discounts actually realized by auction participants might further
discourage an active bidding environment.
We may not be successful in procuring and auctioning merchandise in a manner that generates positive gross margins.
We currently purchase a considerable amount of merchandise to be sold in our auctions, and in doing so assume the inventory and price risks of this
merchandise. These risks are especially significant because most of the merchandise we sell is subject to rapid technological change, obsolescence and price
erosion. Our success will depend in part on our ability to sell such inventory rapidly through our websites. We also rely heavily on the ability of our staff to
purchase inventory at attractive prices relative to resale value.
Due to the inherently unpredictable nature of our auction style format, it is impossible for us to determine with certainty whether the revenue we generate in
connection with each sale item will exceed the price we pay for the item. Further, because the ultimate sales prices for the merchandise sold in our auctions
generally are lower than the acquisition costs for the merchandise, we cannot be certain that we will sell enough Credits to achieve positive gross margins on
any given sale. If we are unable to sell our purchased inventory rapidly, if our staff fails to purchase inventory at attractive prices relative to resale value at
auction, or if we fail to predict with accuracy the resale prices and Credits purchased for our purchased merchandise, we may sell our inventory at a negative
gross margin which would negatively impact our profitability.
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Customer complaints, negative publicity or our security measures could diminish use of our services.
Customer complaints, negative publicity or poor customer service, which is fairly common with any network marketing or Internet related business, could
severely diminish consumer confidence in and use of our services. If we fail to consistently deliver certain inventory (brand new, newest model, full warranty)
from the world’s leading manufacturers, or if there are rumors, articles, reviews or blogs that indicate or suggest that we have failed to consistently deliver
such merchandise, customer participation in our auctions could decrease. Similarly, measures we take to combat risks of fraud and breaches of privacy and
security have the potential to damage relations with our customers or decrease activity on our sites by making our sites more difficult to use or restricting the
activities of certain users. Negative publicity about, or negative experiences with, customer support for any of our businesses could cause our reputation to
suffer or affect consumer confidence in our brands as a whole.
System failures could harm our business.
We have experienced short system failures from time to time, and any interruption in the availability of our websites will reduce our current revenues and
profits, could harm our future revenues and profits, and could subject us to regulatory scrutiny. Any unscheduled interruption in our services results in an
immediate, and possibly substantial, loss of revenues. Frequent or persistent interruptions in our services could cause current or potential users to believe that
our systems are unreliable, leading them to switch to our competitors or to avoid our sites, and could permanently harm our reputation and brands.
Although our systems have been designed around industry-standard architectures to reduce downtime in the event of outages or catastrophic occurrences
through worldwide redundant servers, they remain vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, telecommunication
failures, terrorist attacks, computer viruses, computer denial-of-service attacks, and similar events. Our systems are also subject to break-ins, sabotage, and
intentional acts of vandalism. Despite any precautions we may take, the occurrence of a natural disaster, a decision by any of our third-party hosting
providers to close a facility we use without adequate notice for financial or other reasons, or other unanticipated problems at our hosting facilities could
result in lengthy interruptions in our services. We do not carry business interruption insurance sufficient to compensate us for losses that may result from
interruptions in our service as a result of system failures.
Any interruptions in Internet service could harm our business.
Our customers rely on access to the Internet to access our products and services. Interference with our offerings or higher charges for access to our offerings,
whether paid by us or by our customers, could cause us to lose existing customers, impair our ability to attract new customers, and harm our revenue and
growth.
The success of our services also depends largely on the continued availability of the Internet infrastructure. This includes maintenance of a reliable network
backbone with the necessary speed, data capacity, and security, as well as timely development of complementary products, for providing reliable Internet
access and services. The Internet has experienced, and is likely to continue to experience, significant growth in the numbers of users and amount of traffic.
The Internet infrastructure may be unable to support such demands. In addition, increasing numbers of users, increasing bandwidth requirements, or problems
caused by “viruses,” “worms,” malware and similar programs may harm the performance of the Internet. The backbone computers of the Internet have been
the targets of such programs. The Internet has experienced a variety of outages and other delays as a result of damage to portions of its infrastructure, and it
could face outages and delays in the future. These outages and delays could reduce the level of Internet usage generally, as well as, the level of usage of our
services.
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We face risks in connection with our relationships with our credit card processors.
We currently have agreements in place with one credit card processor in each of the United States and Europe who process credit card transactions completed
on our websites. Pursuant to the current terms and conditions of these agreements, the processors are permitted to maintain a 20% reserve or holdback for six
months on each sale processed by them. Holdbacks are the portion of the revenue from a credit card transaction that is held in reserve by the credit card
processor to cover possible disputed charges, chargeback fees, and other expenses. In the event a credit card processor declares bankruptcy, encounters
financial difficulties, refuses or fails to honor its contract with us for any reason or ceases operations, there can be no assurance that we would be able to
access funds due to us on a timely basis, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows. In addition, from time to time, these processors may increase the amount that they keep in reserve as holdbacks. Although we are entitled to receive
any remaining holdback amount after a designated period of time, any increase in the holdback percentage would result in a delay in our receiving the full
proceeds from the sales of products and Credits. This would adversely affect our cash flow and financial condition.
We may be unsuccessful in recovering our money from National Merchant Centers.
The Company has historically relied upon two service providers to process credit card transactions arising from purchases of the Company’s services and
products. Disagreements have emerged between the Company and one such service provider, National Merchant Center ("NMC"), as to the permitted amount
of reserves, if any, that NMC is eligible to maintain. On September 22, 2010, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries instructed NMC to return to them all of
the cash held in reserve with respect to the Company’s account. In response to such demand, on November 1, 2010, NMC informed the Company that it was
terminating the Company’s merchant account with NMC and holding all of the Company’s funds and deposits for a period of 180 days after the last
chargeback (which have averaged less than 1.2% of sales or approximately $63,000 the account since was established in December 2009).
On October 27, 2010, DUBLICOM Limited and DubLi Network Limited, both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, initiated legal action
against NMC to seek recovery of the approximately $2,162,000 of reserves (which is approximately 37% of all such sales) held at the direction NMC plus
various other awards, costs and expenses. NMC’s legal counsel has since informed the Company that NMC is in bankruptcy, the subject funds are being
held in escrow in California by a third party in a bank account and such funds are not involved in the NMC bankruptcy case. The Company will continue to
aggressively pursue legal action against NMC for the purpose of recovering the funds.
Our ability to successfully develop website enhancements and new service offerings are a significant component of our business strategy.
We are in the process of developing a new platform of websites to better provide DubLi.com shoppers with an enjoyable experience. We are also
contemporaneously seeking to expand our service offering to a wide range of entertainment products and services via streaming content downloads. Our
ability to succeed in these new offerings may require significant resources and management attention. The success of new and enhanced offering
introductions depend on several factors, including our ability to develop and complete these offerings in a timely manner, successfully promote the offerings,
manage the risks associated with the offerings, make sufficient resources available to support them, secure appropriate intellectual property rights and address
any quality or other defects in the early stages of introduction. Despite the allocation of resources, there are no assurances that the new offerings will be
successfully developed or accepted by our customers.
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We may not be able to compete successfully.
The electronic commerce and music marketplace is rapidly evolving and intensely competitive, and we expect competition to intensify in the future. We
compete with a variety of other companies based upon on the type of merchandise and the sales format they offer to customers. These competitors include,
but are not limited to:
•

online bidding fee auction websites such as Swoopo.com, Beezid.com and Zapadeal.com;

•

various standard, online auction websites such as eBay.com, Bidz.com and uBid.com; and

•

a number of e-commerce companies focused primarily on excess and overstock products with fixed price formats, including Amazon.com,
Overstock.com,Shopping.com, eCost.com, and SmartBargains.com.

•

Apple’s iTunes music store, Pandora Media’s internet radio services and Napster’s music subscription services. We also expect
competition from media companies, online retailers such as Amazon.com, Inc., social networking companies such as MySpace, Inc.,
Facebook and other emerging music and social media companies.

We believe our ability to effectively compete is contingent upon our ability to make customers aware of our service offering, provide an enjoyable shopping
experience and provide customers with an opportunity to purchase merchandise at a potential, significant discount to prevailing market prices.
Many of our potential competitors have significantly greater brand awareness and greater financial, marketing, customer support, technical and other
resources than we have. These competitors, especially competitors with good brand recognition, could develop online auctions that are similar to our online
auctions. We believe that there are only a limited number or factors that restrict or discourage competitors from seeking to directly compete with us.
Competitors may be able to secure merchandise from suppliers on more favorable terms than we are able to. They may also be able to respond more quickly to
changes in customer preferences or devote greater resources to developing and promoting their merchandise. Some of our current and potential competitors
have established or may establish cooperative relationships among themselves or directly with suppliers to obtain exclusive or semi-exclusive sources of
merchandise.
Our auctions may be subject to regulation as a form of gaming in certain jurisdictions.
Although the Company has sought to structure all of its auctions so that they are not regulated as a form of “gaming” or a “lottery,” there can be no
assurances that the regulatory authorities of any country, state, county or municipality will not assert the view that the Company’s Unique Bid auctions
constitute some form of “gaming” or a “lottery,” subject to regulation and/or prohibited by such regulatory entity. The laws, regulations and case law
defining and governing “gaming” and “lotteries,” especially in the context of electronic commerce, are generally regarded as an “emerging” area of the law,
apparently subject to less than certain and often divergent interpretations, vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, and are subject to varying levels of
enforcement. Given the regulatory landscape, the Company risks violating the laws of a particular country, state, county or municipality, even in those
jurisdictions where it believes it has conducted considerable legal research and/or secured an independent legal opinion. In certain instances, the Company
has sought to limit its activities and its business associates’ activities in such jurisdictions. If the Unique Auction were deemed to be a form of gambling or
lottery or otherwise subject to regulation, the Company could be potentially subject to a range of penalties, injunctive actions and/or fines. In addition, even
if the Company believed it was not properly subject to such regulations, it might be compelled or deem it in the best interest of the Company to suspend
future auctions in the subject jurisdiction.
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Current and future laws could affect our auctions business.
Numerous states and foreign jurisdictions have regulations governing the conduct of traditional “auctions” and the liability of traditional “auctioneers” in
conducting auctions. These types of regulations may become applicable to online auction sites. We are aware that several states and some foreign
jurisdictions have attempted to impose such regulations on other companies operating online auction sites or on the users of those sites. Attempted
enforcement of these laws appears to be increasing and such attempted enforcements could harm our business. In addition, some states have laws or
regulations that do expressly apply to online auction site services. We may incur costs in complying with these laws. We may, from time to time, be required
to make changes in our business that may increase our costs, reduce our revenues, and cause us to prohibit the listing of some items in certain locations, or
make other changes that may adversely affect our auctions business.
Our network marketing program could be found to be not in compliance with current or newly adopted laws or regulations in one or more markets.
Our network marketing program is subject to a number of federal and state regulations administered by the FTC and various state agencies in the United
States, as well as, regulations on direct selling in foreign markets administered by foreign agencies. We are subject to the risk that, in one or more markets, our
network marketing program could be found not to be in compliance with applicable law or regulations. Regulations applicable to network marketing
organizations generally are directed at preventing fraudulent or deceptive schemes, often referred to as “pyramid” or “chain sales” schemes, by ensuring that
product sales ultimately are made to consumers and that advancement within an organization is based on sales of the organization’s products rather than
investments in the organization or other non-retail sales-related criteria. The regulatory requirements concerning network marketing programs do not include
“bright line” rules and are inherently fact-based, and thus, even in jurisdictions where we believe that our network marketing program is in full compliance
with applicable laws or regulations governing network marketing systems, we are subject to the risk that these laws or regulations or the enforcement or
interpretation of these laws and regulations by governmental agencies or courts can change. The failure of our network marketing program to comply with
current or newly adopted regulations could negatively impact our business in a particular market or in general.
New and existing regulations could harm our business.
We are subject to foreign and domestic laws regulating the conduct of business on and off the Internet. It is not always clear how existing laws governing
issues such as gaming, multi-level marketing, wire transfers, property ownership, copyrights, trademarks and other intellectual property issues, parallel
imports and distribution controls, taxation, libel and defamation, and personal privacy apply to online businesses such as ours. The majority of these laws
was adopted prior to the advent of the Internet and electronic commerce and, as a result, do not contemplate or address the unique issues of the Internet and
electronic commerce. Those laws that do reference the Internet, such as the U.S. Digital Millennium Copyright Act and the European Union’s Directives on
Distance Selling and Electronic Commerce, are being interpreted by the courts, but their applicability and scope remain uncertain. Furthermore, as our
activities and the types of goods and services listed on our websites expand regulatory agencies or courts may claim or hold that we or our users are subject to
licensure or prohibited from conducting our business in their jurisdiction, either generally or with respect to certain actions (e.g., the sale of real estate, event
tickets, cultural goods, boats and automobiles).
As we expand and localize our international activities, we become obligated to comply with the laws of the countries or markets in which we operate. In
addition, because our services are accessible worldwide, and we facilitate sales of goods to users worldwide, one or more jurisdictions may claim that we or
our users are required to comply with their laws based on the location of our servers or one or more of our users, or the location of the product or service being
sold or provided in an ecommerce transaction. Laws regulating Internet and ecommerce companies outside of the U.S. may be less favorable than those in the
U.S., giving greater rights to consumers, competitors or users. Compliance may be more costly or may require us to change our business practices or restrict
our service offerings, and the imposition of any regulations on our users may harm our business. In addition, we may be subject to overlapping legal or
regulatory regimes that impose conflicting requirements on us. Our failure to comply with foreign laws could subject us to penalties ranging from criminal
prosecution to significant fines to bans on our services.
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Our insurance coverage may not be adequate to cover all possible losses that our properties could suffer. In addition, our insurance costs may increase and we
may not be able to obtain the same insurance coverage in the future.
Although we have all-risk property insurance for our operating properties covering damage caused by a casualty loss (such as fire, natural disasters or certain
acts of terrorism), each policy has certain exclusions. In addition, our property insurance coverage is in an amount that may be less than the expected full
replacement cost of rebuilding the facilities if there were a total loss. Our level of insurance coverage may be inadequate to cover all possible losses in the
event of a major casualty. In addition, certain casualty events, such as labor strikes, nuclear events, loss of income due to cancellation of room reservations or
conventions due to fear of terrorism, or damage resulting from deterioration or corrosion, insects or animals and pollution, might not be covered under our
policies. Therefore, certain acts and events could expose us to substantial uninsured losses. In addition to the damage caused to our properties by a casualty
loss, we may suffer business disruption as a result of these events or be subject to claims by third parties who were injured or harmed. While we carry general
liability insurance we do not carry business interruption insurance, this insurance may not continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms and, in
any event, may not be adequate to cover all losses.
We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates.
Because more than 65% of our revenue is generated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar but we report our financial results in U.S. dollars, we face exposure
to adverse movements in currency exchange rates. If the U.S. dollar strengthens against foreign currencies, the translation of these foreign currency
denominated transactions will result in decreased net revenues and net income. We are also subject to currency exchange risks in connection with our
purchase and sale of dollars and Euros in the ordinary course of our business to meet our obligations to our business associates and other creditors.
There are many risks associated with our international operations.
Our international expansion has been rapid and our international business, especially in Germany and Australia, is critical to our revenues and profits. Net
revenues outside the U.S. accounted for approximately 75% and 36%, respectively, of our net revenues in both fiscal year 2010 and 2009. Expansion into
international markets requires management attention and resources and requires us to localize our services to conform to local laws, cultures, standards, and
policies. The commercial, Internet, and transportation infrastructure in lesser-developed countries may make it more difficult for us to replicate our traditional
auction business model. In many countries, we compete with local companies that understand the local market better than we do, and we may not benefit
from first-to-market advantages. We may not be successful in expanding into particular international markets or in generating revenues from foreign
operations.
As we continue to expand internationally, including through the expansion of our auction site, shopping mall and our new music platforms, we are
increasingly subject to risks of doing business internationally, including the following:
•

strong local competitors;
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•

regulatory requirements, including regulation of Internet services, communications, auctioneering, professional selling, distance selling,
privacy and data protection, banking and money transmitting, that may limit or prevent the offering of our services in some jurisdictions,
prevent enforceable agreements between sellers and buyers, prohibit the listing of certain categories of goods, require product changes,
require special licensure, subject us to various taxes, penalties or audits, or limit the transfer of information between us and our affiliates;

•

cultural ambivalence towards, or non-acceptance of, auction trading;

•

laws and business practices that favor local competitors or prohibit foreign ownership of certain businesses;

•

difficulties in integrating with local payment providers, including banks, credit and debit card networks, and electronic fund transfer
systems or with the local telecommunications infrastructure;

•

differing levels of retail distribution, shipping, communications, and Internet infrastructures;

•

difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;

•

difficulties in implementing and maintaining adequate internal controls;

•

longer payment cycles, different accounting practices, and greater problems in collecting accounts receivable;

•

potentially adverse tax consequences, including local taxation of our fees or of transactions on our websites;

•

higher telecommunications and Internet service provider costs;

•

different and more stringent user protection, data protection, privacy and other laws;

•

expenses associated with localizing our products, including offering customers the ability to transact business in the local currency;

•

profit repatriation restrictions, foreign currency exchange restrictions, and exchange rate fluctuations;

•

volatility in a specific country’s or region’s political, economic or military conditions;

•

challenges associated with maintaining relationships with local law enforcement and related agencies; and

•

differing intellectual property laws.

Some of these factors may cause our international costs of doing business to exceed our comparable domestic costs. As we expand our international
operations and have additional portions of our international revenues denominated in foreign currencies, we also could become subject to increased
difficulties in collecting accounts receivable, repatriating money without adverse tax consequences, and risks relating to foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations. The impact of currency exchange rate fluctuations is discussed in more detail under the caption “We are exposed to fluctuations in currency
exchange rates and interest rates,” above.
We conduct certain functions, including product development, customer support and other operations, in regions outside the U.S. We are subject to both U.S.
and local laws and regulations applicable to our offshore activities, and any factors which reduce the anticipated benefits, including cost efficiencies and
productivity improvements, associated with providing these functions outside of the U.S. could adversely affect our business.
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We may need additional capital to grow our operations as planned
For year ended September 30, 2010, we provided approximately $1.8 million of cash from operations and utilized $4.6 million of cash for investment
activities. In this connection, we financed this $4.6 million use of cash with our cash flows from operations, pre-existing cash resources and approximately
$0.84 million of net cash advances from our Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Michael Hansen. For the year ending September 30, 2011, we anticipate our capital
needs will be approximately $2.0 million. Unless we can generate significantly more capital from operations then we currently project may be generated, in
2011 we will need to secure additional capital to meet our projected cash needs for investment purposes and to otherwise grow our business as planned. Mr.
Michael Hansen has provided us considerable financial support in the past, and he has verbally committed to provide us the capital we currently project we
will need for investment purposes in the quarter ending March 31, 2011, if and when needed. Although Mr. Hansen has not reduced his commitment to
writing, subsequent to year-end Mr. Hansen lent the Company $0.42 millions that it could make the scheduled payments on a real estate contract it acquired
as an investment and to provide additional working capital as needed. If we are unable to generate or secure capital as planned, we may not be able to
develop our business as planned and/or may be compelled to seek alternative sources of capital in order to pursue our current business plan.
We may be liable if third parties misappropriate our customers’ personal information.
If third parties are able to penetrate our network security or otherwise misappropriate our customers’ personal information or credit card information, or if we
give third parties improper access to our customers’ personal information or credit card information, we could be subject to liability. This liability could
include claims for unauthorized purchases with credit card information, impersonation or other similar fraud claims. This liability could also include claims
for other misuse of personal information, including unauthorized marketing purposes. These claims could result in litigation. Liability for misappropriation
of this information could adversely affect our business. In addition, the Federal Trade Commission and state agencies have been investigating various
Internet companies regarding their use of personal information. We could incur additional expenses from the introduction of new regulations regarding the
use of personal information or from government agencies investigating our privacy practices.
We rely on encryption and authentication technology licensed from third parties to provide the security and authentication necessary to effectively secure
transmission of confidential information, such as customer credit card numbers. We cannot assure you that advances in computer capabilities, new
discoveries in the field of cryptography or other events or developments will not result in a compromise or breach of the algorithms that we use to protect
customer transaction data. If any such compromise of our security were to occur, it could harm our reputation, business, prospects, financial condition and
results of operations. A party who is able to circumvent our security measures could misappropriate proprietary information or cause interruptions in our
operations. We may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to protect against such security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by
such breaches. We cannot assure you that our security measures will prevent security breaches or that failure to prevent such security breaches will not harm
our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
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We may be subject to product liability claims that could be costly and time consuming.
We sell products manufactured by third parties, some of which may be defective. If any product that we sell were to cause physical injury or injury to
property, the injured party or parties could bring claims against us as the retailer of the product. Our insurance coverage may not be adequate to cover every
possible claim asserted.
Our inability to adequately protect our proprietary technology could adversely affect our business.
Our proprietary technology is one of the keys to our performance and ability to remain competitive. We rely on a combination of trademark, copyright and
trade secret laws to establish and protect our proprietary rights. We also use technical measures, confidentiality agreements and non-compete agreements to
protect our proprietary rights. Although we believe that our DubLi trade name and our logo have certain intellectual property protections, our competitors or
others could adopt product or service names similar to “DubLi” or our other service marks or trademarks. In addition, in light of the fact that some of our
auction services are “white-labeled” (i.e. the auction portals are hosted by companies, associations, affinity groups or non-profit organizations rather than
DubLi), our trade name protection may not prove to be sufficient to distinguish us from our competitors. Any of the foregoing might impede our ability to
build brand identity and could lead to customer confusion. Our inability to protect our service mark or trademarks adequately could adversely affect our
business and financial condition, and the value of our brand name and other intangible assets.
All of the software that we use to provide our auction and music services was specifically developed by DubLi and, accordingly, we believe we have certain
proprietary rights to the software. We rely on copyright laws to protect our proprietary software and trade secret laws to protect the source code for our
proprietary software. We generally enter into agreements with our employees and consultants and limit access to and distribution of our software,
documentation and other proprietary information. The steps we take to protect our proprietary information may not prevent misappropriation of our
technology, and the agreements we enter into for that purpose might not be enforceable. A third party might obtain and use our software or other proprietary
information without authorization or develop similar software independently. It is difficult for us to police the unauthorized use of our technology,
particularly because the global nature of the Internet makes it difficult to control the ultimate destination or security of software or other transmitted data. In
addition, we do not believe that the process of conducting online reverse auctions is protected or protectable under the intellectual property laws of the major
markets we serve. The laws of other countries may not provide us with adequate or effective protection of our intellectual property.
If we were to lose the services of our senior management team, we may not be able to execute our business strategy.
Our future success depends in a large part upon the continued service of key members of our senior management team. In particular, our Chief Executive
Officer, Michael Hansen, our Chief Operating Officer, Kent L. Holmstoel, and our General Counsel, Andreas Kusche, are critical to the overall management of
the Company as well as the development of our business plan, our culture and our strategic direction. The loss of any of our management or key personnel
could seriously harm our business.
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If we do not improve our internal controls and systems, our business may suffer and the value of our shareholders’ investment may be harmed.
As a public company, we are required to document and test our internal financial control procedures in order to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Section 404 requires annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). During the course of our testing in 2010, we identified certain
material weaknesses in our system of internal controls and inaccuracies or deficiencies in our financial reporting that required revisions to or restatement of
prior period results. See Part II, Item 9A of this Form 10-K for further discussion of the identified weaknesses. We are taking remedial measures to correct such
control deficiencies and expect to devote significant resources to improving our internal controls. These remedial measures include the measures discussed
in Part II, Item 9A of this Form 10-K. We expect to continue to evaluate our controls and make improvements as necessary. However, we cannot be certain
that these measures will ensure that our controls are adequate in the future or that the controls will be effective in preventing fraud or material misstatement. If
we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results and fraud may be easier to perpetrate
on us. Any failures in the effectiveness of our internal controls could have a material adverse effect on our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our
reporting obligations. Inferior internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information which could have a
negative effect on our stock price.
Our current management team has very limited experience in operating a public company and complying with public company obligations.
Our current management team has limited experience in operating a publicly traded company in the United States. As a public company, we are subject to a
number of requirements, including the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
These requirements might place a strain on our systems and resources and, as a result, our management’s attention might be diverted from other business
concerns, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.
We are significantly influenced by one person who controls a significant majority of our Common Stock.
As of September 30, 2010, Zen Holding Group Limited (“Zen Holding”) held of record 214,178,946 shares of Common Stock, or approximately 88% of the
issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock. Michael Hansen, our CEO and President, has the indirect power to direct the voting of all of our
outstanding Common Stock issued in the name of Zen Holding. Accordingly, Mr. Hansen has the power to influence or control the outcome of important
corporate decisions or matters submitted to a vote of our shareholders. Although Mr. Hansen owes the Company certain fiduciary duties as an executive
officer of the Company, the interests of Mr. Hansen here may conflict with, or differ from, the interests of other holders of our Common Stock. For example,
Mr. Hansen could unilaterally decide to replace our existing board of directors with new directors even if such change was not supported by most of the other
shareholders. Mr. Hansen may also pursue acquisition opportunities that may be complementary to our business, and as a result, those acquisition
opportunities may not be available to us. So long as Mr. Hansen has the power to vote a substantial number of shares of our Common Stock, he will have the
power to significantly influence and/or control all our corporate decisions and will be able to effect or inhibit changes in control of the Company.
Some additional factors might inhibit changes in control of the Company
In addition to the items referenced in the preceding paragraph, the board of directors of the Company has the power or could secure the power (pursuant to a
shareholder consent process that Mr. Hansen could control) to issue additional shares of preferred stock which could prevent or discourage a change in
control of the Company when it is deemed desirable by beneficial shareholders other than Mr. Hansen. The power to issue additional shares of preferred stock
or Common Stock could, in some situations, have the effect of discouraging and/or rendering more difficult a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or other
attempt to obtain control of the Company. This may limit the opportunity for shareholders to dispose of their shares at the higher price generally available in
takeover attempts or that may be available under a merger proposal.
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We have no independent members of our Board of Directors or an independent audit committee.
Our Board of Directors is comprised of three people, all of whom are employed by the Company. Accordingly, none of our directors is “independent” using
the definition set forth in the NASDAQ Marketplace Rules. We also do not have an independent audit committee. Although our directors are subject to the
fiduciary duties imposed on Board members pursuant to Nevada law, our shareholders do not have the protection afforded by independent directors and an
independent audit committee which are some of the traditional procedural safeguards that protects the interests of minority shareholders. Our lack of
independent directors on our board of directors may also make decisions of our board of directors more prone to legal claims or shareholder criticism than if
made by a board of directors with independent board members.
Acquisitions and joint ventures could result in operating difficulties, dilution, and other harmful consequences.
We have acquired a number of businesses in the past, including, most recently, our merger of MediaNet Group and CG Holdings and its subsidiaries. We
expect to continue to evaluate and consider a wide array of potential strategic transactions, including business combinations, acquisitions and dispositions of
businesses, technologies, services, products and other assets. At any given time we may be engaged in discussions or negotiations with respect to one or more
of these types of transactions. Any of these transactions could be material to our financial condition and results of operations. The process of integrating any
acquired business may create unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures and is itself risky. The areas where we may face difficulties include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

diversion of management time, as well as a shift of focus from operating the businesses to issues related to integration and administration,
particularly given the varying scope of our recent acquisitions;
declining employee morale and retention issues resulting from changes in, or acceleration of, compensation, or changes in management,
reporting relationships, future prospects, or the direction of the business;
the need to integrate each company’s accounting, management, information, human resource and other administrative systems to permit
effective management, and the lack of control if such integration is delayed or not implemented;
the need to implement controls, procedures and policies appropriate for a public company at companies that prior to acquisition had
lacked such controls, procedures and policies;
in the case of foreign acquisitions, the need to integrate operations across different cultures and languages and to address the particular
economic, currency, political, and regulatory risks associated with specific countries;
in some cases, the need to transition operations, users, and customers onto our existing platforms; and
liability for activities of the acquired company before the acquisition, including violations of laws, rules and regulations, commercial
disputes, tax liabilities and other known and unknown liabilities.

Moreover, we may not realize the anticipated benefits of any or all of our acquisitions, or may not realize them in the time frame expected. Future
acquisitions or mergers may require us to issue additional equity securities, spend our cash, or incur debt, liabilities, and amortization expenses related to
intangible assets or write-offs of goodwill, any of which could reduce our profitability and harm our business. To the extent we have sufficient authorized but
unissued shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock, we may not need to secure shareholder approval prior to making any equity issuances for such
purposes.
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In addition, we may make certain investments, including through joint ventures, in which we have a minority equity interest and lack management and
operational control. These investments may involve risks. For example, the controlling joint venture partner in a joint venture investment may have business
interests, strategies or goals that are inconsistent with ours, and business decisions or other actions or omissions of the controlling joint venture partner or the
joint venture company may result in harm to our reputation or adversely affect the value of our investment in the joint venture.
Our search for acquisitions and joint ventures could result in the diversion or loss of resources and litigation risk.
We expect to continue to evaluate and consider a wide array of potential strategic transactions, including business combinations, acquisitions and
dispositions of businesses, technologies, services, products and other assets. At any given time we may be engaged in discussions or negotiations with respect
to one or more of these types of transactions. Any of these transactions could be material to our financial condition and results of operations. The process of
locating and evaluating potential acquisitions and joint ventures can be time consuming, difficult and expensive. In addition, the Company may be subject
to various risks and business restrictions as it agrees to enter into non-disclosure agreements, letters of intent or memorandums of understanding in an effort to
further explore potential transactions. Even if the Company enters into more definitive agreements with respect to a prospective transaction, the Company
and any counter-parties to the transaction may, under certain circumstances, elect or determine not to proceed. Accordingly, there is also no assurance that the
Company will ever recoup any of its investments or expenditures with respect to any targeted transaction.
Our business and users may be subject to sales tax and other taxes.
The application of indirect taxes (such as sales and use tax, value-added tax (“VAT”), goods and services tax, business tax, and gross receipt tax) to
ecommerce businesses and to our users is a complex and evolving issue. Many of the fundamental statutes and regulations that impose these taxes were
established before the growth of the Internet and ecommerce. In many cases, it is not clear how existing statutes apply to the Internet or ecommerce or
communications conducted over the Internet. In addition, some jurisdictions have implemented or may implement laws specifically addressing the Internet or
some aspect of electronic commerce or communications on the Internet. For example, the State of New York has passed legislation that requires any out-ofstate seller of tangible personal property to collect and remit New York use tax if the seller engages affiliates above certain financial thresholds in New York
to perform certain business promotion activities. Several ecommerce companies are challenging this new law, which was recently upheld by a lower level
New York court. Some states are considering similar legislation related to affiliate activities. The proliferation of such state legislation could adversely affect
us at some point in the future and indirectly harm our business.
Several proposals have been made at the U.S. state and local level that would impose additional taxes on the sale of goods and services or communications
through the Internet. These proposals, if adopted, could substantially impair the growth of ecommerce and our brands, and could diminish our opportunity to
derive financial benefit from our activities. The U.S. federal government’s moratorium on state and local taxation of Internet access or multiple or
discriminatory taxes on ecommerce was extended through November 2014. This moratorium does not prohibit federal, state, or local authorities from
collecting taxes on our income or from collecting certain taxes that were in effect prior to the enactment of the moratorium and/or one of its extensions.
One or more states or the federal government or foreign countries may seek to impose a tax collection, reporting or record-keeping obligation on companies
that engage in or facilitate ecommerce. Such an obligation could be imposed by legislation intended to improve tax compliance (and legislation to such
effect has been discussed in the U.S. Congress, several states, and a number of foreign jurisdictions.) One or more other jurisdictions may also seek to impose
tax-collection or reporting obligations based on the location of the product or service being sold or provided in an ecommerce transaction, regardless of
where the respective users are located. Imposition of a discriminatory record keeping or tax collecting requirement could decrease seller activity on our sites
and would harm our business
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We pay input VAT on applicable taxable purchases within the various foreign countries in which we operate. In most cases, we are entitled to reclaim this
input VAT from the various foreign countries. However, because of our unique business model, the application of the laws and rules that allow such
reclamation is sometimes uncertain. A successful assertion by one or more countries that we are not entitled to reclaim VAT could harm our business.
Risks Related To Our Common Stock
Broker-dealers may be discouraged from effecting transactions in our Common Stock because it is considered a penny stock and is subject to the penny
stock rules.
Our Common Stock currently constitutes “penny stock.” Subject to certain exceptions, for the purposes relevant to us, “penny stock” includes any equity
security that has a market price of less than $5.00 per share or with an exercise price of less than $5.00 per share. Rules 15g-1 through 15g-9 promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, impose sales practice and disclosure requirements on certain brokers-dealers who engage in certain
transactions involving a “penny stock.” In particular, a broker-dealer selling penny stock to anyone other than an established customer or “accredited
investor” (generally, an individual with net worth in excess of $1,000,000 or an annual income exceeding $200,000, or $300,000 together with his or her
spouse), must make a special suitability determination for the purchaser and must receive the purchaser’s written consent to the transaction prior to sale,
unless the broker-dealer or the transaction is otherwise exempt. In addition, the penny stock regulations require the broker-dealer to deliver, prior to any
transaction involving a penny stock, a disclosure schedule prepared by the SEC relating to the penny stock market, unless the broker-dealer or the transaction
is otherwise exempt. A broker-dealer is also required to disclose commissions payable to the broker-dealer and the registered representative and current
quotations for the securities. Finally, a broker-dealer is required to send monthly statements disclosing recent price information with respect to the penny
stock held in a customer’s account and information with respect to the limited market in penny stocks.
The additional sales practice and disclosure requirements imposed upon broker-dealers may discourage broker-dealers from effecting transactions in our
shares, which could severely limit the market liquidity of the shares and impede the sale of our shares in the secondary market.
As an issuer of “Penny Stock” the protection provided by the federal securities laws relating to forward looking statements does not apply to us.
Although the federal securities laws provide a safe harbor for forward-looking statements made by a public company that files reports under the federal
securities laws, this safe harbor is not available to issuers of penny stocks. As a result, if we are a penny stock, we will not have the benefit of this particular
safe harbor protection in the event of any claim that the material provided by us contained a material misstatement of fact or was misleading in any material
respect because of our failure to include any statements necessary to make the statements not misleading.
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We have a limited market for our securities.
Although certain market makers facilitate trades of our common stock on the Over the Counter Bulletin Board (“OTCBB”), there is currently a limited market
for shares of our Common Stock and we cannot be certain that an active market will develop. The lack of an active public market could have a material
adverse effect on the price and liquidity of our Common Stock. Broker-dealers often decline to trade in OTCBB stocks given that the market for such
securities is often limited, the stocks are more volatile, and the risk to investors is greater. Consequently, selling our Common Stock may be difficult because
smaller quantities of shares can be bought and sold, transactions can be delayed and securities analyst and news media coverage of our Company may be
reduced. These factors could result in lower prices and larger spreads in the bid and ask prices for shares of our Common Stock as well as lower trading
volume. Investors should realize that they may be unable to sell shares of our Common Stock that they purchase. Accordingly, investors must be able to bear
the financial risk of losing their entire investment in our Common Stock.
The market price of our Common Stock is volatile.
The market price of our Common Stock is volatile, and this volatility may continue. For instance, between March 31, 2009 and September 30, 2010, the
closing bid price of our Common Stock, as reported on the markets on which our securities have traded, ranged between $0.13 and $0.90. Numerous factors,
many of which are beyond our control, may cause the market price of our Common Stock to fluctuate significantly. These factors include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

our earnings releases, actual or anticipated changes in our earnings, fluctuations in our operating results or our failure to meet the
expectations of financial market analysts and investors;
changes in financial estimates by us or by any securities analysts who might cover our stock;
speculation about our business in the press or the investment community;
significant developments relating to our relationships with our business associates, customers or
suppliers;
stock market price and volume fluctuations of other publicly traded companies and,
in particular, those that are in the web-based industry;
customer demand for our products;
general economic conditions and trends;
major catastrophic events;
changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretation or principles;
loss of external funding sources;
sales of our Common Stock, including sales by our directors, officers or significant stockholders;
additions or departures of key personnel.

Moreover, securities markets may from time to time experience significant price and volume fluctuations for reasons unrelated to operating performance of
particular companies. These market fluctuations may adversely affect the price of our Common Stock and other interests in our company at a time when you
want to sell your interest in us.
The rights of the holders of Common Stock may be impaired by the potential issuance of Preferred Stock.
Our board of directors has the right, without stockholder approval, to issue preferred stock with voting, dividend, conversion, liquidation or other rights
which could adversely affect the voting power and equity interest of the holders of Common Stock., which could be issued with the right to more than one
vote per share, could be utilized as a method of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change of control. The possible impact on takeover attempts could
adversely affect the price of our Common Stock. Although we have no present intention to issue any additional shares of preferred stock or to create any new
series of preferred stock, we may issue such shares in the future.
Item 1B.Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
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Item 2.Properties
Lenox Logistik, one of the Operating Subsidiaries, rents 6,400 square feet at its headquarters in Berlin, Germany at a cost of $11,200 per month, plus VAT,
pursuant to a five-year lease ending October 31, 2014. The Company leases 10,476 square feet in Boca Raton, Florida for its global headquarters pursuant to
a ten-year lease ending in 2020 at a cost of $21,825 per month, plus common area maintenance and sales tax. The Company also leases two apartments in
Berlin for visiting corporate officers, staff and other guests of the Company at a cost of $4,191 per month. The apartment leases expire in March 2011.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
The Company has historically relied upon two service providers to process credit card transactions arising from purchases of the Company’s services and
products. Disagreements have emerged between the Company and one such service provider, National Merchant Center (“NMC”), as to the permitted
amount of reserves, if any, that NMC is eligible to maintain. On September 22, 2010 certain of the Company’s subsidiaries instructed NMC to return to them
all of the cash held in reserve with respect to the Company’s account. In response to such demand, on November 1, 2010, NMC informed the Company that it
was terminating the Company’s merchant account with NMC and holding all of the Company’s funds and deposits for a period of 180 days after the last
chargeback (which have averaged less than 1.2% of sales or approximately $63,000 the account since was established in December 2009).
On October 27, 2010, DUBLICOM Limited and DubLi Network Limited, both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, initiated legal action
against NMC in U.S. District Court (the “Court”) for the Southern District of Florida (Case Number: 1:10-cv-24563-DLG) to seek recovery of approximately
$2,162,000 of reserves held at the direction NMC plus various other awards, costs and expenses. DUBLICOM Limited and DubLi Network Limited
(collectively, the “Subsidiaries”) allege that NMC committed civil theft and conversion by depriving the Subsidiaries of the use of the funds by
appropriating the funds to NMC’s own use. NMC’s legal counsel has since informed the Company that NMC is in bankruptcy, the subject funds are being
held in escrow in California by a third party in a bank account and such funds are not involved in the NMC bankruptcy case.
In an effort to delay the recovery of the funds sought by the Subsidiaries, NMC filed a motion to dismiss the case for improper venue and failure to state any
adequate claims. In addition, NMC moved the court to transfer the case to the U.S. District Court in the Central District of California (the “California Court”)
due to improper venue. On March 14, 2011, the Court issued an order granting NMC’s request to transfer the case to the California Court, but denied NMC’s
motion to dismiss the case for improper venue and the failure to state a claim. In light of the Court’s decision, the Subsidiaries are currently reviewing their
options, but they will continue to aggressively pursue legal action against NMC for the purpose of recovering the funds.
On February 9, 2011, NMC filed suit against the Company in the Superior Court of the State of California (Case Number: 30-2011-00449062-CU-BC-CJC)
seeking to recover approximately $706,000. NMC alleges that the Company breached the agreement between NMC and the Company by (i) failing to abide
by the provision that requires that NMC be the exclusive credit card processing company for the Company between March 2010 and February 2013 and (ii)
representing that the Company’s website is www.DubLi.com and that the Company does business as “DubLi.com.” NMC claims to have terminated the
agreement due to the Company’s alleged breach and that through the date of termination it had provided approximately $706,000 worth of services to the
Company.
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PART II
Item 5.Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market for Our Common Stock
Our shares of common stock are quoted on the OTCBB under the symbol “MEDG.”.
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing prices per share of our Common Stock as reported by the OTCBB.
Closing Bid Prices:
Quarter Ended

High
12/31/08
3/31/09
6/30/09
9/30/09
12/31/09
3/31/10
6/30/10
9/30/10

Low
.16
.27
.22
.24
.90
.80
.43
.36

.05
.13
.15
.13
.16
.40
.23
.18

As of March 7, 2011, the last reported price of our Common Stock quoted on the OTCBB was $0.15 per share. The OTCBB prices set forth above represent
inter-dealer quotations, without adjustment for retail mark-up, mark-down or commission, and may not represent the prices of actual transactions.
Shareholders
At September 30, 2010, there were 100 stockholders of record of our common stock.
Dividends
We have not declared any cash dividends on our common stock since our inception and do not anticipate paying such dividends in the foreseeable future.
We plan to retain any future earnings for use in our business. Any decisions as to future payment of dividends will depend on our earnings and financial
position and such other factors, as the Board of Directors deems relevant.
Item 6.Selected Financial Data
Not Applicable
Item 7.Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
This management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operation contains forward-looking statements, the accuracy of which
involves risks and uncertainties. We use words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “plans,” “expects,” “future,” “intends,” “estimates,” “projects,” and similar
expressions to identify forward-looking statements. This management’s discussion and analysis also contains forward-looking statements attributed to certain
third-parties relating to their estimates regarding the growth of the Internet, Internet advertising, and online commerce markets and spending. Readers should
not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which apply only as of the date of this report. Our actual results could differ materially from
those anticipated in these forward-looking statements for many reasons. Factors that might cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited
to, those discussed under the section entitled “Risk Factors” under Item 1A of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Executive Summary
The Company is a network marketing company offering a reverse auction platform with four portals in the United States, Europe, Australia and world-wide.
Our business associates drive our business and their objective is to increase revenue by obtaining additional business associates who seek customers who will
bid on our auction sites. We derive our primary revenue from the sale of DubLi Credits and from the sale of products sold in the auction. Our website is
designed to enhance our customers’ online experience by providing direct access to relevant content, such as product inventories and recent results from
customers who have won at our auctions and who have purchase our products at prices substantially below the retail selling price. We offer a range of
products and services through our website such as our two online auctions, a shopping mall and streaming music content.
Throughout 2010, we took a number of specific steps to build our business and strengthen our company:
•

At the end of the fourth quarter, we hired our accounting consultant as our Chief Financial Officer.

•

In the first quarter, we hired a Chief Technology officer.

•

We upgraded and transferred our legal and compliance work to a national law firm.

•

We completed a recapitalization of our company.

•

We changed and improved our online and backend systems.

We are a relatively new company and as we make changes that are needed to grow, we are constantly improving the customer experience and making
changes to our technology, entering new markets, we anticipate the continued growth in our business. The year ended September 30, 2010 was our first full
operational year following our merger in October 2009.
Recent Developments
Subsequent to year-end, in October 2010 we introduced a new subscription revenue model which offers streaming music and entertainment and a new super
saver shopping and rebate program for a monthly subscription price. In conjunction with these new service offerings, we introduced our new corporate
mascot, the “Dubot,” an online assistant that demonstrates our service offerings. We are also in the process of introducing new versions of our online malls,
previously only available in the U.S. and Australia. The new mall is a search engine and online community for shoppers. We plan to launch the new online
shopping malls initially launching in three markets; Germany (launched in February 2011), the USA and Canada (planned for April 2011) and Australia
(planned for April 2011).
Organization of Information
Management’s discussion and analysis provides a narrative on our financial performance and condition that should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes included elsewhere in this report. It includes the following sections:
•
•

Use of estimates and critical accounting policies
Results of operations
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•
•

Liquidity and capital resources
Contractual obligations

Operating results are not necessarily indicative of results that may occur in future periods.
Critical Accounting Policies
The preparation of our financial statements in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and interest income in our financial statements and accompanying
notes. We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis, including those estimates related to deferred revenue and expense, breakage, asset impairments, stock
based compensation and valuation allowances for deferred tax assets. We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. The following items
in our financial statements require significant estimates and judgments:
Revenue recognition and deferred revenue: Product Sales and Services - The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards
Codification subtopic 605-10, Revenue Recognition (“ASC 605-10”). ASC 605-10 requires that four basic criteria be met before revenue can be recognized:
(i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (ii) delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; (iii) the selling price is fixed and determinable;
and (iv), collectability is reasonably assured. Determination of criteria (iii) and (iv) are based on management’s judgments regarding the fixed nature of the
selling prices of the products delivered and the collectability of those amounts. Provisions for discounts and rebates to customers, estimated returns and
allowances, and other adjustments are provided for in the same period the related sales are recorded. The Company defers any revenue that is subject to
refund, and, for which the product has not been delivered or the service has not been rendered net of an estimated allowance for breakage. The Company
revenue recognition policies for each of its products and services are as follows:
•

Goods and services sold at auction – Revenue is recognized after receipt of payment and product shipment net of credit card charge-backs and
refunds.

•

“DubLi Credits” – Consumers bid on the Company’s online auctions by purchasing “DubLi Credits” either directly on DubLi.com or from DubLi’s
independent business associates who are members of the DubLi Marketing Network. All proceeds from the sales of “DubLi Credits” are recorded as
deferred revenue until used by the consumer in the bidding process and the related revenue is earned. Purchases of DubLi Credits are nonrefundable after three days. Unused Credits remaining in deferred revenue after 12 months are recorded as revenue as if earned. Management makes
this estimated adjustment to reduce the deferred revenue liability and to increase revenue recognized based upon historical statistical utilization
rates.

•

Subscription Fees – “DubLi Business Associates” pay a $175 annual subscription fee for the marketing and training services provided by DubLi
Network. All proceeds from the sales of subscription fees are recorded as deferred revenue and recorded as revenue ratably over the twelve month
service period plus any promotional extensions.
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•

BSP Rewards revenue is earned principally from revenue rebates (commissions) earned from merchants participating in its online shopping malls,
gift card sales from each rewards mall program and, web design/maintenance/hosting it earns for building and hosting its private-branded online
mall platform for outside organizations. The Company receives rebates from participating merchants on all transactions processed by BSP through
its online mall platform. The percentage rebate paid by merchants varies between 1% and 30% and BSP normally shares 50% of the rebate with the
member who made the purchase in the form of “Rewards Points.” The member share of the rebates are recorded as a liability until claimed by the
member or until the two year expiration period is reached at which time the unclaimed Rewards Points are taken into income.

Direct cost of revenues and deferred expense: Included in Direct Cost of Revenues are the costs of goods sold, commissions and incentive bonuses earned by
business associates on the sales of DubLi Credits. Commissions are based upon each business associate’s volume of Credit sales and that of other business
associates who are sponsored by the subject business associate. Commissions are paid to business associates at the time of the sale of the Credits and are
recognized as a deferred expense until the Credits are used and then are charged to expense. Incentive bonuses are paid either monthly or quarterly and the
related expense is recorded when the business associate meets the stated sales goal for each particular promotional event.
Management’s use of estimates and assumptions: The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of the assets
and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, deferred income, accruals for incentive awards and unearned auction Credits at the date of the
consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting periods. Examples, though not exclusive, include
estimates and assumptions of: loss contingencies; depreciation or amortization of the economic useful life of an asset; stock-based compensation forfeiture
rates; estimating the fair value and impairment of assets; potential outcome of future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial
statements or tax returns; estimates of incentive awards and unearned auction Credits and determining when investment impairments are other-than
temporary. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various assumptions that the Company believes to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may materially differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions.
Management regularly reviews estimates. Revisions to the estimates are reflected in results of operations as a change in accounting estimate in the period in
which the facts that give rise to the revision become known by management. During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company revised its estimates of
breakage related to sales of DubLi Credits based upon historical analysis of actual usage. The Company also revised its estimate of direct and incremental
direct costs related to those revenues based on an analysis of historical unit costs. The changes in accounting estimates resulted in a decrease in both deferred
revenue and expense with corresponding increases in both revenue and expense as more fully described in Note 5.
Stock-based compensation: We recognize expense in the statement of operations for the fair value of all share-based payments to employees and directors,
including grants of employee stock options and other share based awards. For stock options, we use the Black-Scholes option valuation model and the
single-option award approach and straight-line attribution method. Using this approach, the compensation cost is amortized on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period of each respective stock option, generally four years. We estimate forfeitures and adjust this estimate periodically based on the extent to which
future actual forfeitures differ, or are expected to differ, from such estimates.
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Taxes: We make estimates and judgments in determining the need for a provision for income taxes, including the estimation of our taxable income or loss for
each full fiscal year. We have accumulated significant deferred tax assets. Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effects of net operating loss and tax credit
carryovers and temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income
tax purposes. Realization of certain deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any. We are uncertain as to the timing and amount of any future
earnings. Accordingly, we offset these net deferred tax assets with a valuation allowance. We may in the future determine that more of our deferred tax assets
will likely be realized, in which case we will reduce our valuation allowance in the quarter in which such determination is made. If the valuation allowance is
reduced, we may recognize a benefit from income taxes in our statement of operations in that period. We classify interest recognized in connection with our
tax positions as interest expense, when appropriate.
Results of Operations
For the Years Ended September 30, 2010 and 2009
Revenues
During 2010, we recorded revenue of $24.47 million, an increase of revenue of 98% from the $12.35 million recorded in 2009. A significant portion of this
revenue increase is attributed to the growth of our network of business associates in new countries.
We recognize revenue from the sale of DubLi Credits when a customer makes a bid at one of our online auctions by the using the Credit and from the
enrollment fee charged to a business associate when they either join or renew their membership. In addition, revenue includes the Company’s estimate,
known as breakage, of DubLi Credits that will not be used.
Revenue earned from the usage of the DubLi Credits from our online auctions was $4.27 million in 2010 as compared to $1.50 million in 2009, which
resulted in an improvement of $2.77 million or 185%. This increase is attributed to our existing customers becoming more familiar with the online auction
process, reductions in the user learning curve for new customers, improvements in our website, increases and better selection of inventory products and our
continued training of business associates in customer retention, new product rollouts and technology. In addition, our revenue earned from the sale of DubLi
Credits from our Company website was $0.71 million in 2010 as compared to $0.30 million in 2009, which resulted in an improvement of $0.41 million or
139%. The increase is the result of customers purchasing DubLi Credits directly from the Company rather than from a business associate. The Company is
more interested in revenue from the sale of DubLi Credits by business associates rather than from internally sold DubLi Credits , and for this reason does not
consider this to be as important, as revenue resulting from sale of DubLi Credits by business associates to customers.
Our revenue earned from enrolling new and renewing old business associates was $0.74 million in 2010 as compared to $0.35 million in 2009, which resulted
in an improvement of $0.39 million or 111%. This increase resulted from our continued efforts to expand our multi-level marketing activities in new
countries.
Our revenue earned from Credit breakage was $15.28 million in 2010 as compared to $7.54 million in 2009, which resulted in an improvement of $7.74
million or 103%. This increase is consistent with our percentage increase in new enrollments. As new business associates join our network, there is always
some percentage of business associates who do not remain in the program. We are striving to constantly reduce the breakage percentage and increase the
utilization rate. As the utilization rate increases more business associates remain in the network thereby increasing the amount of DubLi Credits they sell to
customers resulting in increased auction activity.
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Our revenue earned from the sale of products from our online auction site was $1.56 million in 2010 as compared to $1.30 million in 2009, which resulted in
an improvement of $1.26 million or 425%. Unlike most traditional business models, our revenue from the sale of products at our online auction site results
from our use of a reverse auction business model, in which the customer bids down the selling price of the product sold. Accordingly, the lower the selling
price, the more revenue we are earning from the sale of a Credit that is used to bid at our online auction site. For this reason, management does consider the
revenue earned from the sale of products to be integral to its business model.
Our revenue earned from our private branded loyalty and reward web malls where members receive rebates (rewards) on products and services from
participating merchants was $1.94 million in 2010 as compared to $2.38 million in 2009, which resulted in a decline of $0.44 million or 18%. The decline
is attributable to decrease in end user’s shopper’s activity at the respective malls, our on-going initiative to pro-actively eliminate the less desirable and
essentially non-converting traffic from poor performing web malls, changes in management, and slower than expected integration of our private branded
loyalty and reward web malls into the Company’s core business. During the first quarter of 2011 we rolled out an improved website to enhance our customers
shopping experience with improved integration of the web shopping mall experience with our auction and music sites.
Direct Costs
Direct costs are those costs that consist of commissions that are earned by our business associates and costs of products acquired which are used in the
auctions and gift cards that are redeemed by our shopping mall customers.
We incurred direct costs of $11.77 million in 2010 as compared to $8.86 million in 2009, which resulted in an increase of $2.91 million or 33%.
Commissions paid to business associates were $6.91 million in 2010 as compared to $5.81 million in 2009, which resulted in an increase of $1.1 million or
19%. This increase primarily relates to the increase in the volume of DubLi Credits used and breakage offset by a decrease in commission rates paid to
business associates. In addition, offsetting this increase was the reversal of $0.83 million of commissions that were recorded as payable as September 30,
2009. In this connection, management determined that the commission payables recorded in the prior year consisted of hundreds of very small balances that
ultimately were never claimed by former business associates.
Our purchases of inventory for our online auctions were $3.2 million in 2010 as compared to $0.70 million in 2009, which resulted in an increase of $2.51
million or 360%. This increase is consistent with the percentage trend increase in DubLi Credits used to bid at the online auctions. As our customers bid
more, this effectively increases their Credit usage, as a result we need to maintain appropriate inventory levels and increase our inventory purchases to meet
the inventory demands for increased product resulting from the increased bidding at our online auction sites.
Selling, General and Administrative
Selling, general and administrative expense consists primarily of: payroll and related expenses for executive and administrative personnel; fees for
professional services; costs related to leasing, maintaining and operating our facilities; credit card fees; recruiting fees; travel costs for executive and
administrative personnel; insurance, expenses and fees associated with the reporting and other obligations of a public company; bad debts; and other general
and administrative services. Fees for professional services include amounts due to lawyers, auditors, tax advisors, and other professionals in connection with
operating our business, and evaluating and pursuing new opportunities.
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As a result of the merger, that occurred during the early part of the first quarter of 2010, we experienced problems relating to the integration of our merger,
employee transition, opening new offices in Florida and new portals, coordinating employees, establishing an accounting system for locations in Florida and
Germany, as well as development and maintenance of new and existing features, enhancements, and functionality for our proprietary services, all of which
contributed to increases in selling, general and administrative costs. In this connection our selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $5.76
million, of which $1.10 million relates to increased legal and accounting compliance costs resulting from our merger, international laws and regulations and
registration filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission and $0.86 million relates to increased administrative, accounting, maintenance and
occupancy costs incurred by our servicing company as a result to provide services to our growing business associate network. Customer acquisition costs are
recognized over the period during which the related revenue is recognized. In this connection, 2009 was our first full year of operating our online reverse
auctions. As a result, during our first year, business associates and customers were not familiar with our online auction, and accordingly we deferred a
significant portion of the revenue from unused DubLi Credits and deferred the related incremental direct costs paid by the Company to acquire new business
associates and customers. During 2010 as business associates and customers became more familiar with our online auctions and as we improved our
technology our usage increased. In this connection the change from 2009 to 2010 attributable to increased usage of the DubLi Credit and breakage increased
by $1.6 million. In 2011, we intend to internalize and consolidate a substantial portion of these activities and costs into our Florida office. In addition, (a)
incurred share based compensation of $0.63 million to three of our officers related to options and restricted stock granted during the fourth quarter of 2010;
(b) increased advertising costs of $0.61 million relating to marketing our brand and new advertising campaigns;(c) increased travel costs of $0.52 million to
maintain and obtain new business associates and travel required to administer two offices in Germany and Florida; and,(d) increased rent and executive and
administrative compensation of $0.43 million relating to our new lease in Boca Raton, FL and hiring additional people and salary increases, respectively.
Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense, net, consists primarily of earnings on our cash, cash equivalents net of interest expense. Interest income was $978 and $2,867 for 2010 and
2009, respectively. Interest expense was $13,632 and $6,292 for 2010 and 2009, respectively. The increase in interest expense results from the increased
borrowings from our principal shareholder.
Income Taxes
For the years ended September 30, 2010 and 2009, we recorded the following tax provisions (benefits) (in thousands except percentages):

Provision (benefit) for taxes
Income before provision for income taxes
Effective tax rates

$
$

2010
0.00
$
2,226
$
0.00%

2009
0.00
(1,222)
0.00%

The primary reasons for the unusual relationship of income taxes to pretax losses in 2010 and 2009 are deferred income taxes that are recognized for
temporary differences between financial statements and income tax returns.
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Net Income (Loss)
As a result of the factors described above, for the year ended September 30, 2010 we generated a net income of $2.23 million, or a net income of $0.08 per
basic and $0.01 per diluted share. For the year ended September 30, 2009 we generated a net loss of $2.81 million, or a loss of $0.01 per basic and diluted
share.
Impact of Foreign Currency Translation
Net revenues and related expenses generated from international locations are denominated in the functional currencies of the local countries, primarily in
Euros. The results of operations and certain of our intercompany balances associated with our international locations are exposed to foreign exchange rate
fluctuations. The statements of operations of our international subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rates in each applicable
period. To the extent the U.S. dollar weakens against foreign currencies, this translation methodology results in these local foreign currency transactions
increasing the consolidated net revenues, operating expenses, and net income. Similarly, our consolidated net revenues, operating expenses, and net income
will decrease when the U.S. dollar strengthens against foreign currencies.
During 2010, the U.S. Dollar weakened against the Euro. Exchange rates in effect were 1.35 at September 30, 2010 and 1.38 for the year ended September 30,
2009. Had the exchange rates used in the financial statements not changed from September 30, 2009, our net revenues for the year ended September 30,
2010, would have been approximately $0.38 million higher than we reported. In addition, had the exchange rates used in the financial statements not
changed from the end of 2009, direct costs and selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended September 30, 2010 , would have been $0.28
million higher than we reported.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of September 30, 2010 the Company had total cash and cash equivalents of $0.48 million this represents a $2.1 million or 80.8% decrease from the
total cash and cash equivalents $2.5 million at September 30, 2009.
Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $1.8 million during the year ended September 30, 2010. Year-to-date net income from continuing
operations of $2.2 million included noncash depreciation, and amortization and noncash equity charges of $1.4 million. Since inception the Company has
met its working capital needs principally through sales of DubLi Credits to the Company’s to its business associates. To attract and maintain the level of
business associates significant amounts are spent on customer acquisition costs and commissions. Together these factors are key cash flow drivers to the
Company’s operating cash flows. Changes to the amount of revenue deferred and breakage estimates had a significant impact on the Company’s revenue and
incremental costs in the year of the change and such changes may impact future years. In addition, a significant reduction ($2.2 million) of cash used in
operating activities is reflected by the change in the restricted cash, which relates to a dispute between the Company and one of its credit card processors, in
which the credit card processor has failed to remit customer proceeds that it is holding back from the Company.
Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $2.4 million during the year ended September 30, 2009. Year-to-date net loss from continuing operations of
$1.4 million included noncash depreciation, and amortization. In addition, a significant reduction of cash used in operating activities is reflected by the
increased restricted cash, prepaid expenses offset by increases in commissions payable and deferred revenue. This year was our first full year of operations and
as a result of the Company’s growth, cash from operating activities was used for the purchase of inventory along with initial cash holdbacks by our credit card
processors. To attract and maintain the level of business associates, significant amounts are spent on customer acquisition costs and commissions. Together
these factors are key cash flow drivers to the Company’s operating cash flows. Changes to the amount of revenue deferred and breakage estimates had a
significant impact on the Company’s revenue and incremental costs in the year of the change and such changes may impact future years.
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Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities totaled approximately $4.6 million during the year ended September 30, 2010. Cash was used in investing activities to
purchase capital assets, software license and real estate that amounted to $2.0 million and another $2.2 million was held in restricted cash.
Net cash used in investing activities totaled approximately $0.13 million during the year ended September 30, 2009. Cash was used in investing activities to
purchase equipment and software.
Financing Activities
Net cash used provided by financing activities totaled $1.0 million during the year ended September 30, 2010 which primarily consisted of borrowings of
$0.9 million and repayments of $0.10 million to the Company’s principal shareholder. In addition, the Company received $0.13 million from issuance of
warrants and common shares.
Net cash used provided by financing activities totaled $0.3 during the year ended September 30, 2009 which primarily consisted of borrowings of $1.2
million and repayments of $0.9 million to the Company’s principal shareholder.
The Company does not currently maintain a line of credit or term loan with any commercial bank or other financial institution but in March 2011 we did
enter into a $5 million line of credit agreement with our principal shareholder Michael Hansen. We can provide no assurance that we will not require
additional financing. Likewise, we can provide no assurance that if we need additional financing that it will be available in an amount or on terms
acceptable to us, if at all. If we are unable to obtain additional funds when they are needed or if such funds cannot be obtained on terms favorable to us, we
may be unable to execute upon our business plan or pay our costs and expenses as they are incurred, which could have a material, adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
Liquidity
The Company usually maintains a significant portion of its cash (“restricted cash”) with its two credit card processing companies to mitigate their financial
risk arising from the sale of the Company’s products and services, one credit card processing company for U.S. based transactions and the other for foreign
based transactions. The reserve requirements have ranged from 5% to 50% for a rolling term of six months. The Company has classified these accounts as a
current asset as it is expected to receive the funds in less than 12 months. During the first quarter of 2010, the Company became aware that one of its credit
card processing companies that held $2.16 million was improperly retaining the cash for completed transactions that was due the Company. In October 2010,
the Company instituted a lawsuit and subsequently terminated its relationship with this credit card processing company. In addition, the Company was
informed that the credit card processing company entered into bankruptcy, however, the Company’s counsel was informed that these funds are not part of the
bankruptcy. Management has also been informed by the Company’s counsel that such funds are collectible, however protracted litigation may result.
Accordingly, such amount has been classified as long term on the balance sheet. This situation has negatively impacted the Company’s cash position and
resulted in increased borrowings from the Company’s principal shareholder.
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As a result of this situation, we currently anticipate that our cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2010 may not be sufficient, at a minimum, to meet
our liquidity needs for working capital and capital expenditures over the next few months. In the event, we need additional cash, we will continue to borrow
from our principal shareholder and/or undertake private placements to raise additional cash. Between September 30, 2010 and the date of this report, we have
borrowed and additional $0.42 million from our principal shareholder and on March 23, 2011 we entered into a $5 million line of credit agreement with him
to ensure our working capital needs are met. The credit facility includes $1.267 of existing indebtedness leaving $3.733 available for future working capital
needs. We have also commenced a private placement of $1.5 million in Europe using a Regulation S exemption from registration.
As a result of our recapitalization, we increased our authorized shares to 500 million, of which 244 million are currently issued and outstanding. Accordingly,
in the future, we may seek additional capital through the issuance of debt or equity to fund working capital, expansion of our business and/or acquisitions, or
to capitalize on market conditions. Our future liquidity and capital requirements will depend on numerous factors including the pace of expansion of our
operations, competitive pressures, and acquisitions of complementary products, technologies or businesses. As we require additional capital resources, we
may seek to sell additional equity or debt securities or look to enter into a loan agreement. The sale of additional equity securities could result in additional
dilution to existing stockholders. There can be no assurance that any financing arrangements will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at
all. Our forecast of the period of time through which our financial resources will be adequate to support our operations is a forward-looking statement that
involves risks and uncertainties and actual results could vary materially as a result of the factors described above and in the section entitled “Risk Factors”
included in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
At September 30, 2010 we have the following contractual obligations and commitments:
Payments due by period
Long-term Debt Obligations
Real Estate Contract
Operating Lease Obligations
Total

$

$

Total
38,327
150,000
2,685,466
2,873,793

Less Than 1 Year
$
7,425
150,000
25,193
$
182,618

1-3 years
$
27,712

$

1,162,125
1,189,837

More than 5
years

3-5 years
$
3,190

$

1,498,148
1,501,338

$

-

Item 7A.Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Not Applicable.
Item 8.Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The full text of our audited consolidated financial statements is on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Financial Statement Schedules” pursuant to
Item 15, Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules, of Form 10-K.
Item 9.Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
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Item 9A.Controls and Procedures
a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures.
Our chief executive officer and chief financial officer evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2010. The
term “disclosure controls and procedures” as defined in Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act, means controls and other
procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the
Securities Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC'’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls
and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports
that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive
and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily
applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of September 30, 2010 and due to the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting described in our accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of such date, our
disclosure controls and procedures were not effective.
b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for our company. Internal control over
financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act, as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, a
company’s principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by the Company’s board of directors, management and other personnel, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:
•
•
•

pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company;
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Our chief executive officer and chief financial officer assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2010. In
connection with this assessment, we identified the following material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2010. A
material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that
a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. In making this assessment, our
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control—An Integrated
Framework (September 1992). Because of the material weaknesses described below, management concluded that, as of September 30, 2010, our internal
control over financial reporting was not effective.
(1) Control environment—We did not maintain an effective control environment. The control environment, which is the responsibility of senior
management, sets the tone of the organization, influences the control consciousness of its people, and is the foundation for all other components of internal
control over financial reporting. Each of the following control environment material weaknesses also contributed to the material weaknesses discussed in
items (2) through (4) below. Our control environment was ineffective because of the following material weaknesses:
(a) We did not maintain a sufficient complement of personnel with an appropriate level of accounting knowledge, experience, and training in the
application of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) commensurate with our financial reporting requirements and business
environment. This material weakness resulted in material restatements and post-closing adjustments relating to revenue recognition, cutoffs,
improper report groupings, consolidations and various account errors which have been reflected in the restated financial statements for the years
ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 and the quarters ended December 31, 2009, March 31 and June 30, 2010.
(b) We did not maintain an effective anti-fraud program designed to detect and prevent fraud relating to (i) an effective whistle-blower program or
other comparable mechanism and (ii) an ongoing program to manage and identify fraud risks.
(c) We did not maintain effective controls over the segregation of duties. Specifically, effective controls were not designed and implemented to
ensure the following accounting functions were properly segregated for inventory, purchasing, shipping, bank reconciliations, payroll and accounts
payable. In addition, we did not have effective general controls over information technology security and user access.
(d) We experienced excessive employee turnover, including the replacement of our accounting staff and CFO, nor did we have proper job
descriptions, performance appraisals, and as a result our employees may not have a clear understanding of their responsibilities to facilitate proper
internal control over financial reporting.
(e) We rely extensively on outside service providers, most of which did not provide a Type II SAS 70 report on their internal controls.
(f) We did not maintain effective controls over spreadsheets used in the Company’s financial reporting process. Specifically, controls were not
designed and in place throughout the year to ensure that unauthorized modification of the data or formulas within spreadsheets were prevented.
(g) We experienced problems with the post-merger integration of our accounting processes, personnel, systems and procedures which differed greatly
between Berlin, Germany and Boca Raton, Florida.
The control environment material weaknesses described above contributed to the material weaknesses related to our monitoring of internal control over
financial reporting, period end financial close and reporting, as described in items (2) to (4) below.
38

(2) Monitoring of internal control over financial reporting—we did not maintain effective monitoring controls to determine the adequacy of our internal
control over financial reporting and related policies and procedures because of the following material weaknesses:
(a) Our policies and procedures with respect to the review, supervision and monitoring of our accounting operations throughout the organization
were either not designed, in place or operating effectively.
(b) We did not maintain an effective internal control monitoring function nor did we perform a risk assessment. Specifically, there were insufficient
policies and procedures to effectively communicate and determine the adequacy of our internal control over financial reporting and to monitoring
the ongoing effectiveness thereof.
(c) We did not maintain formal cash flow forecasts, business plans, and organizational structure documents to guide the employees in critical
decision-making processes.
Each of these material weaknesses relating to the monitoring of our internal control over financial reporting contributed to the material weaknesses described
in items (3) through (4) below.
(3) Period end financial close and reporting—Due to a pervasive lack of proper segregation of duties within the finance department, we did not establish and
maintain effective controls over certain of our period-end financial close and reporting processes because of the following material weaknesses:
(a) We did not maintain effective controls over the preparation and review of the interim consolidated financial statements to ensure that we
identified and accumulated all required supporting information to ensure the completeness and accuracy of the consolidated financial statements
and that balances and disclosures reported in the consolidated financial statements reconciled to the underlying supporting schedules and
accounting records.
(b) We did not maintain procedures and effective controls over the preparation, review and approval of account reconciliations and application
programming interfaces (“API”) with third parties or our own systems. Specifically, we did not have effective controls over the completeness and
accuracy of supporting schedules for substantially all financial statement account reconciliations.
(c) We did not maintain effective controls over the recording of either recurring or non-recurring journal entries. Specifically, effective controls were
not designed and implemented to ensure that journal entries were properly prepared with sufficient support or documentation or were reviewed and
approved to ensure the accuracy and completeness of the journal entries recorded.
(4) Board of Directors—We did not have a functioning audit committee due to a lack of a majority of independent members and a lack of a majority of
outside directors on our board of directors, resulting in ineffective oversight in the establishment and monitoring of required internal controls
and procedures. Nor did we have a Compensation Committee, compensation charter or any formal procedure for the review, approval or ratification of certain
related-party transactions that may be required to be reported under the SEC disclosure rules.
This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial
reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by the Company’s registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only management’s report in this annual report.
39

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
As previously reported in Item 4.A.(T) of our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, we reported material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act). As a result of those material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting, our principal financial officer concluded that our internal controls over financial reporting were not effective in prior quarters. Those
material weaknesses included the following:
•
•
•
•

Inadequate accounting personnel.
Delays in the post-Merger integration of the Company’s and CG’s administrative, accounting and reporting systems and procedures.
Delays in the post-Merger integration and implementation of an effective system of internal control that governs the combined entities.
Delays in the adoption of board charters and policies and procedures that specify the policies and procedures to be utilized by Company when
considering and/or engaging in related party transactions.
Except for the effects of the departure of our Chief Financial Officer on July 15, 2010 and the hiring of a Chief Financial Officer on September 30, 2010 and
certain accounting department personnel in 2010, there have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the most
recently completed fiscal quarter that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. In addition, during the 4 th quarter of 2010, we undertook and began a more detailed analysis of our material weaknesses to understand and
disclose the nature of each material weakness and its impact on our financial reporting and its internal controls over financial reporting in order to develop a
more detailed framework for remediation. However, as described below under “Remediation Plans” we have subsequently dedicated significant resources to
support our efforts to improve the control environment and to remedy the control weaknesses described herein.
Remediation Plans
To address the identified material weakness discussed above, we have:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Engaged a firm of ERP system consultants to assist with the integration of the Companies’ accounting and reporting systems into a single automated
system.
Hired a new Chief Financial Officer, Controller and Chief Technical Officer.
Commenced a reorganization of our accounting and administrative staff designed to improve workflow and enhance internal controls.
Engaged a law firm to advise us regarding securities law compliance and corporate governance standards.
Hired a CPA firm to assist us in the preparation of our tax accrual and footnote.
Hired additional accounting staff.
Engaged a consulting CPA to assist with control assessment and remediation.

To address the identified material weakness discussed above, we are in the process of enhancing our internal control processes as follows:
1.

Control Environment
a. Continue to upgrade our accounting staff in order to achieve an effective control environment.
b. Develop an anti-fraud program and implement a whistle-blower program and a program to manage and identify fraud risks.
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c.
d.
e.
f.

Continue to reorganize our accounting and administrative staff designed to improve workflow and enhance internal controls.
Formalize our finance-related job descriptions for all staff levels that specifically identify required financial reporting roles, responsibilities,
and competencies, and clarify responsibility for maintaining our internal controls over financial information.
The Company will use its best efforts to obtain appropriate Type 2 SAS 70 service auditor’s reports from its service organizations.
Take training to better utilize our ERP system to lessen the use of spreadsheets and to also develop controls over spreadsheets and migrate
from spreadsheet based consolidations to using the consolidations capabilities built into our ERP system.

2.

Monitoring of internal control over financial reporting
a. Undertake a revamping of our policies and procedures with respect to the review, supervision and monitoring of our accounting operations.
b. Perform a risk assessment and improve our monitoring function in conjunction with our ERP system.
c. Formalize our process to improve the organization structure and develop forecasts and plans by which our management can measure
achievement against formalized benchmarks.

3.

Period end financial close and reporting
a. We will take steps to mitigate the lack of segregation of duties, prepare and implement sufficient written policies and checklists for
financial reporting and closing processes.
b. We will develop procedures to ensure that supporting schedules for financial statement accounts are reconciled to supporting schedules.
c. During the 4 th quarter 2010, we began to document and implement controls over financial reporting.

4.

Board of Directors - We are currently attempting to remedy the lack of adequate independent oversight (as described above) by searching for and
recruiting qualified individuals to sit as independent board members and audit committee members and to also assist us with a compensation
committee.

If the remedial measures described above are insufficient to address any of the identified material weaknesses or are not implemented effectively, or
additional deficiencies arise in the future, material misstatements in our interim or annual financial statements may occur in the future and we may continue
to be delinquent in our filings. We are currently working to improve and simplify our internal processes and implement enhanced controls, as discussed
above, to address the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and to remedy the ineffectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures. A key element of our remediation effort is the ability to recruit and retain qualified individuals to support our remediation efforts. While our
Board of Directors have been supportive of our efforts by supporting the hiring of various individuals in our finance department, as well as, funding efforts to
improve our financial reporting system, improvement in internal control will be hampered if we cannot recruit and retain more qualified professionals.
Among other things, any un-remediated material weaknesses could result in material post-closing adjustments in future financial statements.
Item 9B.Other Information
Not Applicable.
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PART III
Item 10.Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance
Executive Officers
Set forth below are the names and ages of our executive officers.
Name
Michael B. Hansen
Kent L. Holmstoel
Mark Mroczkowski*
Alfred Fernandez**
Andreas Kusche
Betina Dupont Sorensen

Age
41
50
57
46
40
39

Position
President and Chief Executive Officer and Director
Chief Operating Officer and Chairman of the Board
Chief Financial Officer
Former Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
General Counsel and Director
Head of Marketing

*
On September 30, 2010, Mr. Mroczkowski became the Company’s Chief Financial Officer and replaced Mr. Fernandez , whose employment was
terminated on July 15, 2010.
**
As previously reported, Mr. Fernandez’s employment with the Company was terminated on July 15, 2010. Since the Company filed its Form 8-K on
July 16, 2010 announcing the termination of Mr. Fernandez, Mr. Fernandez has alleged certain disputes with the Company and threatened legal action. More
specifically, Mr. Fernandez has alleged that the Company was aware of Mr. Fernandez’s “many disputes” with the Company and “These disputes include but
are not limited to accounting issues, disclosures of material items to shareholders including pending litigations, impairment to assets, revenue recognition,
employment discrimination, my benefits and severance pay, as well as, you prohibiting me from answering shareholder inquiries.” Notwithstanding the
Company’s efforts to communicate with Mr. Fernandez, the Company has been unable to understand the factual basis of Mr. Fernandez’s vague and nonspecific allegations. The Company believes Mr. Fernandez’s allegations are without merit and since September, 2010, the Company has had no other
communication with him.
Board of Directors
Pursuant to our Bylaws, the size of our Board may range from one to 15 directors. Our Board is currently comprised of three directors. Two of these directors,
Mr. Hansen and Mr. Holmstoel, were appointed to the Board, on September 20, 2010. Our directors are elected annually and serve until the next annual
meeting of shareholders and until their successors are duly elected and qualified.
Name
Michael B. Hansen
Kent L. Holmstoel
Andreas Kusche

Age
41
50
40
42

Position
President and Chief Executive Officer and Director
Chief Operating Officer and Chairman of the Board
General Counsel and Director

Biographical Information
Set forth below is biographical information for each executive officer and director.
Michael B. Hansen served as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since October 2009 and a director since September 20, 2010. Mr. Hansen
originally founded the DubLi group of entities under its prior operating model in 2003 and established the current operating model in October 2008. Mr.
Hansen served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of the DubLi entities from inception in 2003 until the Merger in October 2009. Mr. Hansen
started his career in 1989 as a developer at the Danfoss A/S, a Denmark-based producer of components and solutions for refrigeration, air conditioning and
heating. In the early 90’s, he worked at The LEGO Group as technical designer and was responsible for world development and designs. From 1996 to 1999,
Mr. Hansen was the owner of a chain of restaurants in Denmark. From 1999 to 2003, Mr. Hansen was a self-employed consultant to a number of companies in
the financial and telecommunication industry, assisting these companies to build successful marketing organizations. Mr. Hansen earned a degree in
Mechanical Engineering from Teknisk Skole in Denmark in 1989.
Mr. Hansen was selected to serve as a member of our Board of Directors because of his diverse entrepreneurial experiences.
Kent L. Holmstoel has served as Chief Operating Officer of the Company since October 2009 and a director since September 20, 2010. From June 2007 until
the Merger in October 2009, Mr. Holmstoel serves as Chairman of DubLi and its related predecessor Internet auction entities. From May 2002 to April 2009,
Mr. Holmstoel served as a director of OIB International; a Spanish based private financial services company, where he was responsible for sales outside of the
United Kingdom. Prior to that, from June 2001 to May 2002, Mr. Holmstoel held the position as CEO at Human Resource Manager, a Danish company. Mr.
Holmstoel has previously served as a strategic and HR advisor for various companies, including KMPG, LLC, BRF Kredit, a/s Svane Kokkenet, a/s, SMC,
FAF and AP Pension. Mr. Holmstoel received an M.A. in Finance from Aarhus University in Denmark in 1984 and a degree in Social Sciences from University
College in Risskov, Denmark.
Mr. Holmstoel was selected to serve as a member of our Board of Directors because of his education, knowledge and experience in business operations and
finance.
Andreas Kusche has served as General Counsel of the Company since October 2009 and as a director of the Company since March 2010. From September
2007 until the Merger in October 2009, Mr. Kusche serve as head of legal services of DubLi and its related predecessor Internet auction entities. From
September 2004 through August 2007, Mr. Kusche practiced law in Germany, both as a solo practitioner and, from January 2007 through May 2007, at the
Härting law firm in Berlin, focusing primarily on tax law and media law. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Kusche launched the German film production
service company “Screenart” in 2000 and served as the company’s Head of Financial & Legal Department until August 2004. From 2001 to 2002, Mr.
Kusche worked as a consultant to an international film fund. Mr. Kusche studied at Humboldt University in Berlin, as well as at the University of Alicante in
Spain obtaining his law degree in 2004 from Humboldt University.
Mr. Kusche was selected to serve as a member of our Board of Directors because of his legal education and experience.
Mark Mroczkowski, from April 2008 until September 30, 2010, was an independent consultant providing business advisory, investment banking services
and interim chief accounting officer and chief financial officer services. On September 30, 2010, he became the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. From
2000 to April 2008, Mr. Mroczkowski was the Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Sequiam Corporation, Inc., an OTCBB quoted original
equipment and design manufacturer of biometric software and hardware located in Orlando, Florida. From 1996 to 1999, Mr. Mroczkowski was the Chief
Financial Officer of GeoStar Corporation, a natural resources developer based in Mt. Pleasant, Michigan. From 1985 to 1996, Mr. Mroczkowski was the
Managing Partner of Mroczkowski, Simmons & LaPlant, CPA’s of Tampa Florida. Mr. Mroczkowski began his career with Big 4 accounting firms. He holds a
Bachelor of Science degree from the College of Business at Florida State University and is a Certified Public Accountant.
Betina Dupont Sorensen has served as Head of Marketing of the Company since October 2009. From 2003 until the Merger in October 2009, Ms. Dupont
Sorensen worked for DubLi and its related predecessor Internet auction entities in the areas of marketing and business development. From 1996 to 2003, Ms.
Dupont Sorensen was the owner and general manager of a restaurant in Kolding, Denmark. Ms. Dupont Sorensen earned a degree in Business Administration
from Vejle Business College in 1996.
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Mr. Hansen and Ms. Sorensen commonly refer to themselves as married couple based upon their long term relationship. Each of these officers is obligated to
devote his or her full time to the Company’s business and affairs.
Board Leadership Structure
Mr. Hansen currently serves as our principal executive officer and Mr. Holmstoel currently serves as the Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Board of
Directors does not have a policy as to whether the positions of Chairman and the principal executive officer should be held by the same or different
people. Our Board of Directors believes its current leadership structure is appropriate because it allocates authority, responsibility, and oversight between
management and the members of our Board of Directors. It does this by giving primary responsibility for the operational leadership and strategic direction of
the Company to our principal executive officer, while enabling the Chairman to facilitate our Board of Directors’ oversight of management, promote
communication between management and our Board of Directors, and support our Board of Directors’ consideration of key governance matters.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
We are required to identify each person who was an officer, director or beneficial owner of more than 10% of our registered equity securities during our most
recent fiscal year and who failed to file on a timely basis reports required by Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
To our knowledge, based solely on review of these filings and written representations from the certain reporting persons, we believe that during the year
ended September 30, 2010, our officers, directors and significant stockholders have timely filed the appropriate form under Section 16(a) of the Exchange
Act, except for Michael Hansen, Betina Sorensen, Michel Saouma, Zen Holdings, Ltd., Andreas Kusche and Kent Holmstoel who late filed the required
reports.
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers and directors, (including our chief executive officer,
chief financial officer, chief accounting officer, controller, and any person performing similar functions). A copy of our code of ethics is publicly available
on our website at www.medianetgroup.com/corporate-governance. If we make any substantive amendments to our code of ethics or grant any waiver,
including any implicit waiver, from a provision of the code to our chief executive officer, chief financial officer or chief accounting officer, we will disclose
the nature of such amendment or waiver in a Current Report on Form 8-K.
Diversity Considerations in Identifying Director Nominees
We do not have a formal diversity policy or set of guidelines in selecting and appointing directors that comprise our Board of Directors. However, when
making determinations regarding the size and composition of our Board of Directors, our Board of Directors does consider each individual director’s
qualifications, skills, business experience and capacity to serve as a director and the diversity of these attributes for the Board of Directors as a whole.
Audit Committee Financial Expert
The full Board of Directors serves as our audit committee. The Board does not have an Audit Committee Financial Expert serving on its committee. The
Company has been actively seeking such a Board member but that search was incomplete at the date of this report.
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Executive Employment Agreements
In connection with the Merger, we assumed employment agreements between CG and its subsidiaries, for Messrs. Hansen, Holmstoel and Kusche and Ms.
Betina Sørensen.
Effective October 1, 2009, each of Mr. Hansen, our President and Chief Executive Officer, and Mr. Holmstoel, our Chief Operating Officer, entered into an
employment agreement with CG and its subsidiaries. Mr. Holmstoel’s agreement provides that he will serve as the Company’s Chairman and in other
positions as the Company and he determine. Each of these employment agreements has an initial term of three years and is automatically renewable for an
additional one-year term, unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the agreement. Each of the agreements provides for a monthly base salary of EUR
15,000 to be reviewed annually and a minimum annual bonus of 15% of the subject executive’s annual base salary. Our Board of Directors may, in its sole
discretion, increase Mr. Hansen’s or Mr. Holmstoel’s base salary and award bonuses and equity awards to Mr. Hansen and/or Mr. Holmstoel at any time. Each
of the agreements also provides for a minimum automobile allowance in the amount of EUR 1,500 per month, insurance on any vehicle covered by the
automobile allowance, vacation, participation in all benefit plans offered by us to our executives and the reimbursement of reasonable business
expenses. Pursuant to each agreement, we are required to obtain and maintain a $2 million life insurance policy on Mr. Hansen and Mr. Holmstoel, as
applicable, with $1 million payable on death to the Company and $1 million payable on the death to the subject executive’s directed beneficiary. The
agreements also contain non-disclosure, non-solicitation and non-compete restrictions. The non-solicitation and non-compete restrictions survive for a
period of eighteen months following the date of termination of the subject executive’s employment with the Company.
Effective October 1, 2009, Mr. Kusche, our General Counsel, entered into an employment agreement with CG and its subsidiaries. This agreement has an
initial term of three years and is automatically renewable for an additional one-year term, unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the agreement.
The agreement provides for a monthly base salary of EUR 7,500 to be reviewed annually and a minimum annual bonus of 15% of Mr. Kusche’s annual base
salary. Pursuant to the Agreement, Mr. Kusche is entitled to receive 150,000 shares of our Common Stock on each of October 1, 2010 and October 1, 2011,
however, effective September 30, 2010; Mr. Kusche waived his right to those shares in consideration of the 4.4 million share grant described below. Our
Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, increase Mr. Kusche’s salary and award bonuses and equity awards to Mr. Kusche at any time. The agreement
also provides for a minimum automobile allowance in the amount of EUR 800 per month, insurance on any vehicle covered by the automobile allowance,
vacation, participation in all benefit plans offered by us to our executives and the reimbursement of reasonable business expenses. The agreement also
contains non-disclosure, non-solicitation and non-compete restrictions. The non-solicitation and non-compete restrictions survive for a period of eighteen
months following the date of termination of Mr. Kusche’s employment with the Company.
On September 30, 2010, the Company granted Mr. Kusche five million shares of the Company’s common stock. One million shares of common stock vested
at September 30, 2010 and the remaining four million shares are scheduled to vest at the rate of 500,000 shares per quarter for each of the eight successive
quarters.
Effective October 1, 2009, Ms. Sorensen, our Head of Marketing, entered into an employment agreement with CG and its subsidiaries. This agreement has an
initial term of three years and is automatically renewable for an additional one-year term, unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the agreement.
The agreement provides for a monthly base salary of EUR 7,500 to be reviewed annually and a minimum annual bonus of 15% of Ms. Sorensen’s annual base
salary. Our Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, increase Ms. Sorensen’s salary and award bonuses and equity awards to Ms. Sorensen at any
time. The agreement also provides for a minimum automobile allowance in the amount of EUR 800 per month, insurance on any vehicle covered by the
automobile allowance, vacation, participation in all benefit plans offered by us to our executives and the reimbursement of reasonable business
expenses. The agreement also contains non-disclosure, non-solicitation and non-compete restrictions. The non-solicitation and non-compete restrictions
survive for a period of eighteen months following the date of termination of Ms. Sorensen’s employment with the Company.
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On September 30, 2010, Company granted Ms. Sorensen five million shares of the Company’s common stock. One million shares of common stock vested at
September 30, 2010 and the remaining four million shares are scheduled to vest at the rate of 500,000 shares per quarter for each of the eight successive
quarters.
Pursuant to these employment agreements, the Company can terminate the agreement for “cause.” “Cause” is defined to include the executive’s (i)
continuing uncured failure to perform such duties as are reasonably requested by the Company and are consistent with his or her responsibilities under this
Agreement; (ii) uncured failure to observe material policies generally applicable to executives or employees of the Company; (iii) failure to cooperate with
any internal investigation of the Company or any of its affiliates; (iv) commission of any act of fraud, theft or financial dishonesty with respect to the
Company or any of its affiliates or conviction of any felony; or (v) uncured material violation of the provisions of his or her employment agreement.
In the event the executive terminates his or her employment for “good reason,” he or she shall be entitled to, among other things, a prorated bonus for the
fiscal year of termination, based on actual performance through the end of the applicable fiscal year and the number of days that have elapsed in the fiscal
year through the date of termination and payment of his or her then annual base salary and benefits for a period of eighteen months following the
termination. In addition, any unvested options granted to the executive shall fully vest as of the date of termination. For purposes of each employment
agreement, good reason is defined as a material and adverse change in the executive’s duties and responsibilities, a reduction in base salary or minimum
annual bonus, or the Company’s breach of the company of any material provision of the agreement.
In the event of an executive’s death or disability, he or she shall be entitled to, among other things, a prorated bonus for the fiscal year of termination, based
on actual performance through the end of the applicable fiscal year and the number of days that have elapsed in the fiscal year through the date of
termination. In addition, any unvested options granted to the executive shall fully vest as of the date of termination of executive’s employment with the
Company.
Effective September 30, 2010, Mr. Mroczkowski entered into an employment agreement with the Company to become our Chief Financial Officer which has
an initial term of two years. Thereafter, the employment agreement shall renew annually for one year unless either party gives at least 60 days prior written
notice. Pursuant to the employment agreement, Mr. Mroczkowski is entitled to a base salary of $162,000 per annum and such other compensation as is
determined by the Company from time to time. Contemporaneous with Mr. Mroczkowski’s execution of the employment agreement, the Company granted
him options (the “Options”) to purchase up to five million shares of the Company’s common stock, at an exercise price of $.001 per share. Options
exercisable for one million shares of common stock vested at September 30, 2010 and the remaining Options exercisable for four million shares are scheduled
to vest at the rate of 500,000 shares per quarter, provided Mr. Mroczkowski is continuing to serve as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. Upon a “change
in control” (as defined in the Company’s 2010 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan) of the Company, all of the Options shall automatically vest and be
immediately exercisable. Either party may terminate the agreement without cause on 90 days prior written notice.
The Company has not separately designated a standing audit committee or a committee performing similar functions.
We have adopted a Code of Ethics for our officers, directors and employees and it is attached as exhibit 99.1.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation
Summary Compensation Table
The table below sets forth, for the period indicated, the compensation paid or granted by the Company to the named executive officers during the last two
completed fiscal years.

Name and
Principal
Position
(a)
Michael B. Hansen *
President & Chief Executive Officer
Kent L. Holmstoel *
Chief Operating Officer
Andreas Kusche *
General Counsel
Mark Mroczkowski
Chief Financial Officer
Betina Dupont
Head of Marketing
Martin Berns
Former Chairman and CEO (3)
Alfred Fernandez
Former Chief Financial Officer(4)

Year
(b)
2010
2009
2010
2009
2010
2009
2010
2009
2010
2009
2010
2009
2010
2009

Salary
($)
(c)
$
$
$
$
$
$

172,240
200,000
231,987
86,410
121,920
71,644

Bonus
($)
(d)

Stock
Awards
($)(1)
(e)

$

Option
Awards
($)(1)
(f)

NonEquity
Incentive
Plan
Compensation
($)
(g)

Change in
Pension
Value and
NonQualified
Deferred
Compensation
Earnings
($)
(h)

All Other
Compensation
($)(5)
(i)

879,997(2)
$ 1,099,011

$
$
$
$
$
$

71,120
15,000
32,307
39,000
59,122
56,250

$ 1,099,997(2)
$

30,000

$

$

15,600

$

Total
($)
(j)
$ 172,240
$ 200,000
$ 231,987
$
86.410
$ 969,997
$
71,644
$ 1,099,011

$ 1,171,117
$
15,000
$
32,307
12,176(4) $
81,176
6,750

$

78,600

* Member of the Board of Directors
(1) Represents the aggregate grant date fair value in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. For a discussion of the assumptions made in the valuation
of the dollar amount recognized, please refer to Note X to the Company’s Financial Statements, which are set forth in the Company’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year September 30, 2010.
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(2) The aggregate number of awards of stock outstanding at September 30, 2010 was 4 million for each Mr. Kusche and Ms. Sorensen.
(3) Mr. Berns resigned as Chairman and CEO of the Company in October 2009. He served as Chief Executive Officer of BSP Rewards from October
2009 until June 2010.
(4) Mr. Fernandez was terminated on July 15, 2010 and no severance amounts were owed or paid.
(5) All other compensation is as follows:
Name

Cellular Phone
Allowance

Auto Allowance

2009:
Martin Berns
Alfred Fernandez

$
$

10,050
6,750

$

2,126

Total
$

12,176
6,750

Grants of Plan-Based Awards
The following table summarizes plan-based awards granted to the Company’s named executive officers during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010.

Name

(a)
Michael B. Hansen President and Chief Executive Officer
Kent L Holmstoel Chief Operating Officer
Andreas Kusche General Counsel
Mark Mroczkowski Chief Financial Officer
Betina Dupont Head of Marketing
Alfred Fernandez Former Chief Financial Officer

Grant
Date

(b)

All Other
Stock
Awards:
Number of
Shares of
Stock or
Units
(#)

Estimated Future
Payouts Under NonEstimated Future Payouts
Equity Incentive
Under Equity Incentive
Plan Awards
Plan Awards
Threshold Target
Maximum Threshold Target
Maximum
($)
($)
($)
(#)
(#)
(#)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)

9/30/10

All Other
Option
Awards:
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Options
(#)

(j)

Exercise
or
Base
Price of
Option
Awards
($/Sh)

(k)

(l)

5,000,000(2)

9/30/10

$
5,000,000(3) $

9/30/10

5,000,000(4)

48

Grant Date
Fair Value
of Stock
and Option
Awards(1)

.001

879,997

$ 1,099,011
$ 1,099,997

(1) Reflects the grant date fair value of each target equity award computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.
(2) The assumptions used in the valuation of these awards are set forth in Notes2 and 12 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements as filed
with the SEC on Form 10-K. These amounts do not correspond to the actual value that will be recognized by the Named Executive Officer. On
September 30, 2010, the Company entered into a restricted stock award agreement with Andreas Kusche, the Company’s General Counsel, whereby
the Company granted five million shares of Restricted Stock to Mr. Kusche. Mr. Kusche ‘s interest in the shares of Restricted Stock vests 1,000,000
shares on September 30, 2010 and 500,000 shares will vest at the end of each calendar quarter thereafter through September 30, 2012.
(3) In connection with Mr. Mroczkowski’s execution of the employment agreement, the Company granted him the option to purchase up to five million
shares of the Company’s common stock, at an exercise price of $.001 per share. This option vested 1,000,000 shares on September 30, 2010 and
500,000 shares will vest at the end of each calendar quarter thereafter through March 31, 2012.On the date of the grant the closing market price of
the underlying stock was $.22 as of September 30, 2010.
(4) On September 30, 2010, the Company entered into a restricted stock award agreement with Betina Dupont Sorensen, the Company’s Head of
Marketing, whereby the Company granted five million shares of restricted common stock (“Restricted Stock”) to Ms. Sorensen. Ms. Sorensen’s
interest in the shares of Restricted Stock vested 1,000,000 shares on September 30, 2010 and 500,000 shares will vest at the end of each calendar
quarter thereafter through March 31, 2012.
The following table summarizes plan-based awards granted to the Company’s named executive officers during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010:
Option Awards

Name
(a)
Andreas Kusche
General Counsel
Mark Mroczkowski
Chief Financial Officer
Betina Dupont
Head of Marketing

Grant
Date
(b)

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
Exercisable
(#)
(c)

Stock Awards

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
Unexercisable
(#)
(d)

Option
Exercise
Price
($)
(e)

Option
Expiration
Date
(f)

9/30/10
9/30/10

1,000,000

4,000,000

$

.001

9/30/10
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Number
of
Shares or
Units of
Stock
That
Have Not
Vested
(#)
(g)

Market
Value of
Shares or
Units of
Stock
That
Have
Not
Vested
($)
(h)

4,000,000

$

880,000

4,000,000

$

880,000

9/30/2020

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Number
of
Unearned
Shares,
or
Units
or Other
Rights
That
Have Not
Vested
(#)
(i)

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Market
or
Payout
Value of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other
Rights
That
Have Not
Vested
($)
(j)

Option Exercises and Stock Vested
The following table shows all stock options exercised and the value realized upon exercise, and all other equity awards vested and the value realized upon
vesting, by our Named Executive Officers during fiscal 2010.
Option Awards

Name

Number of Shares
Acquired on
Exercise (#)

Value Realized on
Exercise ($)

Betina Dupont
Andreas Kusche

Stock Awards
Number of Shares
Acquired on
Vesting(#)
1,000,000
400,000

$
$

Total Value
Realized on
Vesting($)
220,000
88,000

Employment, Severance and Change in Control Agreements
Our employment agreements with Michael Hansen, Kent Lee Holmstoel, Andreas Kusche and Betina Dupont provide that upon any termination of their
employment by the Company, other than for “cause,” or disability, or by each employee for “good reason,” they will be entitled to receive any unpaid
salary, bonus and unreimbursed expenses plus a severance payment equal to their monthly base salary (as then in effect) and payment of their bonus (as
then in effect) for a period of 18 months following termination. Upon a “change in control” (as defined in the Company’s 2010 Omnibus Equity
Compensation Plan) of the Company, restricted stock not previously forfeited shall become vested.
Our employment agreement with Mark Mroczkowski provides that upon termination of his employment by the Company, other than for cause, or disability,
or by Mr. Mroczkowski for good reason, he will be entitled to any receive any unpaid salary, bonus and unreimbursed expenses plus a severance
payment equal to this monthly base salary (as then in effect) and payment of his bonus (as then in effect) for a period of 6 months following
termination. Upon a “change in control” (as defined in the Company’s 2010 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan) of the Company, all of his options shall
automatically vest and be immediately exercisable.
Upon a “change in control,” the value of all outstanding Stock Option, Stock Rights, Restricted Stock, Deferred Stock, Performance Shares, Stock Awards and
Other Stock-Based Awards, in each case to the extent vested, shall, unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors or Compensation Committee, if one
is formed, in its sole discretion at or after grant but prior to any Change in Control, be cashed out on the basis of the “Change in Control Price.” The “Change
in Control Price” is the highest price per share of Stock paid in any sale reported on a national exchange or quoted on Nasdaq or the Bulletin Board, or paid
or offered in any bona fide transaction related to a potential or actual Change in Control of the Company at any time during the 60 day period immediately
preceding the occurrence of the Change in Control.
See “Item 10.Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance -Executive Employment Agreements” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a more
complete discussion of our employment agreements with our executive officers.
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Compensation of Directors
None of our directors receives any compensation for serving as such, for serving on committees of the board of directors or for special assignments. During the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2010, there were no other arrangements between us and our directors that resulted in our making payments to any of our
directors for any services provided to us by them as directors.
Change in Control
On October 19, 2009, there was a change in the effective control of the Company. On that date, pursuant to the Merger Agreement (the “Merger Agreement”),
dated as of August 10, 2009, and subsequently amended and restated on September 25, 2009, amongst the Company, the Company’s then subsidiary
MediaNet Merger Sub, Inc., a Nevada corporation, and CG Holdings Limited, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of CG for
5,000,000 shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock (the “Merger”). Effective September 30, 2010, our Series A Preferred Stock was converted to
Common Stock. Accordingly, Zen Holding Group Limited, the sole record holder of CG owns approximately 88% of the voting power of the Company. In
addition, as a condition to the Merger, the Company agreed to appoint:
•

Michael Hansen as a Director and as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company;

•

Kent Holmstoel as Chairman of the Board and Chief Operating Officer of the Company; and

•

Andreas Kusche as a Director and as General Counsel of the Company.

In connection with the Merger, all directors of the Company as of October 19, 2009, other than Mr. Martin Berns, resigned as of such date. On October 29,
2009, the Company appointed Mr. Hansen as President and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Holmstoel as Chief Operating Officer and Mr. Kusche as General
Counsel of the Company. Also on such date, Steven Adelstein was appointed to the Board by Mr. Berns, who was then the sole remaining Board member. On
February 23, 2010, Mr. Adelstein resigned and was replaced by Andreas Kusche.
Item 12.Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth additional information as of September 30, 2010 concerning shares of our Common Stock that may be issued upon the exercise
of options and other rights under our existing equity compensation plans and arrangements, divided between plans approved by our stockholders and plans
or arrangements not submitted to our stockholders for approval. The information includes the number of shares covered by and the weighted average
exercise price of, outstanding options and other rights and the number of shares remaining available for future grants excluding the shares to be issued upon
exercise of outstanding options, warrants, and other rights

Plan Category
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders
Total

Number of Securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,
warrants and rights
(a)

Weighted-average exercise
price of outstanding
options, warrants and rights
(b)
-

5,000,000
5,000,000
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Number of securities
remaining available for
issuance under equity
compensation plans
(excluding securities reflected
in column (a))
(c)

$
$

-

-

.001
.001

45,000,000
45,000,000

2010 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan
The 2010 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan (the “Plan”) became effective September, 30, 2010. The Plan has not been approved by our stockholders. The
Plan is designed for the benefit of the directors, executives, employees and certain consultants and advisors of the Company (i) to attract and retain for the
Company personnel of exceptional ability; (ii) to motivate such personnel through added incentives to make a maximum contribution to greater
profitability; (iii) to develop and maintain a highly competent management team; and (iv) to be competitive with other companies with respect to executive
compensation. Awards under the Plan may be made to participants in the form of (i) incentive stock options; (ii) nonqualified stock options; (iii) stock
appreciation rights; (iv) restricted stock; (v) deferred stock; (vi) stock awards; (vii) performance shares; (viii) other stock-based awards; and (ix) other forms of
equity-based compensation as may be provided and are permissible under the Plan and the law. A total of 50 million shares of Common Stock have been
reserved for issuance under the Plan. Of this amount, as of September 30, 2010, options with respect to 5 million shares were granted to Mr. Mroczkowski, our
Chief Financial Officer, and are outstanding. All of the outstanding options were granted with an exercise price at $.001. On September 30, 2010, one million
shares vested and the balance vest at the rate of 500,000 shares each quarter through September 30, 2012 and have a maximum term expiring in 2020. Shares
subject to this plan are included in the table above.
Security Ownership of Directors, Executive Officers and Certain Beneficial Owners
The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of the Common Stock as of March 7, 2011 for each of our greater than 5% shareholders, directors,
named executive officers and by all of our directors and executive officers as a group. For purposes of this table, beneficial ownership is determined in
accordance with Rule 13d-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which rule focuses on the power to vote shares or make investment decisions with
respect to such shares, potentially irrespective of any pecuniary interest in such shares.
The information as to the securities beneficially owned are based upon the following:
•

a Schedule 13D filed by Zen Holding Group Limited, Mr. Hansen and Mr. Saouma on June 24, 2010;

•

all Form 3 and Form 4 filings of Mark Mroczkowski, Betina Dupont Sorensen, Andreas Kusche, Kent L Holmstoel, Zen Holding, Michel
Saouma and Michael Hansen since May 24, 2010.

Percentage ownership of outstanding common shares is based on 245,200,626 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of March 7, 2011.
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Title of Class
Common Stock

*
**

Amount and
Nature of
Beneficial
Ownership (1)

Name of Beneficial Owner

Percentage of
Class Owned

Michel B. Hansen**

(2)

214,178,946(2)

86.99%

Kent L. Holmstoel**
Andreas Kusche**
Betina Dupont Sorensen**
Mark Mroczkowski**
Directors and Executive Officers as a Group

(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

1,400,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
219,578,946

*
*
*
*
89.19%

Indicates less than 1% of outstanding shares beneficially owned.
Serves as an executive officer or director of the Company as of the date hereof.

(1)
A person is deemed to be the beneficial owner of securities that can be acquired by such person within 60 days from the date hereof upon exercise of
options and warrants and upon conversion of convertible securities. Each beneficial owner’s percentage ownership is determined by assuming that options,
warrants and convertible securities that are held by such person (but not those held by any other person) and that are exercisable or convertible within 60
days from the date hereof have been exercised or converted.
(2)
Includes 214,178,946 shares of Common Stock held directly by Zen Holding. During the period in which the Zen Holdings holds these shares, Mr.
Hansen is expected to have the right to vote and dispose of these shares. Mr. Hansen disclaims a pecuniary interest in any other shares of Common Stock,
including shares of Common Stock held by Ms. Dupont Sorensen or their adult child. As a member of Ms. Dupont Sorensen’s household, Mr. Hansen may be
deemed to have a pecuniary interest in any shares held by Ms. Dupont Sorensen or their adult child. Mr. Hansen’s address is The Palm Jumeirah, P.O. Box
283612, Dubai, U.A.E.
(3)
Mr. Kent L. Holmstoel’s address is Urbanización Haza del Algarrobo 32, Carretera de Mijas, 2, 2 km, 29639 Mijas Costa, Málaga, Spain. Mr.
Holmstoel’s minor children have, in the aggregate, a less than one percent pecuniary interest in Zen Holding’s assets. Mr. Holmstoel disclaims a pecuniary
interest in such shares and any other shares of Common Stock.
(4)
Includes 900,000 shares of restricted stock held directly by Mr. Kusche and 500,000 shares of restricted stock that will vest on March 30, 2011, but
does not include 3,000,000 shares of restricted stock that have not yet vested. Mr. Kusche’s address is 85 Water Lane, Wakefield, WF4 4PY, U.K. Such figure
does not include 3,000,000 shares of restricted stock which are scheduled to vest evenly at a rate of 500,000 shares in each of the next eight consecutive
calendar quarters.
(5)
Includes 1,500,000 shares of restricted stock held directly by Ms. Dupont Sorensen and 500,000 shares of restricted stock that will vest on March 30,
2011, but does not include 3,000,000 shares of restricted stock that have not yet vested Ms. Dupont Sorensen disclaims a pecuniary interest in any other
shares of Common Stock, including those shares of Common Stock held by Mr. Hansen and their adult children. As a member of Mr. Hansen’s household,
Ms. Dupont Sorensen may be deemed to have a pecuniary interest in any shares held by Mr. Hansen or their adult children. Ms. Dupont Sorensen’s address is
The Palm Jumeirah, P.O. Box 283612, Dubai, U.A.E.
(6)
Includes options to purchase 2,000,000 shares of common stock exercisable within 60 days of March 31, 2011, but does not include options to
purchase 3,000,000 shares of common stock which are scheduled to vest evenly at a rate of 500,000 in each of the next six consecutive calendar quarters
beginning June 30, 2011. Mr. Mroczkowski’s address is 8157 Saint Andrews Circle, Orlando, FL 32835.
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Proposed Two Step Transfer of Common Stock to DubLi.com Beneficiaries and Lenox Beneficiaries
In May 2010 Company announced that:
*
Zen Holding had returned to the Company 1,141,933 shares of Preferred Stock, which were convertible into 63,393,933 shares of Common
Stock (the “Loyalty Shares”);
*
the Company intended to use 62,679,116 of the Loyalty Shares to purchase, in a registered tender offer, various outstanding interests in
DubLi.com, LLC from persons (the “DubLi.com Beneficiaries”) other than Mr. Michael Hansen; and
*
the Company intended to transfer 714,817 of the Loyalty Shares to various employees (the “Lenox Beneficiaries” and together with the
DubLi.com Beneficiaries, the “Beneficiaries”) of Lenox Resources, LLC.
The Company has since determined not to seek to acquire interests in DubLi.com, LLC. Nonetheless, the Company would still like to provide the
Beneficiaries a significant ownership interest in the Company.
Accordingly, the Company anticipates transferring the Loyalty Shares to a trust (the “Trust”) on or about March 28, 2011, (the “Initial Transfer Date”) and, on
or about March 28, 2012 (the “Final Transfer Date”), that the Trust will transfer the Loyalty Shares to the Beneficiaries (the “Two Step Transfer”). The
Loyalty Shares are expected to be freely tradable after the Final Transfer Date.
The Company believes the Two Step Transfer process is preferable to conducting some form of registered offering in the United States and numerous other
countries due to, among other things, the projected expense and time required to complete registered offerings in numerous jurisdictions.
Establishment of the Trust and Issuance of the Loyalty Shares
The Two Step Transfer process is governed by the share transfer agreement, dated February 25, 2011 (“Share Transfer Agreement”). The Trust is expected to
be established on or before March 28, 2011, and is administered by Batista Guerra y Asociados, an independent offshore trustee (the “Trustee”), pursuant to
the terms and conditions set forth in the trust agreement which was signed on February 25, 2011 (the “Trust Agreement”). The following summary of the
Share Transfer Agreement and the Trust Agreement and is qualified in its entirety by the actual forms of agreement filed as exhibits hereto.
The Company is not required to issue the Loyalty Shares to the Trust until prior satisfaction of the following, among other things: (1) the terms of the Share
Transfer Agreement have been publicly disclosed by the Company at least 20 days prior to the issuance of the Loyalty Shares to the Trust; (2) on or prior to
the Initial Transfer Date, the Company shall not have received any comments from the SEC or any other comparable foreign or U.S. State regulator with
respect to the transactions contemplated by the Share Transfer Agreement (other than comments that are resolved to the satisfaction of the Company, in its
sole and absolute discretion); and (3) on or prior to the Initial Transfer Date, the Company shall not have received notice of any demand, claim or a
threatened claim with respect to the transactions contemplated by the Share Transfer Agreement (other than comments, demands, claims or threatened claims
that are resolved to the satisfaction of the Company, in its sole and absolute discretion).
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Terms and Conditions of the Trust
The Trustee is required to transfer the Loyalty Shares to the Beneficiaries without requiring any payment or other consideration from the Beneficiaries (other
than any transfer taxes or tariffs that may be imposed in connection with the transfer). In order to receive the Loyalty Shares, each Beneficiary will be
required to complete, execute and return to the Company a Beneficiary Representation Affidavit certifying that the Beneficiary, among other things: (1) has
received an information memorandum relating to the transfer of the Loyalty Shares; (2) has had access to such financial information and other information
concerning the Company and the Loyalty Shares; and (3) understands and agrees that the Beneficiary is receiving the Loyalty Shares pursuant to Regulation
S, Regulation D or another applicable exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”). No Beneficiary
shall have any right, title or interest of any kind in the Loyalty Shares until such time, if ever, that the Trustee transfers Loyalty Shares to the subject
Beneficiary in accordance with the terms of the Trust.
Until the Final Transfer Date, the Trustee has agreed not to, among other things: (1) vote the Loyalty Shares or enter into any form of voting agreement to
vote other shares of common stock of the Company or to allow another person to vote the Loyalty Shares; (2) propose nominees to the Company’s board of
directors or solicit proxies with respect to election of directors; (3) voluntarily pledge, encumber or in any other way subject the Loyalty Shares to any form
of liens or security interests of any kind; (4) incur indebtedness of any kind (5) acquire any additional shares of the Company's common stock; (6) engage in
any form of hedging transaction involving the Company's common stock; or (7) take any other action to control or influence the control of the Company.
The Company would like to provide the Beneficiaries a significant ownership interest in the Company since: (i) virtually all of the DubLi.com Beneficiaries
are former business associates of DubLi Network, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of DubLi.com, LLC, and current business associates of DUBLI NETWORK
LIMITED, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company; (ii) virtually all of the Lenox Beneficiaries have been and are currently employees or consultants of
the Company, (iii) notwithstanding the financial failure of DubLi.com, LLC, the Company believes that the DubLi Network, LLC business associates assisted
the Company build brand awareness for the DubLi.com trade name; and (iv) consistent with many of their expectations, the Company likes the Beneficiaries
to have a significant ownership interest in the entity which owns and is further developing the DubLi brand.
Zen Trust
Zen Holding informed the Company that on or about March 28, 2011 it expects to distribute via a dividend all 214,178,946 of the shares of Common
Stock Zen Holding owns and holds for the indirect benefit of its various investors (the “Zen Trust Shares”) to a trust (the “Zen Trust”). The Zen Trust is
expected to transfer all of the Zen trust Shares to its beneficial owners (the “Zen Beneficiaries”) on the Final Transfer Date (the “Zen Two Step
Transfer”). While the Zen Trust holds the Zen Trust Shares, Michael Hansen, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, is expected to have the right to vote
and make investment decisions with respect to the Zen Trust Shares. The Zen Trust Shares are expected to be freely tradable after the Final Transfer Date.
The Zen Trust is expected to be established on or before March 28, 2011, and will be administered by Batista Guerra y Asociados, an independent offshore
trustee (the “Zen Trustee”). The Zen Trustee is required to transfer the Zen Shares to the Zen Beneficiaries on the Final Transfer Date without requiring any
payment or other consideration from the Zen Beneficiaries (other than any transfer taxes or tariffs that may be imposed in connection with the transfer). In
order to receive the Zen Shares, each Zen Beneficiary will be required to complete execute and return to the Company a beneficiary representation affidavit
certifying that the Zen Beneficiary, among other things: (1) has received an information memorandum relating to the transfer of the Zen Trust Shares; (2) has
had access to such financial information and other information concerning the Company and the Zen Trust Shares; and (3) understands and agrees that the
Zen Beneficiary is receiving the Zen Trust Shares pursuant to Regulation S, Regulation D or another applicable exemption from the registration requirements
of the Securities Act.
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Result of the Two Step Transfer
The following table sets forth the expected beneficial ownership of the Common Stock of the Company as of the Final Transfer Date (assuming the Final
Transfer Date was the date hereof) for each of our greater than 5% shareholders, directors, named executive officers and by all of our directors and executive
officers as a group. For purposes of this table, we have assumed that (i) all of the Loyalty Shares have been issued by the Company; (ii) the Two Step Transfer
has occurred; and (iii) the Zen Two Step Transfer has occurred. Furthermore, for purposes of this table, beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with
Rule 13d-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which focuses on the power to vote shares or make investment decisions with respect to such shares,
potentially irrespective of any pecuniary interest in such shares. The information as to the securities beneficially owned are based upon the following:
(1) a Schedule 13D filed by Zen Holding Group Limited, Mr. Hansen and Mr. Saouma on June 24, 2010;
(2) a draft Schedule 13D expected to be signed by the Zen Trustee (defined below) and expected to be filed jointly by the Zen Trust and Zen
Holding Group Limited on or before March 28, 2011 in connection with the establishment of the Zen Trust.
(3) all Form 3 and Form 4 filings of Mark Mroczkowski, Betina Dupont Sorensen, Andreas Kusche, Kent L Holmstoel, Zen Holding Group
Limited, Michel Saouma and Michael Hansen since May 24, 2010.

Title of Class
Common Stock

Amount and
Nature of
Beneficial
Ownership (1)

Name of Beneficial Owner
Michel B. Hansen**
Kent L. Holmstoel**
Andreas Kusche**
Betina Dupont Sorensen**
Mark Mroczkowski**
Directors and Executive Officers as a Group
Joseph Saouma
Tom Kjaer
Total

*
**

(3)
(5)
(6)
(3)
(9)
(11)
(12)

67,820,304(4)
14,649,680
2,016,834(7)
2,000,000(7)(8)
2,000,000(10)
88,486,818
63,833,409
41,635,931
193,956,158

Percentage of
Class Owned (2)
21.91%
4.73%
*
*
*
28.58%
20.62%
13.45%
62.65%

Indicates less than 1% of outstanding shares beneficially owned.
Serves as an executive officer or director of the Company as of the date hereof.

(1)
A person is deemed to be the beneficial owner of securities that can be acquired by such person within 60 days from the date hereof upon exercise of
options and warrants and upon conversion of convertible securities. Each beneficial owner's percentage ownership is determined by assuming that options,
warrants and convertible securities that are held by such person (but not those held by any other person) and that are exercisable or convertible within 60
days from the date hereof have been exercised or converted.
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(2)
Applicable percentage ownership is based on 308,594,559 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of the Final Transfer Date, which includes the
issuance of all of the Loyalty Shares.
(3)

Mr. Hansen’s and Ms. Dupont Sorensen’s address is The Palm Jumeirah, P.O. Box 283612, Dubai, U.A.E.

(4)
During the period in which the Zen Trust holds the Zen Trust Shares, Mr. Hansen is expected to have the right to vote the Zen Shares. As of the
deemed Final Transfer Date, Mr. Hansen is expected to personally hold 67,820,304 shares of Common Stock, 21.91% of the outstanding shares of our
Common Stock. Mr. Hansen disclaims a pecuniary interest in any other shares of Common Stock, including shares of Common Stock held by Ms. Dupont
Sorensen or their adult children. As a member of Ms. Dupont Sorensen’s household, Mr. Hansen may be deemed to have a pecuniary interest in any shares
held by Ms. Dupont Sorensen or their adult children.
(5)
Mr. Kent L. Holmstoel’s address is Urbanización Haza del Algarrobo 32, Carretera de Mijas, 2, 2 km, 29639 Mijas Costa, Malaga, Spain. Mr.
Holmstoel’s minor children have, in the aggregate, a less than one percent pecuniary interest in Zen’s assets as of the Record Date. Mr. Holmstoel disclaims a
pecuniary interest in such shares and any other shares of Common Stock.
(6)

Mr. Kusche’s address is 85 Water Lane, Wakefield, WF4 4PY, U.K.

(7)
Such figure does not include 3,000,000 shares of restricted stock which are scheduled to vest evenly at a rate of 500,000 shares in each of the next
six consecutive calendar quarters.
(8)
As of the deemed Final Transfer Date, Ms. Dupont Sorensen is expected to personally hold 2,000,000 shares of Common Stock, less than 1% of the
outstanding shares of our Common Stock. Ms. Dupont Sorensen disclaims a pecuniary interest in any other shares of Common Stock, including those shares
of Common Stock held by Mr. Hansen and their adult children. As a member of Mr. Hansen’s household, Ms. Dupont Sorensen may be deemed to have a
pecuniary interest in any shares held by Mr. Hansen or their adult children.
(9)

Mr. Mroczkowski’s address is 8157 Saint Andrews Circle, Orlando, FL 32835.

(10)
Such figure does not include options to purchase 3,000,000 shares of common stock which are scheduled to vest evenly at a rate of 500,000 in each
of the next six consecutive calendar quarters.
(11)

Mr. Joseph Saouma’s address is Amine Gemayelstreet 226, Beirut, Achrafieh, Lebanon.

(12)

Mr. Tom Kjaer’s address is P.O. Box 282303, Dubai, U.A.E.

The foregoing table includes the shares expected to be held by the Trust between the Initial Transfer Date and the Final Transfer Date. Although such shares
are not outstanding on the date hereof, and they are expected to be issued and outstanding on the Final Transfer Date. Between the Initial Transfer Date and
the Final Transfer Date, the Trust has agreed not to vote the shares and to only transfer the shares in accordance with the Trust Agreement.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence
Loans from CG and its Affiliates
Prior to the Merger, entities affiliated with CG loaned us money. More specifically, on July 9, 2009, in accordance with a Letter of Intent dated July 7, 2009,
DubLi Network, LLC loaned $100,000 to the Company. The loan bore interest at an annual rate of 6% and was scheduled to mature on July 9, 2011. In
addition, on August 14, 2009, DubLi Network Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CG, loaned an additional $150,000 to the Company. The loan bore
interest at an annual rate of interest of 6% and was scheduled to mature on July 9, 2011. These loans were eliminated in consolidation after consummation of
the Merger.
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In January 2010, DubLi Network Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CG Holdings Limited, was asked to lend $150,000 to the Company to, among other
things, satisfy the Company’s $135,978 of indebtedness to Mr. Martin Berns and $30,000 to Mr. Eugene Berns (as described in more detail below). Although
DubLi Network Limited maintained that it had no legal obligation to extend such a loan pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on January 5, 2010 DubLi
Network Limited lent an additional $100,000 to the Company and on January 11, 2010, the Company’s debts to Messrs. Martin and Eugene Berns were
satisfied in full. The loan was assumed by the Company in the merger and has been eliminated in the consolidation of the financial statements along with all
other intercompany debt.
Transactions with Directors and Officers
Michael Hansen - As a Company founder, Mr. Hansen has been involved in the Company’s operations since its inception and accordingly, he is business
associate No. 1 holding the rank of Senior Vice President in the DubLi network organization. Like any other vice president in the Network, Mr. Hansen has
numerous business associates whose income from earned commissions is shared with business associates at higher levels, as more fully described in Item 1,
Business. In this connection, Mr. Hansen earned commissions of $200,538 and $337,237 during 2010 and 2009, respectively, of which Mr. Hansen actually
was paid commissions of $100,000 and $157,321 during 2010 and 2009, respectively. Mr. Hansen was owed commissions of $272,121 and $175,281 as of
September 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Effective September 30, 2010, Mr. Hansen waived his right to the earned but unpaid commissions and forgave
the debt to the Company. As Founder, Mr. Hansen is exempt from the requirement that business associates must purchase credits from the Company for resale
in order to earn the maximum commissions.
During the nine month period ended September 30, 2009, Michael Hansen, the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, loaned $99,855 to a
subsidiary of CG subsequently acquired in the Merger. The loan was interest free and the Company repaid the loan in full on or before January 11, 2010.
During the nine months ended June 30, 2010, Michael Hansen advanced the Company $399,356 for working capital purposes. The loan is evidenced by an
unsecured note dated August 22, 2010, payable by the Company to Mr. Hansen in the amount referenced above. The note is interest free and payable upon
demand of Michael Hansen made after August 21, 2011. During the fourth quarter of 2009, Mr. Hansen advanced an additional $441,528 to the Company
without interest or repayment terms, which advance increased the total debt owed to Mr. Hansen to $840,884 at September 30, 2010. Subsequent to
September 30, 2010, Mr. Hansen advanced the Company an additional net $420,472.
DubLi Properties, LLC was contributed to the Company by Mr. Hansen on May 24, 2010 in satisfaction of Mr. Hansen’s oral pledge to contribute the
Cayman Property Rights (described below) to the Company. The Cayman Property Rights, which had a book value of $2,519,138 as of September 30, 2010,
were acquired by DubLi Properties, LLC in December 2009 in exchange for 34 parcels of real property valued at $2,132,375, $43,381 of cash and an
agreement by DubLi Properties LLC to make an additional $824,244 of payments for a total contract price of $3,000,000. In this connection, the Company
paid the October 2010 installments of $150,000 leaving a final installment of $170,431 due in February 2011. The agreement was further modified such that
a payment of $70,430 was made in February 2011 and a final payment of $100,000 is now due on April 1, 2011. The loan was assumed by the Company in
the merger and has been eliminated in the consolidation of the financial statements along with all other intercompany debt. The primary purpose of the
Cayman Property Rights, which consists of a purchase deed with respect to 15 lots in the Cayman Islands, is to reward DubLi’s business associates upon
completion of certain performance objectives.
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Martin Berns - During his tenure as an officer and director of the Company, Mr. Berns provided us financial support in the form of loans in the aggregate
amount of $116,500. Each loan made by Mr. Berns bore interest at the rate of 6% per annum. Between October 1, 2009 and January 11, 2010, Mr. Berns
received an aggregate of $118,266 from the Company as repayment of $116,500 principal and $1,766 of interest on the loans.
From time to time, Mr. Berns incurred expenses on behalf of the Company, which expenses were reimbursable to Mr. Berns without interest. Between
October 1, 2009 and January 11, 2010, Mr. Berns received an aggregate of $67,600 from the Company as repayment of reimbursable expenses.
Eugene Berns - During his tenure as a director of the Company, Mr. Eugene Berns provided us financial support in the form of loans from time to time
totaling $30,000. Between October 1, 2009 and January 11, 2010, Mr. Eugene Berns was repaid $30,000 cash in full satisfaction of all outstanding principal
and interest on all loans he made to the Company.
Brent Gephart – Mr. Gephart, who served as director from January through October, 2009 was also a principal in a firm that provided credit card gateway
services to the Company. In this connection $5,416 in processing fees were paid to his company during 2010; no such amounts were incurred in 2009. Mr.
Gephart’s credit card gateway company required the Company to use a particular credit card service company to process it U.S. based transactions. On
October 27, 2010, DUBLICOM Limited and DubLi Network Limited, both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, initiated legal action
against that credit card service company to seek recovery of the approximately $2,164,000 of reserves (which is approximately 37% of such sales) held at the
discretion of the processor plus various other awards, costs and expenses (see Item 3.Legal Proceedings). In October 2010, the credit card processing services
terminated its business relationship with the Company as a result of the dispute.
Steven Adelstein – Mr. Adelstein, who served as a consultant to the Company from 2007 to February 2010 and as director of the Company from October 2009
through March 2010, received 500,000 shares of Common Stock in September 2009 for his services in connection with the negotiation of the Merger. Mr.
Adelstein also received an aggregate of $22,500 in cash in connection with various consulting services he provided to the Company, including assisting the
Company prepare various reports and statements.
Director Independence
We have no independent members of our Board of Directors or an independent audit committee.
Our Board of Directors is comprised of three individuals, who are employed by the Company. Accordingly, none of our directors is “independent” using the
definition set forth in the NASDAQ Marketplace Rules. We also do not have an independent audit committee. Although our directors are subject to the
fiduciary duties imposed on Board members pursuant to Nevada law, our shareholders do not have the protection afforded by independent directors and an
independent audit committee which are some of the traditional procedural safeguards that protects the interests of minority shareholders. Our lack of
independent directors on our board of directors may also make decisions of our board of directors more prone to legal claims or shareholder criticism than if
made by a board of directors with independent board members.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Lake & Associates CPA’s, LLC (“Lake”) has served as MediaNet’s independent registered public accounting firm since October 10, 2008.
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Fees of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The following table shows the aggregate fees billed to the Company by its independent registered public accounting firm for services rendered during the
two fiscal years ended September 30, 2010.

Audit Fees (1)
Tax Fees
All Other Fees (2)
Total Fees

$

$

2010
143,739
3,502
12,875
160,116

$

$

2009
35,000
2,500
16,000
53,500

(1) Includes fees associated with the fiscal year audit, reviews of the Company’s quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and other securities filings. The total
fees billed by Lake were $160,116 and $53,500 for the periods ended September 30, 2010 and2009, respectively.
(2) Includes fees for our merger, Form 8K’s and various amendments.
Since we have not established an Audit Committee, our Board of Directors has adopted the policy to pre-approve audit and permissible non-audit services
provided by our independent auditors.
PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
Page
(1) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Report of Independent Registered Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-3
F-4
F-5
F-6 to F-7
F-8 to F-35

(b) EXHIBITS
Item
No

Exhibit Description

2.1

Agreement for Share Exchange dated as of February 3, 2003, by and among Clamshell Enterprises, Inc. and Shutterport, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 included in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 4, 2003).

2.2

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated August 10, 2009 among MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc., MediaNet Merger Sub, and CG Holdings
Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 included in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 14, 2009).

2.3

Amended and Restated Plan of Merger (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 included in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
September 30, 2009).
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3.1

Articles of Incorporation dated June 4, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(a) included in our Registration Statement on Form 10SB filed on May 6, 2002).

3.2

Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation dated February 14, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(b) included in our
Registration Statement on Form 10-SB filed on May 6, 2002).

3.3

Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation dated February 14, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(b) included in our
Registration Statement on Form 10-SB filed on May 6, 2002).

3.4

Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation dated May 22, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 included in our
Information Statement on Schedule 14C filed on April 22, 2003).

3.5

Certificate of Designation filed October 16, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 included in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
March 30, 2011
MEDIANET GROUP TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
By:

/s/ MICHAEL HANSEN

Michael Hansen
President and Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ MICHAEL HANSEN

President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director (Principal Executive
Officer)

March 30, 2011

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

March 30, 2011

March 30, 2011

Kent Lee Holmstoel

Chairman of the Board of
Directors and Chief Operating
Officer

/s/ ANDREAS KUSCHE

General Counsel and Director

March 30, 2011

Michael Hansen
/s/ MARK MROCZKOWSKI
Mark Mroczkowski
/s/ KENT LEE HOLMSTOEL

Andreas Kusche
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc. as of September 30, 2010 and 2009, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the two year period ended
September 30, 2010. MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc.’s management is responsible for these financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of MediaNet Group
Technologies, Inc. as of September 30, 2010 and 2009, and the results of its consolidated operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two year
period ended September 30, 2010 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
/s/Lake & Associates, CPA’s LLC
Lake & Associates, CPA’s LLC
Schaumburg, IL
March 25, 2011
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MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
September 30,
2010
2009
Restated
Assets:
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid customer acquisition costs
Prepaid expenses
Total Current Assets
Property and equipment, net
Other Assets:
Restricted cash
Real estate contract
Option agreement
Other
Total Other Assets
Total Assets

$

$

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit):
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued and other liabilities
Accrued incentive
Loyalty points payable
Commissions payable
Customer deposits
Deferred revenue
Note payable - related party
Total Current Liabilities
Note payable
Total Liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit):
Preferred stock- $0.01 par value, 50 million shares authorized, -0- and -0- outstanding, respectively
Common stock -$.001 par value, 500 million shares authorized 244,200,626 and 27,303,552 issued and
outstanding, respectively
Additional paid-in capital (deficit)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Retained earnings (deficit)
Total Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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$

487,171
351,111
58,442
386,185
956,017
110,633
2,349,559
1,721,182
2,037,495
2,519,138
250,000
82,796
4,889,429
8,960,170

681,310
168,360
413,755
1,368,282
2,892,397
840,884
6,364,988
30,901
6,395,889

$

$

$

-

$

244,201
2,559,483
(444,987)
205,584
2,564,281
8,960,170 $

2,533,649
721,987
72,985
401,113
2,577,168
127,165
6,434,067
94,109
32,212
32,212
6,560,388

121,451
585,623
644,075
209,025
2,116,250
18,342
5,560,762
191,322
9,446,850
9,446,850
27,304
(768,528)
(96,014)
(2,049,224)
(2,886,462)
6,560,388

MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended
September 30,
2010
2009
Restated
Revenues
Direct cost of revenues
Gross profit

$

Selling, general and administrative
Income (loss) from operations

24,473,731
11,769,501
12,704,230

$

10,464,746
2,239,484

Interest income (expense) - net

4,717,119
(1,218,928)

(12,654)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes

(3,425)

2,226,830

Income taxes-benefit (expense)

12,355,164
8,856,973
3,498,191

(1,222,353)

-

-

Income(loss) from continuing operations
Discontinued Operations:
(Loss) from discontinued segment
Gain from sale of subsidiary

2,226,830

(1,222,353)

-

(1,659,173)
74,990

Net Income (loss)

2,226,830

(2,806,536)

Foreign currency translation adjustment

(348,973)

Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Net income (loss) per common share from
Continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted
Discontinued operation:
Basic and diluted
Net Income
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$

1,877,857

$

$
$

0.08
0.01

$
$

$

-

$

(0.01)

$
$

0.08
0.01

$
$

(0.01)
(0.01)

28,822,142
272,326,574

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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(96,014)
(2,902,550)

-

301,261,106
301,261,106

MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity
Years Ended September 30, 2010 and 2009
Series A Preferred Stock
Shares
Par
Outstanding
Value
Balance December 31, 2008
Warrant issued in financing
Common shares issued in exchange
for debt
Common shares issued for services
Net loss
Reverse merger with CG Holdings,
Ltd. – restated
Recapitalization
Balance September 30, 2009
Restatement adjustments
Series A Preferred shares issued in
reverse merger
Warrants exercised
Common shares issued to correct an
error
Software contributed
Real estate contract contributed
Preferred shares returned and
cancelled
Preferred shares converted into
common shares
Common shares issued for
compensation
Foreign currency adjustment
Net income
Balance September 30, 2010

Common Stock
Shares
Par Value
Outstanding
Value
20,599,802
$
20,600
2,612,500
4,091,250

5,000,000

$

$

2,612
4,092

(11,419)

(3,858,067)

(38,581)

Retained
Earnings
(Deficit)
$ (5,999,077)

Total
Equity
(Deficit)
$
(333,777)
58,494

154,138
241,383
(2,049,224)
6,874,886
(2,049,224)
27,978

(2,137,595)
(2,886,462)
27,978

27,303,552

27,304

818,028

818

(50,000)
132,307

133,125

500,100

500

(500)
1,337,673
1,440,708

1,337,673
1,440,708

214,178,946

214,179

1,400,000

1,400

(96,014)

(875,809)

156,750
245,475
(875,809)

7,643
(6,874,886)
(768,528)

50,000

(1,141,933)

Paid-In
Capital
5,644,700
58,494

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
$
-

(96,014)

11,419

-

(175,598)

-

632,003

633,403
(348,973)
2,226,830

(348,973)
2,226,830
-

$

-

244,200,626

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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$

244,201

$

2,559,483

$

(444,987)

$

205,584

$

2,564,281

MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended September 30,
2010
Cash flows from operating activities
Net Income (loss) from continuing operations
Net loss from discontinued operations
Net Income (loss) from operations
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock based compensation
Warrants & stock issued for services
Promotional credits
CG Holdings restatement impact
Currency
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Prepaid customer acquisition costs
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued incentives &loyalty points
Commission payable
Customer deposits
Deferred revenue
Net cash provided by operations

$

Investing activities:
Purchases of equipment and software
Payments on real estate contract
Option agreement
Other assets
Restricted cash
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from note payable - related party
Repayments of note payable - related party
Proceeds from note payable
Repayments of note payable
Common shares and warrants exercised
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash and equivalents
Cash at beginning of period
Cash at end of period

$

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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2,226,830
2,226,830

2009
Restated
$

(1,147,363)
(1,659,173)
(2,806,536)

719,262
633,401
80,155
938,571
(57,851)

21,601
376,469
(398,149)
-

(776,090)
332,035
9,072
4,883
1,582,674
593,650
(203,692)
391,326
(1,447,992)
(16,975)
(2,441,109)
1,805,498

(721,987)
109,797
(329,347)
(127,164)
(2,577,168)
301,724
275,580
644,076
2,116,250
18,342
5,491,114
2,394,602

(1,042,207)
(1,078,430)
(250,000)
(52,845)
(2,214,467)
(4,637,949)

(105,077)
(30,613)
(135,690)

944,987
(98,445)
41,277
2,950
133,125
1,017,994

1,183,473
(897,150)
4,393
290,716

(232,022)

(96,016)

(2,046,478)
2,533,649
487,171 $

2,453,612
80,037
2,533,649

MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Continued
For the years ended September 30,
2010
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Note issued to related party
Stock issued for interest on note payable related party
Shareholder contribution for software
Shareholder contribution for real estate contract
Recapitalization
Cashless warrant
Preferred stock issued
Preferred stock returned

$

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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12,654
1,337,673
1,440,708
482
50,000
11,419

2009
$

3,425
150,000
675
6,874,886
-

MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended September 30, 2010 and 2009
Note 1 - Description of Business
MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc. (“MediaNet Group,” the “Company,” “we,” or “us”), through its wholly owned subsidiaries, is a global
marketing company that sells merchandise to consumers through Internet-based auctions conducted under the trade name “DubLi.com.” As of September 30,
2010, our online auctions were conducted in Europe, North America, Australia and New Zealand and a global auction portal serving the balance of the
world. We have a large network of independent business associates that sell the right to make a bid in one of our auctions (referred to herein as “Credit” or
“DubLi Credits”). These auctions are designed to offer consumers substantial savings on these goods. The Company, through its BSP Rewards, Inc.
subsidiary, also offers private branded loyalty and reward web malls where members receive rebates (rewards) on products and services from participating
merchants.
The Company is organized in Nevada and has its principal executive offices in Boca Raton, Florida. The Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries are
domiciled in Delaware, Florida and Nevada in the United States and in the British Virgin Islands, Cyprus and Berlin, Germany.
As of September 30, 2010, our President and Chief Executive Officer, through his beneficial ownership of Zen Holding Group Limited ("Zen
Holding") and agreement with Michel Saouma, has the indirect power to cast approximately 88% of the combined votes that can be cast by the holders of the
Common Stock. Accordingly, he has the power to influence or control the outcome of important corporate decisions or matters submitted to a vote of our
shareholders, including, but not limited to, increasing the authorized capital stock of the Company, the dissolution, merger or sale of the Company’s assets
and the size and membership of the Board of Directors and all other corporate actions.
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Accounting Principles
The accompanying consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
Basis of Presentation
The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries which are
wholly owned or otherwise under common control. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The following
subsidiaries are included in the consolidation at September 30, 2010 and 2009.
BSP Rewards, Inc.
CG Holdings, Ltd.
DUBLICOM Limited
DubLi Network Limited
Lenox Logistik und Service GmbH
Lenox Resources, LLC
DubLi Logistics LLC
DubLi Properties, LLC
DubLi.com, LLC
DubLi.com GmbH
DubLi Network, LLC

Wholly owned
Wholly owned
Wholly owned
Wholly owned
Wholly owned
Wholly owned
Wholly owned *
Wholly owned *
Under Common Control
Under Common Control
Under Common Control

* Acquired May 24, 2010.
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Actively engaged in business
Actively engaged in business
Actively engaged in business
Actively engaged in business
Actively engaged in business
Actively engaged in business
Actively engaged in business
Actively engaged in business
Discontinued operations
Discontinued operations
Discontinued operations

As is more fully described in Note 12 to the Financial Statements, DubLi Logistics was identified as one of the consolidated subsidiaries of the
Company in Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 4, 2010 (the “Form 8-K”) and the Company’s Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended December 31, 2009 (the “Form 10-Q”) based upon DubLi Logistic’s historical and current operation as an affiliated, profitless, product
purchasing agent of DUBLICOM. DubLi Logistics is operated exclusively by employees of Lenox Logistik.
The results of operations and assets and liabilities of DubLi.com, LLC’s subsidiaries were also included in the Company’s consolidated results of
operations as reported in the Form 8-K and Form 10-Q based upon their common ownership and historical relationship to CG and its other consolidated
subsidiaries. DubLi.com, LLC, which is a holding company, has never directly operated a business and its subsidiaries were sold or their businesses were
discontinued in the second quarter of 2009.
Recent Authoritative Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASC 605-25, Revenue Recognition - Multiple-Deliverable Revenue
Arrangements. This guidance addresses how to separate deliverables and how to measure and allocate consideration to one or more units of accounting.
Specifically, the guidance requires that consideration be allocated among multiple deliverables based on relative selling prices. The guidance establishes a
selling price hierarchy of (1) vendor-specific objective evidence, (2) third-party evidence and (3) estimated selling price. This guidance is effective for annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2009 but may be early adopted as of the beginning of an annual period. The Company has concluded that this
guidance will not affect its consolidated financial position and results of operations.
Foreign Currency
Financial statements of foreign subsidiaries operating in other than highly inflationary economies are translated at year-end exchange rates for assets and
liabilities and historical exchange rates during the year for income and expense accounts. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded within
accumulated other comprehensive income or loss. Financial statements of subsidiaries operating in highly inflationary economies are translated using a
combination of current and historical exchange rates and any translation adjustments are included in current earnings. Gains or losses resulting from foreign
currency transactions are recorded in operating expense.
Reclassifications
Certain amounts reported in previous periods have been reclassified to conform to the Company’s current period presentation.
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Management’s Use of Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of the assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities, deferred income, accruals for incentive awards and unearned auction Credits at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting periods. Examples, though not exclusive, include estimates and assumptions of: loss
contingencies; depreciation or amortization of the economic useful life of an asset; stock-based compensation forfeiture rates; estimating the fair value and
impairment of assets; potential outcome of future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns; estimates
of incentive awards and unearned auction Credits and determining when investment impairments are other-than temporary. The Company bases its estimates
on historical experience and on various assumptions that the Company believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may materially differ
from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions.
Management regularly reviews estimates. Revisions to the estimates are reflected in results of operations as a change in accounting estimate in the period in
which the facts that give rise to the revision become known by management. During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company revised its estimates of
breakage related to sales of DubLi Credits based upon historical analysis of actual usage. The Company also revised its estimate of direct and incremental
direct costs related to those revenues based on an analysis of historical unit costs. The changes in accounting estimates resulted in a decrease in both deferred
revenue and expense with corresponding increases in both revenue and expense as more fully described in Note 5.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Financial Instruments
The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with original maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. In
general, investments with original maturities of greater than three months and remaining maturities of less than one year are classified as short term
investments.
Concentrations
The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts in the United States, Germany and Cyprus, which at times may exceed the federally insured limits
in those countries. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and
cash equivalents.
As discussed below in “revenue recognition,” the Company’s revenue is concentrated 3% in goods and services sold at auction; 86% in sales of DubLi
Credits; 3% in subscription fees; and, 8% in BSP Rewards Mall commissions.
Geographically, the Company revenues are concentrated in the following markets: 23% European Union; 25% North America; 42% Australia & New
Zealand; and, 10% worldwide.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company has adopted and follows ASC 820-10, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” for measurement and disclosures about the fair value of its
financial instruments. ASC 820-10 establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP),
and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. To increase consistency and comparability in fair value measurements and related disclosures, ASC
820-10 establishes a fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three (3) broad levels. The fair
value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs. The three (3) levels of fair value hierarchy defined by ASC 820-10 are:
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Level1 —

Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level2 —
Inputs (other than quoted market prices included in Level1) are either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability through
correlation with market data at the measurement date and for the duration of the instrument’s anticipated life.
Level3 —
Inputs reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the valuation technique and the risk inherent in the inputs to the model. Valuation of instruments includes
unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement of fair value of assets or liabilities.
As defined by ASC 820-10, the fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between
willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale, which was further clarified as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability (“an exit price”) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial
assets and liabilities, such as cash and cash equivalents, prepaid and other current assets, and other assets, accounts payable, accrued expenses, accrued
interest, taxes payable, and other current liabilities, approximate their fair values because of the short maturity of these instruments. The Company’s notes
payable to shareholders approximates the fair value of such instrument based upon management’s best estimate of interest rates that would be available to the
Company for similar financial arrangements at September 30, 2010.
The Company does not have any assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring or a non-recurring basis and, consequently, the Company did not
have any fair value adjustments for assets and liabilities measured at fair value at September 30, 2010, nor any gains or losses reported in the statement of
operations that are attributable to the change in unrealized gains or losses relating to those assets and liabilities still held at the reporting date.
Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are reported at the customers' outstanding balances less any allowance for doubtful accounts. Interest is not accrued on overdue
accounts receivable. We evaluate receivables outstanding greater than ninety days on a regular basis for potential reserve.
Inventory
The inventory represents finished goods merchandise purchased at cost and available for sale on either the Xpress Bid or Unique Bid auctions. Inventories are
stated at lower of cost or market. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Shipping and handling costs are included in purchases for all periods
presented.
Property, Software and Leasehold Improvements
Property is recorded at cost. The cost of maintenance and repairs of equipment is charged to operating expense when incurred. Depreciation and amortization
is determined based upon the assets’ estimated three to seven year useful lives, and is calculated on a straight-line basis beginning when the asset is placed
into service. When the Company sells, disposes or retires equipment, the related gains or losses are included in operating results.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
In accordance with Statement of ASC 360-10-35, Property, Plant and Equipment – Subsequent Measurement, the Company reviews the carrying value of its
long-lived assets, which includes property and equipment, and intangible assets (other than goodwill) annually or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the historical cost-carrying value of an asset may no longer be appropriate. The Company assesses recoverability of the carrying
value of the asset by estimating the future net cash flows expected to result from the asset, including eventual disposition. The estimate of cash flows is based
upon, among other things, certain assumptions about expected future operating performance, growth rates and other factors. Estimates of undiscounted cash
flows may differ from actual cash flows due to, among other things, technological changes, economic conditions, changes to the business model or changes
in operating performance. If the sum of the undiscounted cash flows (excluding interest) is less than the carrying value, an impairment loss will be
recognized, measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the asset. Fair value is determined using available market data,
comparable asset quotes and/or discounted cash flow models. Management conducted an evaluation of long-lived assets and determined no impairments
currently exist. Accordingly, we did not recognize any impairment charges in the years ended September 30, 2010 or 2009.
Revenue Recognition
Product Sales and Services - The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification subtopic 605-10, Revenue
Recognition (“ASC 605-10”). ASC 605-10 requires that four basic criteria be met before revenue can be recognized: (i) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists; (ii) delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; (iii) the selling price is fixed and determinable; and (iv) collectability is
reasonably assured. Determination of criteria (iii) and (iv) are based on management's judgments regarding the fixed nature of the selling prices of the
products delivered and the collectability of those amounts. Provisions for discounts and rebates to customers, estimated returns and allowances, and other
adjustments are provided for in the same period the related sales are recorded. The Company defers any revenue that is subject to refund, and, for which the
product has not been delivered or the service has not been rendered net of an estimated allowance for breakage. The Company revenue recognition policies
for each of its products and services are as follows:
•

Goods and services sold at auction – Revenue is recognized after receipt of payment and product shipment net of credit card charge-backs and
refunds.

•

“DubLi Credits” – Consumers bid on the Company’s online auctions by purchasing “DubLi Credits” either directly on DubLi.com or from DubLi’s
independent business associates who are members of the DubLi Marketing Network. All proceeds from the sales of “DubLi Credits” are recorded as
deferred revenue until used by the consumer in the bidding process and the related revenue is earned. Purchases of DubLi Credits are nonrefundable after three days. Unused Credits remaining in deferred revenue after 12 months are recorded as revenue as if earned
(“breakage”). Management makes this estimated adjustment to reduce the deferred revenue liability and to increase revenue recognized based upon
historical statistical utilization rates.

•

Subscription Fees – “DubLi Business Associates” pay a $175 annual subscription fee for the marketing and training services provided by DubLi
Network. All proceeds from the sales of subscription fees are recorded as deferred revenue and recorded as revenue ratably over the twelve month
service period plus any promotional extensions.

•

BSP Rewards revenue is earned principally from revenue rebates (commissions) earned from merchants participating in its online shopping malls,
gift card sales from each rewards mall program and, web design/maintenance/hosting it earns for building and hosting its private-branded online
mall platform for outside organizations. The Company receives rebates from participating merchants on all transactions processed by BSP Rewards
through its online mall platform. The percentage rebate paid by merchants varies between 1% and 30% and BSP Rewards normally shares 50% of
the rebate with the member who made the purchase in the form of “Rewards Points.” The members’ share of the rebates are recorded as a liability
until claimed by the member or until the two year expiration period is reached at which time the unclaimed Rewards Points are taken into income.
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Direct Cost of Revenues
Included in Direct Cost of Revenues are the costs of goods sold and commissions and incentive bonuses earned by business associates on the sales of DubLi
Credits. Commissions are based upon each business associate’s volume of Credit sales and that of other business associates who are sponsored by the subject
business associate. Commissions are paid to business associates at the time of the sale of the Credits and are recognized as a deferred expense until the Credits
are used and then are charged to expense. Incentive bonuses are paid either monthly or quarterly and the related expense is recorded when the business
associate meets the stated sales goal for each particular promotional event.
Advertising and Marketing Expenses
Advertising and marketing costs are expensed as incurred and include the costs associated with internally developed websites and other marketing programs
and materials.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses include costs associated with distribution activities, research and development, information technology, and
other administrative costs, including finance, legal and human resource functions. Research and development is performed by in-house staff and outside
consultants and those costs are expensed as incurred. In addition, the Company capitalizes certain incremental direct expenses incurred to obtain new
business associates.
Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income consists of net earnings, unrealized gains or losses on investments, foreign currency translation adjustments and the effective portion
of the unrealized gains or losses on derivatives. Comprehensive income is presented in the consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity and
comprehensive income.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes under ASC 740-10, Income Taxes. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on differences
between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using presently enacted tax rates. At each balance sheet date, the Company evaluates
the available evidence about future taxable income and other possible sources of realization of deferred tax assets, and records a valuation allowance that
reduces the deferred tax assets to an amount that represents management’s best estimate of the amount of such deferred tax assets that more likely than not
will be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the
statements of operations in the period that includes the enactment date.
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Computation of Income and Loss per Share
The Company computes income and loss per share in accordance with ASC 260, previously SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share. ASC 260 requires
presentation of both basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) on the face of the statement of operations. Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income
(loss) available to common shareholders (numerator) by the weighted average number of shares outstanding (denominator) during the period. Diluted EPS
gives effect to all dilutive potential Common Stock outstanding during the period using the treasury stock method and convertible preferred stock using the
if-converted method. In computing diluted EPS, the average stock price for the period is used in determining the number of shares assumed to be purchased
from the exercise of stock options or warrants. Diluted EPS excludes all dilutive potential shares if their effect is anti-dilutive. In periods in which a net loss
has been incurred, all potentially dilutive shares of Common Stock are considered anti-dilutive and thus are excluded from the calculation. As of September
30, 2010, the Company had two classes of potentially dilutive derivatives of Common Stock as a result of warrants granted and options.
Dividends
The Company’s policy is to retain earnings to provide funds for the operation and expansion of our business and not to pay dividends.
Share-Based Payments
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718, Stock Compensation, which establishes the accounting
for share-based awards and the inclusion of their fair value in net earnings in the respective periods in which the awards were earned. Consistent with the
provisions of ASC 718, the Company estimates the fair value of stock options and shares issued under its employee stock purchase plan using the BlackScholes option-pricing model. Fair value is estimated on the date of grant and is then recognized (net of estimated forfeitures) as expense in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations over the requisite service period (generally the vesting period).
ASC 718 requires companies to estimate the fair value of stock-based compensation on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The Company uses
the Black-Scholes model to value stock-based compensation. The Black-Scholes model determines the fair value of stock-based payment awards based on
the stock price on the date of grant and is affected by assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include,
but are not limited to the Company’s expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards (computed at 141.24% and actual and projected employee
stock option exercise behaviors). Option-pricing models were developed for use in estimating the value of traded options that have no vesting or hedging
restrictions and are fully transferable. Although the fair value of stock options granted by the Company is determined in accordance with ASC 718 and Staff
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 107, Share-Based Payment, (“SAB 107”) as amended by SAB No. 110, using an option-pricing model, that value may not
be indicative of the fair value observed in a willing buyer/willing seller market transaction. The Company issues new shares for its share based payments as
not from treasury.
Foreign Currency Cash Flows
ASC 830-230-45 requires companies with foreign operations or foreign currency transactions to prepare the statement of cash flows using the exchange rates
in effect at the time of the cash flows. The Company uses an appropriately weighted average exchange rate for the period for translation if the result is
substantially the same as if the rates at the dates of the cash flows were used. The statement of cash flows reports the effect of exchange rate changes on cash
balances held in foreign currencies as a separate part of the reconciliation of the change in cash and cash equivalents during the period.
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Subsequent Events
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 855 “Subsequent Events,” previously SFAS No. 165 “Subsequent Events” established general standards of
accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date, but before the financial statements are issued or available to be issued
(“subsequent events”). An entity is required to disclose the date through which subsequent events have been evaluated and the basis for that date. For public
entities, this is the date the financial statements are issued. SFAS No. 165 does not apply to subsequent events or transactions that are within the scope of
other GAAP and did not result in significant changes in the subsequent events reported by the Company. SFAS No. 165 became effective for interim or
annual periods ending after June 15, 2009 and did not impact the Company’s financial statements. The Company evaluated for subsequent events through
the issuance date of the Company’s financial statements. See Note 15.
Restatement of Previously Filed Interim and Annual Financial Statements
On December 16, 2010, the CFO and Company’s Board of Directors concluded that the previously issued financial statements contained in the Company’s
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for each of the three quarters during the year ended September 30, 2010, and the 2009 financial statements of CG Holdings
Limited and its wholly owned subsidiaries as of September 30, 2009 and for year then ended and the related pro forma financial statements also contained in
the Company’s Form 8-K/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on February 4, 2010 should not be relied upon because of the
following errors that require a restatement of such financial statements.
Intercompany eliminations - We determined that certain intercompany eliminations were not made during each of the quarters during the year ended
September 30, 2010 and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2009. As a result, our previously issued financial statements for the periods identified above
overstated revenues and misstated costs of goods sold. In this connection, we determined that during the periods referred to above, we had insufficient
personnel resources to perform review and monitoring controls within the accounting function.
Cutoffs - We determined that certain revenue and expense transactions for the quarter ended March 31, 2010 were erroneously recorded in quarter ended
December 31, 2009. In this connection, we determined that certain supervisory and monitoring controls had not been performed for these periods which
resulted in these accounting errors.
Account errors - We determined that sales, deferred revenue, commissions and prepaid customer acquisition costs were incorrectly recorded during each of the
quarters during the year ended September 30, 2010 and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2009. In this connection, we determined that certain
supervisory and monitoring controls had not been performed for these periods, which resulted in these accounting errors.
Enrollment fees - We determined that revenue from the sale of our eBiz kits was erroneously recorded for each of the quarters during the year ended
September 30, 2010 and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2009. As a result, our previously issued financial statements for the periods identified above,
had overstated revenues. The Company's non-refundable eBiz kits fee revenue was previously recognized when collected. Based on a review of Staff
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) 104, the Company revised its revenue recognition of non-refundable eBiz kits to recognize them on a straight-line basis over
the term of the renewal period (12 months). In this connection, we determined that periods referred to above, we had insufficient personnel resources and
technical accounting expertise within the accounting function to resolve non-routine or complex accounting matters.
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Income taxes - Taking into consideration the restatement and related adjustments described above, we have reassessed our income tax provision in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Statement No. 109 and accordingly, we made certain adjustments to reflect the changes required as a result
of the restatement to all affected periods and we restated our 2009 income tax provision and related liability.
The Company will file with the SEC, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q /A as of December 31, 2009, March 31, 2010 and June 30, 2010 and for each of the
three months then ended and a Form 8-K/A containing the consolidating balance sheet as of September 30, 2009 and the consolidating income statement for
the year then ended and the related pro forma financial statements also contained in the Company’s Form 8-K/A to reflect the changes required as a result of
the restatement. The Company has also restated the September 30, 2009 consolidated financial statements as more fully described in Note 15.
Note 3 – Restricted Cash
The Company has agreements with organizations that process credit card transactions arising from purchases of products and DubLi Credits by business
associates and customers of the Company. Credit card processors have financial risk associated with the products and services purchased because the
processor generally forwards the cash related to the purchase to the Company soon after the purchase is completed. The organizations that processes
MasterCard/Visa transactions allows the credit card processor to create and maintain a reserve account that is funded by retaining cash that it otherwise would
deliver to the Company (i.e., “restricted cash”). The reserve requirements have ranged from a low of 5% to a high of 50% for a rolling term of six
months. The restricted cash is on deposit with two such merchant account providers, one in Europe and one in the United States. With the European
processor, the Company had on deposit $351,111 and $721,987 as of September 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. With the U.S. processor the Company had
on deposit $2,162,495 net of a $125,000 provision for impairment loss for a net asset value of $2,037,495 as of September 30, 2010.
The Company has historically relied upon two service providers to process credit card transactions arising from purchases of the Company’s services and
products. Disagreements have emerged between the Company and one such service provider, National Merchant Center ("NMC"), as to the permitted amount
of reserves, if any, that NMC is eligible to maintain. On September 22, 2010 certain of the Company’s subsidiaries instructed NMC to return to them all of
the cash held in reserve with respect to the Company’s account. In response to such demand, on November 1, 2010, NMC informed the Company that it was
terminating the Company’s merchant account with NMC and holding all of the Company’s funds and deposits for a period of 180 days after the last
chargeback (which have averaged less than 1.2% of sales or approximately $63,000 since the account was established in December 2009).
On October 27, 2010, DUBLICOM Limited and DubLi Network Limited, both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, initiated legal action
against NMC in U.S. District Court to seek recovery of the approximately $2,162,000 of reserves (which is approximately 37% of all such sales) held at the
direction NMC plus various other awards, costs and expenses. NMC’s legal counsel has since informed the Company that NMC is in bankruptcy, the subject
funds are being held in escrow in California by a third party in a bank account and such funds are not involved in the NMC bankruptcy case. The Company
will continue to aggressively pursue legal action against NMC and, based upon advice of counsel, expects to recover the funds.
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Note 4 – Foreign Currency
Three of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries designate the Euro as their functional currency. The total amount of cash held by foreign subsidiaries, translated
into U.S. Dollars at September 30 is as follows:

Euro
Australian Dollar
U.S. Dollar
Total

Unrestricted
$
211,034
72,386
54,022
$
337,442

2010
Restricted
Current
$
193,641
92,596
64,874
$
351,111

2009
Restricted
Long-Term
$

$

2,037,495
2,037,495

Unrestricted
$
274,262
2,178,603
$
2,452,865

Restricted
Current
$
98,787
623,443
$
722,230

Note 5 – Deferred Revenue and Expense
The Company defers revenue from; (1) the unearned portion of the annual subscription fees paid by business associates who join the DubLi Network and, (2)
the value of the “DubLi Credits” sold to customers but not yet used to bid at auction, net of estimated breakage. The Company also defers direct and
incremental direct costs related to the sale of “DubLi Credits” under the caption “Prepaid customer acquisition costs.” The following summarizes the
components of deferred revenue:
2010

2009

Prepaid customer acquisition costs

$

956,017

$

2,577,168

Unused DubLi Credits
Subscription fees

$

1,791,881
1,100,516
2,892,397

$

5,203,136
357,626
5,560,762

$

$

During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company revised its estimates of breakage related to sales of DubLi Credits based upon historical analysis of actual
usage. The Company also revised its estimate of direct and incremental direct costs related to those revenues based on an analysis of historical unit
costs. The changes in accounting estimates resulted in a decrease in both deferred revenue and expense of $5,496,152 and $2,687,999, respectively with
corresponding increases in both revenue and expense and an overall increase in net income of $2,687,999 and earnings per basic and fully diluted share of
$0.09 and $0.01, respectively.
Note 6 – Property and Equipment
Equipment consists of office furniture, computer equipment and software at September 30 as follows:

Cost
Accumulated Depreciation
Total

$
$

2010
2,487,405 $
(766,223)
1,721,182 $

2009
140,514
( 46,405)
94,109

Depreciation expense was $719,262 and $21,601 for the year ended September 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
Note 7 – Real Estate Contract
DubLi Properties, LLC was contributed to the Company by Mr. Hansen on May 24, 2010 in satisfaction of Mr. Hansen’s oral pledge to contribute the
Cayman Property Rights (described below) to the Company. The Cayman Property Rights, which had a book value of $2,519,138 as of September 30, 2010,
were acquired by DubLi Properties, LLC in December 2009 in exchange for 34 parcels of real property valued at $2,132,375, $43,381 of cash and an
agreement by DubLi Properties LLC to make an additional $824,244 of payments for a total contract price of $3,000,000. During 2009, the Company made
payments aggregating $778,430. In October 2010, the agreement was modified, which required a $150,000 payment at the modification date and a final
payment of $170,430 is due February 2011. The agreement was further modified such that a payment of $70,430 was made in February 2011 and a final
payment of $100,000 is now due on April 1, 2011.
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The primary purpose of the Cayman Property Rights, which consists of a purchase deed with respect to 15 lots in the Cayman Islands, is to reward DubLi
business associates upon completion of certain performance objectives. See also Note 13 Merger for a description of the May 24, 2010 acquisition of DubLi
Properties, LLC and its land purchase agreement.
Note 8 – Note Payable
In April 2010, the Company purchased and financed an automobile for $41,277 with a note payable for sixty monthly payments of principle and interest of
$807. Interest accrues at 6.5 percent and the loan matures as follows: 2011; $7,425, (included in current liabilities) 2012; $8,602, 2013; $9,222, 2014;
$9,888 and 2015; $3,190.
Note 9 – Commitments and Contingencies
Leases
The Company has non-cancellable operating leases for office space in Berlin, Germany and Boca Raton, Florida that expire in 2014 and 2020, respectively.
Under the lease agreement in Berlin, the Company leases 589.9 square meters of office space and is obligated to pay property taxes, insurance and
maintenance costs. The lease agreement in Boca Raton is for 10,476 square feet of office space and the Company is obligated to pay common area
maintenance and sales tax. The Company also leases two apartments and an automobile in Berlin for visiting corporate officers, staff and other guests of the
Company. The apartment leases provide for monthly rentals of $4,191 and expire in March 2011. The automobile is rented under a 36 month operating lease
for $2,534 monthly, which lease expires in May 2013. Total rental expense for the years ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 was $357,370 and $493,294,
respectively.
Future minimum rental commitments for non-cancellable operating leases at September 30, 2010 are as follows:
2011
2012
2013
2114
2015
Thereafter
Total

$

425,193
400,047
392,444
369,634
287,006
1,211,142
$ 3,085,466
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Note 10 – Income Taxes
The provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations consisted of the following:
2010
Current tax benefit:
Federal
State

$

2009

-

Deferred tax benefit:
Federal

-

$

$

-

$

The tax effect of significant items comprising our net deferred tax assets as of September 30, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

Deferred tax assets:
Stock options
Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards
Other
Gross deferred tax assets
Less: valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred taxes

$

$

2010

2009

248,009 $
1,995,278
371,326
55,346
2,669,959
(2,546,601)
123,358
(123,358)
- $

92,372
1,738,948
109,157
526
1,941,003
(1,939,166)
1,837
(1,837)
-

At September 30, 2010, the Company had $5,302,362 of net operating loss carryforwards for US federal income tax purposes that expire beginning in
2025. Due to Internal Revenue Code Section 382 limitations related to the change in ownership of the Company, the utilization of pre-acquisition net
operating losses is limited on an annual basis. The Company had approximately $3,713,258 of foreign net operating loss carryforwards at September 30,
2010.
In assessing the ability to realize the deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent on the generation of future taxable income during the period in which
these temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the projected future taxable income and prudent and feasible tax planning strategies
in making this assessment. As of September 30, 2010 and 2009, valuation allowances of $2,546,601 and $1,939,166 have been recorded, respectively.
A reconciliation of U.S. statutory federal income tax rate related to pretax income (loss) from continuing operations to the effective tax rate for the years
ended September 30 is as follows:
2010
Statutory rate
Permanent difference
Effect of foreign earnings
State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Valuation allowance
Other

2009
35%
7%
-72%
1%
27%
2%
0%
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-35%
0%
0%
0%
35%
0%
0%

Under ASC 740, an entity may only recognize or continue to recognize tax positions that meet a more likely than not threshold. In the ordinary course of
business there is inherent uncertainty in quantifying our income tax positions. The Company assesses its income tax positions and records tax benefits for all
years subject to examination based on management's evaluation of the facts, circumstances and information available at the reporting date. For those tax
positions where it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will be sustained, the Company has recognized the largest amount of tax benefit with a greater
than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. For those
income tax positions where it is not more likely than not that a tax benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit has been recognized in the Company's financial
statements. Management believes that the Company has not taken any material tax positions that would be deemed to be uncertain, therefore the Company
has not established a liability for uncertain tax positions for the years ended September 30, 2010 and 2009.
Note 11 – Related Party Transactions:
Loans from CG and its Affiliates
Prior to the Merger, entities affiliated with CG loaned us money. More specifically, on July 9, 2009, in accordance with a Letter of Intent dated July 7, 2009,
DubLi Network, LLC loaned $100,000 to the Company. The loan bore interest at an annual rate of 6% and was scheduled to mature on July 9, 2011. In
addition, on August 14, 2009, DubLi Network Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CG, loaned an additional $150,000 to the Company. The loan bore
interest at an annual rate of interest of 6% and was scheduled to mature on July 9, 2011. These loans were eliminated in consolidation after consummation of
the Merger.
In January 2010, DubLi Network Limited was asked to lend $150,000 to the Company to, among other things, satisfy the Company’s $135,978 of
indebtedness to Mr. Martin Berns and $30,000 to Mr. Eugene Berns (as described in more detail below). Although DubLi Network Limited maintained that it
had no legal obligation to extend such a loan pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on January 5, 2010 DubLi Network Limited lent an additional $100,000 to
the Company and on January 11, 2010, the Company’s debts to Messrs. Martin and Eugene Berns were satisfied in full. The loan was assumed by the
Company in the merger and has been eliminated in the consolidation of the financial statements along with all other intercompany debt.
Transactions with Directors and Officers
Michael Hansen - As a Company founder, Mr. Hansen has been involved in the Company’s operations since its inception and accordingly, he is business
associate No. 1 holding the rank of Senior Vice President in the DubLi network organization. Like any other vice president in the Network, Mr. Hansen has
numerous business associates whose income from earned commissions is shared with business associates at higher levels, as more fully described in Item 2,
Business. In this connection, Mr. Hansen earned commissions of $200,538 and $337,237 during 2010 and 2009, respectively, of which Mr. Hansen was
actually paid commissions of $100,000 and $157,321 during 2010 and 2009, respectively. Mr Hansen was owed commissions of $272,121 and $175,281 as
of September 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Effective September 30, 2010, Mr. Hansen waived his right to the earned but unpaid commissions and forgave
the debt to the Company. As Founder, Mr. Hansen is exempt from the requirement that business associates must purchase credits from the Company for resale
in order to earn the maximum commissions.
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During the nine month period ended September 30, 2009, Michael Hansen, the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, loaned $99,855 to a
subsidiary of CG subsequently acquired in the Merger. The loan was interest free and the Company repaid the loan in full on January 11, 2010.
During 2010, Michael Hansen advanced the Company $399,356 for working capital purposes. The loan is evidenced by an unsecured note dated August 22,
2010, payable by the Company to Mr. Hansen in the amount referenced above. The note is interest free and payable upon demand of Michael Hansen made
after August 21, 2011. During the fourth quarter of 2009, Mr. Hansen advanced an additional $441,528 to the Company without interest or repayment terms,
which advance increased the total debt owed to Mr. Hansen to $840,884 at September 30, 2010. Subsequent to September 30, 2010, Mr. Hansen advanced
the Company an additional net $426,069 resulting in a total debt of $1,266,953 as of March 23, 2011 the date upon which the Company and Mr. Hansen
entered into $5 million Promissory Grid Note (“Grid Note”). The amount of this Note equals an existing outstanding balance of $1,266,953 now owed to Mr.
Hansen plus any new borrowings under the Grid Note up to an aggregate of $5 million at any given time. This Note is issued in replacement of the
Promissory Note dated August 23, 2010 in the principal amount of $399,356. The Grid Note has a term of one year; bears interest at 6% per annum accruing
from the date of the Grid Note and is guaranteed by DubLi Properties, LLC and secured by a pledge of its assets.
DubLi Properties, LLC was contributed to the Company by Mr. Hansen on May 24, 2010 in satisfaction of Mr. Hansen’s oral pledge to contribute the
Cayman Property Rights (described below) to the Company. The Cayman Property Rights, which had a book value of $2,519,138 as of September 30, 2010,
were acquired by DubLi Properties, LLC in December 2009 in exchange for 34 parcels of real property valued at $2,132,375, $43,381 of cash and an
agreement by DubLi Properties LLC to make an additional $824,244 of payments for a total contract price of $3,000,000. In this connection, the Company
paid the October 2010 installments of $150,000 leaving a final installment of $140,431 due in February 2011. The agreement was further modified such that
a payment of $70,430 was made in February 2011 and a final payment of $100,000 is now due on April 1, 2011. The primary purpose of the Cayman Property
Rights, which consists of a purchase deed with respect to 15 lots in the Cayman Islands, is to reward DubLi’s business associates upon completion of certain
performance objectives.
Martin Berns- During his tenure as an officer and director of the Company which ended January 11, 2010, Mr. Berns provided us financial support in the form
of loans in the aggregate amount of $116,500. Each loan made by Mr. Berns bore interest at the rate of 6% per annum. Between October 1, 2009 and January
11, 2010, Mr. Berns received an aggregate of $118,266 from the Company as repayment of $116,500 principal and $1,766 of interest on the loans.
From time to time, Mr. Berns incurred expenses on behalf of the Company, which expenses were reimbursable to Mr. Berns without interest.
October 1, 2009 and January 11, 2010, Mr. Berns received an aggregate of $67,600 from the Company as repayment of reimbursable expenses.

Between

Eugene Berns - During his tenure as a director of the Company, Mr. Eugene Berns provided us financial support in the form of loans from time to time
totaling $30,000. Between October 1, 2009 and January 11, 2010, Mr. Eugene Berns was repaid $30,000 cash in full satisfaction of all outstanding principal
and interest on all loans he made to the Company.
Brent Gephart – Mr. Gephart, who served as director from January through October 2009 was a principal in a firm that provided credit card gateway services
to the Company. In this connection $ 5,416 in processing fees were paid to his company during 2010; no such amounts were incurred in 2009. Mr. Gephart’s
credit card gateway company required the Company to use a particular credit card service company to process it U.S. based transactions. On October 27,
2010, DUBLICOM Limited and DubLi Network Limited, both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, initiated legal action against that
credit card service company to seek recovery of the approximately $2,162,000 of reserves (which is approximately 37% of such sales) held at the discretion
of the processor plus various other awards, costs and expenses (see Item 3.Legal Proceedings). In October 2010, the credit card processing services terminated
its business relationship with the Company as a result of the dispute.
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Steven Adelstein – Mr. Adelstein, who served as a consultant to the Company from 2007 to February 2010 and as director of the Company from October 2009
through March 2010, received 500,000 shares of Common Stock in September 2009 for his services in connection with the negotiation of the Merger. Mr.
Adelstein also received an aggregate of $22,500 in cash in connection with various consulting services he provided to the Company, including assisting the
Company prepare various reports and statements.
Note 12 – Stock and Equity
Common Stock
The Company had authorized 500 million and 50 million shares of Common Stock, par value $.001 per share, at September 30, 2010 and September 30,
2009, respectively. Common shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2010 and 2009 were 244,200,626 and 27,303,552, respectively.
Preferred Stock
The Company had authorized 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, at September 30, 2010 and September 30, 2009, respectively. As
of September 30, 2010 and 2009, there were no shares of Preferred Stock outstanding. On May 24, 2010, 1,141,933 preferred shares were returned to the
Company and cancelled. On September 30, 2010, the remaining 3,858,067 shares of Preferred Stock outstanding, all of which were designated as “Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock” (the “Series A Preferred Stock”) were converted to 214,178,946 common shares.
On October 16, 2009, the Company filed a Certificate of Designation for the Series A Preferred Stock pursuant to which the Company, at the direction of its
Board of Directors, designated the rights and preferences of all 5,000,000 authorized shares of Preferred Stock. The Certificate of Designation was
subsequently amended on December 24, 2009 and May 24, 2010 to adjust the Conversion Ratio (defined below).
Under the Certificate of Designation in effect prior to September 30, 2010, the Series A Preferred Stock was automatically convertible into shares of the
Common Stock at the conversion ratio of 55.514574 shares of Common Stock for each share of the Series A Preferred Stock (the “Conversion Ratio”). The
holders of the Series A Preferred Stock were not entitled to any dividend preference but were entitled to participate pari passu in dividends declared with
respect to the Common Stock as if the Series A Preferred Stock was converted in Common Stock at the Conversion Ratio. Similarly, the holders of the Series
A Preferred Stock were not entitled to any liquidation preference but, in the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the
outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock would be deemed converted into shares of Common Stock at the Conversion Ratio and would participate pari
passu in the distribution of liquidation proceeds. Holders of the Series A Preferred Stock were entitled to vote on matters presented to the holders of Common
Stock as if the Series A Preferred Stock was converted into the Common Stock at the Conversion Ratio. Except as provided by Nevada law, holders of Series
A Preferred Stock vote together with the holders of Common Stock as a single class.
Prior to September 30, 2010, the Company did not have reserved and available out of its authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock the number of
shares of common stock that was sufficient to effect the conversion of all outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock. The Company’s shareholders had not
previously effectively approved an increase in the Company’s authorized shares of Common Stock to five hundred million (500,000,000) shares.
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Change in Control
On October 19, 2009, there was a change in the effective control of the Company. On that date, pursuant to the Merger Agreement (the “Merger Agreement”),
dated as of August 10, 2009, and subsequently amended and restated on September 25, 2009, among the Company, the Company’s then subsidiary MediaNet
Merger Sub, Inc., a Nevada corporation, and CG Holdings Limited, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of CG for 5,000,000 shares
of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock (the “Merger”). Holders of the Series A Preferred Stock were entitled to vote on matters presented to the holders of
Common Stock as if the Series A Preferred Stock was converted into the Common Stock at the Conversion Ratio. Accordingly, Zen Holding Group Limited,
the sole record holder of CG owns approximately 88% of the voting power of the Company. Michael Hansen and Michel Saouma, who is neither a director
nor executive officer of the Company, indirectly share the right to vote and make investment decisions with respect to the shares held by Zen.
In addition, as a condition to the Merger, the Company agreed to appoint:
•

Michael Hansen as a director and as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company;

•

Kent Holmstoel as Chairman of the Board and Chief Operating Officer of the Company; and

•

Andreas Kusche as a director and as General Counsel of the Company.

In connection with the Merger, all of the persons serving as directors of the Company as of October 19, 2009, resigned. On October 29, 2009, the Company
appointed Mr. Hansen as President and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Holmstoel as Chief Operating Officer and Mr. Kusche as General Counsel of the
Company. Also on such date, Steven Adelstein was appointed to the Board by Mr. Berns, who was then the sole remaining Board member. On February 23,
2010, Mr. Adelstein resigned and was replaced by Andreas Kusche. The appointment of Messrs. Hansen and Holmstoel was effective on September 30, 2010,
upon our compliance with Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 14f-1. On September 10, 2010 the Company filed a Schedule 14f-1 with Securities and
Exchange Commission and made a distribution of such schedule to its shareholders. The Company also filed a Form 8-K announcing the effectiveness of the
appointment of Messrs Hansen and Holmstoel on September 20, 2010.
Note 13 – Warrants and Options
As of September 30, 2010 and 2009, the Company had outstanding warrants to purchase up to 801,250 and 3,098,000 shares of Common Stock and options
then exercisable to purchase up to one million and -0- and shares of Common Stock, respectively. These securities give the holder the right to purchase shares
of the Common Stock in accordance with the terms of the instrument.
Warrants
3,098,000
(878,250)
(1,418,500)
801,250

Balance, September 30, 2009
Granted
Exercised
Expired
Balance, September 30, 2010
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Options
1,000,000
1,000,000

The following table summarizes information with respect to the above referenced warrants outstanding at September 30, 2010 which have expiration dates
ranging from October 2010 to February 2011:

Exercise Price
Warrants

$ 0.25 - $0.50

Number
Outstanding
2,163,750 $

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
0.31

Weighted
Average
Life Years
<1.0

Subsequent to year end, all of the warrants expired unexercised. The Option is described below.
2010 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan
The 2010 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan (the “Plan”) became effective September 30, 2010. The 2010 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan has not
been approved by our stockholders. The Plan is designed for the benefit of the directors, executives, employees and certain consultants and advisors of the
Company (i) to attract and retain for the Company personnel of exceptional ability; (ii) to motivate such personnel through added incentives to make a
maximum contribution to greater profitability; (iii) to develop and maintain a highly competent management team; and (iv) to be competitive with other
companies with respect to executive compensation. Awards under the Plan may be made to Participants in the form of (i) incentive stock options; (ii)
nonqualified stock Options; (iii) stock appreciation rights; (iv) restricted stock; (v) deferred stock; (vi) stock awards; (vii) performance shares; (viii) other
stock-based awards; and (ix) other forms of equity-based compensation as may be provided and are permissible under the Plan and the law. A total of 50
million shares of Common Stock have been reserved for issuance under the Plan. Of this amount, as of September 30, 2010, options with respect to 5 million
shares were granted to Mr. Mroczkowski, our Chief Financial Officer, and are outstanding. All of the outstanding options were granted with an exercise price
at $.001. On September 30, 2010, one million shares vested and the balance vest at the rate of 500,000 shares each quarter through September 30, 2012 and
have a maximum term expiring in 2020.
Restricted Stock Awards
On September 30, 2010, the Company entered into a restricted stock award agreement with Betina Dupont Sorensen, the Company’s Head of Marketing,
whereby the Company granted five million shares of restricted common stock (“Restricted Stock”) to Ms. Sorensen. Ms. Sorensen’s interest in the shares of
Restricted Stock vest as follows:
•

One million (1,000,000) of the shares of Restricted Stock vested on September 30, 2010;

•

Five hundred thousand (500,000) of the shares of Restricted Stock are scheduled to vest at the end of each of the eight calendar quarters immediately
following September 30, 2010.

In addition, on September 30, 2010, the Company entered into a restricted stock award agreement with Andreas Kusche, the Company’s General Counsel,
whereby the Company granted five million shares of Restricted Stock to Mr. Kusche. Mr. Kusche’s interest in the shares of Restricted Stock vests as follows:
•

Four hundred thousand (400,000) of the shares of Restricted Stock vested on September 30, 2010;
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•

Five hundred thousand (500,000) of the shares of Restricted Stock are scheduled to vest at the end of each of the eight calendar quarters immediately
following September 30, 2010.

Both of the above restricted stock awards, provide that in the event that either person (i) is terminated by us without cause, (ii) terminates their employment
with us for good reason or (iii) dies or is disabled, any unvested Restricted Stock then held by such person or their estate will vest immediately. In the event
that either person is terminated by us with “cause” or terminates his employment with us without “good reason,” any unvested Restricted Stock then held by
such will be forfeited.
The following table shows the number and weighted-average grant-date fair value of equity instruments for all of the of equity instruments issued under the
2010 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan:

Number of
Shares
Non-vested at the beginning of the year
Granted during the year
Vested during the year
Forfeited during the year
Non-vested at the end of the year

- $
14,400,000
(1,400,000)
13,000,000 $

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value
3,167,005
(307,903)
2,859,102

The Company recognized $633,401 and $0 compensation expense from the restricted stock awards and the option grant.
Note 14 – Merger
The Merger and Merger Related Transactions
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, the Company acquired on October 19, 2009 all of the outstanding shares of CG in exchange for the issuance to CG’s
shareholders of 5,000,000 shares of the Series A Preferred Stock. The Agreement provided that the Series A Preferred Stock would be automatically converted
into Common Stock of at such time as the Company’s Articles of Incorporation were amended to increase the number of authorized shares of Common Stock
to 500,000,000 shares. If all of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock had been converted into Common Stock as of October 19, 2009, the former record
holder of CG, Zen Holding Group Limited (“Zen Holding”), would have become the record holder of 90% of the then issued and outstanding Common Stock,
on a fully diluted basis.
The Company and CG originally contemplated that Zen would receive Common Stock upon consummation of the Merger and the Merger would be
completed in the first quarter of 2010 in order to:
•

provide the Company sufficient time to prepare a complex proxy statement and hold a shareholder meeting to consider approval of the Merger
Agreement and an amendment to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock from 50
million to 500 million shares; and
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•

provide the beneficial owners of CG adequate time to contribute and/or transfer a number of entities or properties to CG.

For instance, upon completion of the Merger the Company expected that CG would own directly or indirectly all of the following subsidiaries or assets:
•

DUBLICOM LIMITED (“DUBLICOM”), a Cyprus limited company, which runs DubLi’s auction websites;

•

Lenox Resources, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, that holds DubLi’s intellectual property;

•

DUBLI NETWORK LIMITED (“DUBLI NETWORK”), a British Virgin Islands limited company, that operates DubLi’s global network with its
business associates;

•

Lenox Logistik und Service GmbH (“Lenox Logistik”), a German corporation, serves as the product purchasing agent of DUBLICOM for products
sold to customers outside of North America, Australia and New Zealand. Lenox Logistik also serves as an outsourced service provider that employs
persons who are collectively responsible for DubLi’s administrative, accounting, marketing and purchasing activities.

•

DubLi Logistics, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“DubLi Logistics”), serves exclusively as the product purchasing agent of
DUBLICOM for products sold to customers in North America (United States, Mexico, Puerto Rico, Canada), Australia and New Zealand;

•

certain rights to real estate in the Cayman Islands (the “Cayman Property Rights”) now held by DubLi Properties, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
corporation.

In compliance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, the Company also expected to include in its consolidated financial statements DubLi.com,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company that was the holding company for two subsidiaries that have since discontinued operations: DubLi.com GmbH, a
German corporation, and DubLi Network, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
In early September 2009, the Company and CG were advised by legal counsel that the merger could be effected sooner than previously anticipated if, in lieu
of Common Stock, Zen Holding received the Series A Preferred Stock, which would be converted later into Common Stock. Accordingly, on October 19,
2009, the Merger was consummated and Zen Holding was issued the Series A Preferred Stock.
Completed Post-Merger Adjustments
After completing the Merger, the Company determined that certain of its expectations with respect to the Merger had not been met. In particular, upon
completion of the Merger on or about the targeted completion date of June 30, 2010, the Company expected that: it would (i) directly or indirectly hold
100% of the equity interests of DubLi Logistics; (ii) directly or indirectly hold certain real estate rights now held by DubLi Properties LLC; and (iii) certain
investors in DubLi.com, LLC would become shareholders in the Company.
As a result of the acceleration of the Merger closing and the substantial amount of work required to complete the Merger and the related SEC disclosure
documents, Mr. Hansen’s oral pledge to, prior to the Merger, transfer his 100% ownership interest in DubLi Logistics to CG was not evidenced by definitive
transfer documents until May 24, 2010. Similarly, Mr. Hansen’s oral pledge to contribute his 100% indirect ownership interest in the Cayman Property
Rights (now owned by DubLi Properties, LLC) to the Company in support of DubLi’s marketing programs was not evidenced by definitive transfer
documents until May 24, 2010.
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As of May 24, 2010, the Company had acquired all of the equity interests in DubLi Logistics and DubLi Properties LLC that the Company expected it would
own.
DubLi Logistics - Purchasing Agent of DUBLICOM
DubLi Logistics was identified as one of the consolidated subsidiaries of the Company in Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on February 4, 2010 (the “Form 8-K”) and the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2009 (the “Form 10-Q”) based upon DubLi
Logistics historical and current operation as an affiliated, profitless, product purchasing agent of DUBLICOM. DubLi Logistics is operated exclusively by
employees of Lenox Logistik.
DubLi Properties - Property Orally Pledged to DubLi
DubLi Properties, LLC was contributed to the Company by Mr. Hansen on May 24, 2010 in satisfaction of Mr. Hansen’s oral pledge to contribute the
Cayman Property Rights to the Company. The value of the contract at the date of contribution was $1,440,708. The Cayman Property Rights, which had a
book value of $2,519,138 as of September 30, 2010, were acquired by DubLi Properties, LLC in December 2009 in exchange for 34 parcels of real property,
$43,381 of cash and an agreement by DubLi Properties LLC to make an additional $824,244 of payments. The primary purpose of the Cayman Property
Rights, which consists of a purchase deed with respect to 15 lots in the Cayman Islands, is to reward DubLi business associates upon completion of certain
performance objectives.
DubLi.com, LLC - Discontinued Businesses
The results of operations and assets and liabilities of DubLi.com, LLC’s subsidiaries were also included in the Company’s consolidated results of operations
as reported in the Form 8-K and Form 10-Q based upon their common ownership and historical relationship to CG and its other consolidated subsidiaries.
DubLi.com, LLC, which is a holding company, has never directly operated a business and its subsidiaries were sold or their businesses were discontinued in
the second quarter of 2009.
The Company and Mr. Hansen had previously expected that the investors in DubLi.com, LLC (the “DubLi.com Investors”) would receive from Zen Holding
certain shares of “restricted” Common Stock. With the acceleration of the Merger closing and Merger restructuring, the DubLi.com Investors were expected
to receive from Zen Holding 62,679,116 shares of restricted Common Stock upon the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock to Common Stock. Since
Zen Holding has not transferred and does not intend to transfer Common Stock to the DubLi.com Investors as previously anticipated, the Company and Zen
Holding entered into an agreement, dated May 24, 2010 (the “Post-Merger Agreement”), pursuant to which Zen Holding returned to the Company 1,129,057
shares of Preferred Stock, which were otherwise convertible into 62,679,116 shares of Common Stock.
Pursuant to the Post-Merger Agreement, Zen Holding has also returned to the Company 12,876 shares of Series A Preferred Stock which were convertible into
714,817 shares of Common Stock (the “Lenox Shares”).
Accordingly, as of May 24, 2010, the Company had 3,858,067 and 28,621,680 issued and outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Common Stock,
respectively.
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Outstanding Post-Merger Adjustments
Amendment of Certificate of Designation
In connection with the preparation of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2010 and a review of the transfer agent records, it
came to the Company’s attention that the number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock outstanding prior to the Merger was understated by a total of
439,878 (the “Additional Common Stock”), comprised of 500,000 shares purchased by a shareholder in July 2007 (although the certificate was not issued
until January 2010) offset by an accounting error in connection with the net exercise of warrants involving approximately 60,000 shares. In light of this
understatement, as of May 24, 2010 the Company amended the Certificate of Designation setting forth the terms of the Preferred Stock (the “Adjustment
Amendment”). In the Adjustment Amendment, the Conversion Ratio was increased from 54.7229736 to 55.514574 to permit the holders of the Preferred
Stock to maintain their expected percentage ownership after taking into account the Additional Common Stock.
Proposed Two Step Transfer of Common Stock to DubLi.com Beneficiaries and Lenox Beneficiaries
As described above, in May 2010 Company announced that:
•

Zen Holding had returned to the Company 1,141,933 shares of Preferred Stock, which were convertible into 63,393,933 shares of Common Stock
(the “Loyalty Shares”);

•

the Company intended to use 62,679,116 of the Loyalty Shares to purchase, in a registered tender offer, various outstanding interests in DubLi.com,
LLC from persons (the “DubLi.com Beneficiaries”) other than Mr. Michael Hansen; and

•

the Company intended to transfer 714,817 of the Loyalty Shares to various employees (the “Lenox Beneficiaries” and together with the DubLi.com
Beneficiaries, the “Beneficiaries”) of Lenox Resources, LLC.

The Company has since determined not to seek to acquire interests in DubLi.com, LLC. Nonetheless, the Company would still like to provide the
Beneficiaries a significant ownership interest in the Company.
Accordingly, the Company anticipates transferring the Loyalty Shares to a trust (the “Trust”) on or about March 28, 2011, (the “Initial Transfer Date”) and, on
March 28, 2012 (the “Final Transfer Date”), have the Trust transfer the Loyalty Shares to the Beneficiaries (the “Two Step Transfer”). The Loyalty Shares are
expected to be freely transferrable after the Final Transfer Date.
The Company believes the Two Step Transfer process is preferable to conducting some form of registered offerings in the United States and numerous other
countries due to, among other things, the projected expense and time required to complete registered offerings in numerous jurisdictions.
Establishment of the Trust and Issuance of the Loyalty Shares
The Two Step Transfer process is governed by the share transfer agreement, dated February 25, 2011 (“Share Transfer Agreement”), a copy of which is filed as
Exhibit 10.13 hereto. The Trust will be established on or before March 28, 2011, and is expected to be administered by Batista Guerra y Asociados, an
independent offshore trust company (the “Trustee”), pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in the trust agreement which was signed on February 25,
2011 (the “Trust Agreement”), a draft of which is filed as Exhibit 10.14 hereto. The following summary of the Share Transfer Agreement and the Trust
Agreement is qualified in its entirety by the actual forms of agreement filed as exhibits hereto and which are hereby incorporated by reference herein.
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The Company is not required to issue the Loyalty Shares to the Trust until prior satisfaction of the following, among other things: (1) the terms of the Share
Transfer Agreement have been publicly disclosed by the Company at least 20 days prior to the issuance of the Loyalty Shares to the Trust; (2) on or prior to
the Initial Transfer Date, the Company shall not have received any comments from the SEC or any other comparable foreign or U.S. State regulator with
respect to the transactions contemplated by the Share Transfer Agreement (other than comments that are resolved to the satisfaction of the Company, in its
sole and absolute discretion); and (3) on or prior to the Initial Transfer Date, the Company shall not have received notice of any demand, claim or a
threatened claim with respect to the transactions contemplated by the Share Transfer Agreement (other than comments, demands, claims or threatened claims
that are resolved to the satisfaction of the Company, in its sole and absolute discretion).
Terms and Conditions of the Trust
The Trustee is required to transfer the Loyalty Shares to the Beneficiaries without requiring any payment or other consideration from the Beneficiaries (other
than any transfer taxes or tariffs that may be imposed in connection with the transfer). In order to receive the Loyalty Shares, each Beneficiary will be
required to complete, execute and return to the Company a Beneficiary Representation Affidavit certifying that the Beneficiary, among other things: (1) has
received an information memorandum relating to the transfer of the Loyalty Shares; (2) has had access to such financial information and other information
concerning the Company and the Loyalty Shares; and (3) understands and agrees that the Beneficiary is receiving the Loyalty Shares pursuant to Regulation
S, Regulation D or another applicable exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”). No Beneficiary
shall have any right, title or interest of any kind in the Loyalty Shares until such time, if ever, that the Trustee transfers Loyalty Shares to the subject
Beneficiary in accordance with the terms of the Trust.
Until the Final Transfer Date, the Trustee has agreed not to, among other things: (1) vote the Loyalty Shares or enter into any form of voting agreement to
vote other shares of common stock of the Company or to allow another person to vote the Loyalty Shares; (2) propose nominees to the Company’s board of
directors or solicit proxies with respect to election of directors; (3) voluntarily pledge, encumber or in any other way subject the Loyalty Shares to any form
of liens or security interests of any kind; (4) incur indebtedness of any kind (5) acquire any additional shares of the Company's common stock; (6) engage in
any form of hedging transaction involving the Company's common stock; or (7) take any other action to control or influence the control of the Company.
The Company would like to provide the Beneficiaries a significant ownership interest in the Company since: (i) virtually all of the DubLi.com Beneficiaries
are former business associates of DubLi Network, LLC a wholly owned subsidiary of DubLi.com, LLC, and current business associates of DUBLI NETWORK
LIMITED, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company; (ii) virtually all of the Lenox Beneficiaries have been and are currently employees or consultants of
the Company, (iii) notwithstanding the financial failure of DubLi.com, LLC, the Company believes that the DubLi Network, LLC business associates assisted
the Company build brand awareness for the DubLi.com trade name; and (iv) consistent with many of their expectations, the Company likes the Beneficiaries
to have a significant ownership interest in the entity which owns and is further developing the DubLi brand.
Accounting for Two Step Transfer
If the Two Step Transfer is concluded as planned:
(i) the Company will have issued 277,573,770 shares of common stock in connection with the merger and the Two-Step Transfer, the same number of
shares the Company initially planned to issue in connection with the Merger (disregarding adjustments due to errors in the Company's stock ledger);
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(ii) the Beneficiaries will be receiving the same number of shares of Common Stock they would have received if the Merger had been completed as
planned and Zen Holding had transferred the Loyalty Shares to the Beneficiaries as intended (disregarding adjustments due to errors in the Company's stock
ledger); and
(iii) the Company will have received no more consideration in connection with the Merger and the Two-Step Transfer than it planned to receive in
connection with the Merger.
The Company reacquired and cancelled 1,141,933 shares of preferred stock (convertible into 63,393,933 shares of common stock) pursuant to an agreement
with Zen Holding dated May 24, 2010, which agreement did not require the Company to tender Zen Holding any consideration. The Company has agreed to
issue 63,393,933 new common shares pursuant to the Share Transfer Agreement. The new share issuance is equivalent to the number of common shares into
which the preferred stock would have converted.
The Company has made the following entries with respect to the equity section of its consolidated financial statements to account for the Merger, as
amended, and the Two Step Transfer as follows:
1.
2.
3.
4.

For merger consideration, the Company issued 5 million preferred shares on October 19, 2009 and recorded the $50,000 par value of the preferred
stock as disclosed in Form 10-Q for the first quarter ended December 31, 2009.
For no consideration, the Company received and canceled 1,141,933 preferred shares May 24, 2010 and recorded a reduction of preferred stock par
value and increase in paid-in capital of $11,419 as disclosed in Form 10-Q for the third quarter ended June 30, 2010.
The Company converted 3,858,067 preferred into 214,178,946 common on September 30, 2010, and recorded a reduction in preferred stock par
value of $38,581 and increase in common stock par value of $214,179 and a reduction of paid-in capital of $175,598 which will be disclosed in
Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2010.
For no consideration, the Company expects to issue 63,393,933 common shares on March 30, 2011, and record an increase in common stock par
value and a reduction of paid-in capital of $63,394 which will be disclosed in the Form 10-Q for the second quarter ending March 31, 2011. In
accordance with ASC 805-50-05-4, the common shares will be issued at par value and no goodwill or other step-up of assets will be recognized
because the shares will be issued to the members of DubLi.com, LLC, (see Note 2) an entity under common control. The shares will be issued to the
members in proportion to their ownership of DubLi.com, LLC.

The following table illustrates the accounting for the aforementioned transactions:
Series A
Preferred
Stock
Issued
1. Oct 19, 2009; Preferred shares Issued in merger
transaction
2. May 24, 2010; Return and cancel preferred shares
3. September 30, 2010; Convert preferred to common
shares
4. March 30, 2011; Issue common shares
Totals

Series A
Preferred
Stock
Par Value

5,000,000
(1,141,933)

$

(3,858,067)

-0-
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Common

Shares
Issued

Stock
Par Value

50,000
(11,419)
(38,581)

$

Common

-0 -

Paid-In
Capital
$

214,178,946
63,393,933

$

214,179
63,394

277,572,879

$

277,573

(50,000)
11,419
(175,598)
(63,394)

$

(277,573)

Note 15 – Corrections of Errors and Restatements and Reclassifications
The Company has restated its balance sheet as of September 30, 2009 and its statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then
ended to correct errors in its accounting. Certain reclassifications to conform to the presentations used in fiscal 2010 have also been made to prior year's
consolidated financial statements, none of which had any effect on previously reported net income or loss, or related per share amounts, of any period.
The descriptions of the error corrections and the effects of the restatements of the September 30, 2009 financial statements are as follows:
Previously
Reported
Balance Sheet
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid customer acquisition costs
Prepaid expenses
Deposits
Total Current Assets
Property and equipment, net
Other Assets
Total Assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit):
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued and other liabilities
Accrued incentive
Loyalty points payable
Commissions payable
Income taxes payable
Customer deposits
Deferred revenue
Note payable - related party
Total Current Liabilities
Stockholders' deficit
Preferred Stock
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital (deficit)
Other comprehensive (loss)
Retained earnings (deficit)
Total Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

$

$

$

$

2,499,237
722,230
72,998
401,141
127,209
94,070
3,916,885
94,139
32,222
4,043,246

Error Correction
or
Reclassification

$

$

121,461
585,715
644,292
209,025
1,876,605
287,838
18,348
2,626,835
191,355
6,561,474
27,304
(768,528)
(14,176)
(1,762,828)
(2,518,228)
4,043,246
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35,246
2,577,168
(94,070)
2,518,344
2,518,344

Currency
Translation
Adjustment

$

$

$

240,276
(287,838)
2,934,794
2,887,232

$

(368,888)
(368,888)
2,518,344

$

(834)
(243)
(13)
(28)
(44)
(1,162)
(30)
(10)
(1,202)

(10)
(92)
(217)
(631)
(6)
(867)
(33)
(1,856)

(81,838)
82,492
654
(1,202)

Restated

$

$

$

$

Adjustment

2,533,649 (1) (3)
721,987
72,985
401,113
2,577,168 (2)
127,165
- (3)
6,434,067
94,109
32,212
6,560,388

121,451
585,623
644,075
209,025
2,116,250 (4)
- (9)
18,342
5,560,762 (2) (5)
191,322
9,446,850
27,304
(768,528)
(96,014)
(2,049,224) (6)(9)
(2,886,462)
6,560,388

Statement of Operations
Revenues
$
Direct cost of revenues
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative
Income (loss) from operations
Interest income (expense) - net
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income
taxes
Income taxes-benefit (expense)
Income(loss) from continuing operations
(Loss) from discontinued segment
Gain from sale of subsidiary
Net Income (loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
$
Net income (loss) per common share from
Basic and Diluted
Continuing operations:
Discontinued operation:
Net Income
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic and Diluted

$
$
$

Previously
Reported
16,974,449
11,804,157
5,170,292
5,905,788
(735,496)
(3,245)

Error Correction
or
Reclassification
$
(2,934,794)
(1,546,301)
(1,388,493)
(939,524)
(448,969)
-

(738,741)
(287,838)
(1,026,579)
(1,980,285)
74,990
(2,931,874)
(14,176)
(2,946,050)

$

(448,969)
(287,838)
(736,807)
203,977
(532,830)
(532,830)

$

(34,643)
34,643
117,135
82,492
(81,838)
654

(0.0034)
(0.0066)
(0.0097)

$
$
$

(0.0015)
0.0007
(0.0018)

$
$
$

0.0001
0.0004
0.0003

301,261,106

301,261,106
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$

Currency
Translation
Adjustment
(821,814)
(538,192)
(283,622)
(249,159)
(34,463)
(180)

301,261,106

$

$

Eliminations
(862,677)
(862,691)
14
14
-

$

Restated
12,355,164
8,856,973
3,498,191
4,717,119
(1,218,928)
(3,425)

Adjustment
(5)(6)(7)
(1)(4)(6)
(6)
(1,4,5,6,7)

$

(1,222,353)
- (9)
(1,222,353)
(1,659,173) (8)
74,990
(2,806,536)
(96,014)
(2,902,550)

$
$
$

(0.0041)
(0.0055)
(0.0093)
301,261,106

Statement of Cash Flows
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss)
Net loss from discontinued operations
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net
Depreciation and amortization
Stock and warrants issued for services
CG Holdings restatement
Cash used in operating activities:
(Increase) decrease in assets:
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Deposits
Note Receivable
Other current assets
Employee advance
Deferred asset
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued incentives
Commission payable
Income tax payable
Customer deposits
Deferred revenue
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of equipment and software
Other Assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from note payable-related party
Payments on note payable-related party
Proceeds from issuance common shares
Net cash provided by financing activities
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net increase in cash and equivalents
Cash at beginning of period
Cash at end of period

Error
Correction or
Reclassification

Previously
reported
$

(951,589)
(1,980,285)

$

21,601
376,469
13,586

Currency
Translation
Adjustment

(161,131)
203,977

$

Restated

(34,643)
117,135

$

243
13
28
44

88,000
94,070
(22,000)
213
30,400
(2,577,168)

301,734
275,672
644,292
1,876,605
287,838
18,348
2,557,187
2,247,736

(721,987)
109,797
(329,347)
(127,164)
0
0
0
(2,577,168)

10

(10)
(92)
(217)
(631)
(6)
(867)
81,007

1
240,276
(287,838)
2,934,794
60,859

(105,108)

$

1,183,506
(897,150)
4,393
290,749
(14,177)
2,419,200
80,037
2,499,237

Restatements adjustments:
(1) Adjust cash for currency transaction losses not previously recorded.
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(30,613)

(105,077)
(30,613) (11)

31

(135,690)

(33)
(81,839)
(834)

35,246
$

35,246

$

(3)
(10)
(11)
(11)
(2)

31

(33)

-

(10)

301,724
275,580
644,076
2,116,250 (4)
- (9)
18,342
5,491,114 (2)
2,394,602

(30,613)
(105,108)

(1,147,363) (1,4,5,6,7,9)
(1,659,173) (8)
21,601
376,469
(398,149) (8)

(411,735)

(722,230)
21,784
(329,375)
(127,208)
(94,070)
88,000
(223)
(30,400)
-

Adjustments

(834)

$

1,183,473
(897,150)
4,393
290,716
(96,016)
2,453,612 (1)(3)(4)
80,037
2,533,649 (1)(3)(4)

(2) Reclassify deferred expenses previously netted to deferred revenue.
(3) Reclassify cash previously reported as a deposit.
(4) Adjust commissions payable for currency transaction losses not previously recorded.
(5) Record liability for unearned subscription revenue not previously recorded.
(6) Reclassify deferred expenses previously netted to deferred revenue.
(7) Intercompany transaction not previously eliminated.
(8) Adjust for costs erroneously recorded in 2010
(9) Correct 2009 tax provision
(10) Reclassify accounts receivable previously reported as note receivable
(11) Reclassify other assets from operating to investing activities
Note 16 – Subsequent Events
Currency Translation Effects
Subsequent to the balance sheet date the exchange rate between the EURO and the US dollar increased by approximately 1.32%. These recent changes
would increase the currency translation adjustment and decrease comprehensive income and current assets by approximately $17,000. See also notes 11 and
13.
Litigation
The Company has historically relied upon two service providers to process credit card transactions arising from purchases of the Company’s services and
products. Disagreements have emerged between the Company and one such service provider, National Merchant Center (“NMC”), as to the permitted
amount of reserves, if any, that NMC is eligible to maintain. On September 22, 2010 certain of the Company’s subsidiaries instructed NMC to return to them
all of the cash held in reserve with respect to the Company’s account. In response to such demand, on November 1, 2010, NMC informed the Company that it
was terminating the Company’s merchant account with NMC and holding all of the Company’s funds and deposits for a period of 180 days after the last
chargeback (which have averaged less than 1.2% of sales or approximately $63,000 the account since was established in December 2009).
On October 27, 2010, DUBLICOM Limited and DubLi Network Limited, both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, initiated legal action
against NMC in U.S. District Court (the “Court”) for the Southern District of Florida (Case Number: 1:10-cv-24563-DLG) to seek recovery of approximately
$2,162,000 of reserves held at the direction NMC plus various other awards, costs and expenses. DUBLICOM Limited and DubLi Network Limited
(collectively, the “Subsidiaries”) allege that NMC committed civil theft and conversion by depriving the Subsidiaries of the use of the funds by
appropriating the funds to NMC’s own use. NMC’s legal counsel has since informed the Company that NMC is in bankruptcy, the subject funds are being
held in escrow in California by a third party in a bank account and such funds are not involved in the NMC bankruptcy case.
In an effort to delay the recovery of the funds sought by the Subsidiaries, NMC filed a motion to dismiss the case for improper venue and failure to state any
adequate claims. In addition, NMC moved the court to transfer the case to the U.S. District Court in the Central District of California (the “California Court”)
due to improper venue. On March 14, 2011, the Court issued an order granting NMC’s request to transfer the case to the California Court, but denied NMC’s
motion to dismiss the case for improper venue and the failure to state a claim. In light of the Court’s decision, the Subsidiaries are currently reviewing their
options, but they will continue to aggressively pursue legal action against NMC for the purpose of recovering the funds.
On February 9, 2011, NMC filed suit against the Company in the Superior Court of the State of California (Case Number: 30-2011-00449062-CU-BC-CJC)
seeking to recover approximately $706,000. NMC alleges that the Company breached the agreement between NMC and the Company by (i) failing to abide
by the provision that requires that NMC be the exclusive credit card processing company for the Company between March 2010 and February 2013 and (ii)
representing that the Company’s website is www.DubLi.com and that the Company does business as “DubLi.com.” NMC claims to have terminated the
agreement due to the Company’s alleged breach and that through the date of termination it had provided approximately $706,000 worth of services to the
Company.
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Line of Credit
During 2010, Michael Hansen advanced the Company $399,356 for working capital purposes. The loan is evidenced by an unsecured note dated August 22,
2010, payable by the Company to Mr. Hansen in the amount referenced above. The note is interest free and payable upon demand of Michael Hansen made
after August 21, 2011. During the fourth quarter of 2009, Mr. Hansen advanced an additional $441,528 to the Company without interest or repayment terms,
which advance increased the total debt owed to Mr. Hansen to $840,884 at September 30, 2010. Subsequent to September 30, 2010, Mr. Hansen advanced
the Company an additional net $426,069 resulting in a total debt of $1,266,953 as of March 23, 2011 the date upon which the Company and Mr. Hansen
entered into $5 million Promissory Grid Note (“Grid Note”). The amount of this Note equals an existing outstanding balance of $1,266,953 now owed to Mr.
Hansen plus any new borrowings under the Grid Note up to an aggregate of $5 million at any given time. This Note is issued in replacement of the
Promissory Note dated August 23, 2010 in the principal amount of $399,356. The Grid Note has a term of one year; bears interest at 6% per annum accruing
from the date of the Grid Note and is guaranteed by DubLi Properties, LLC and secured by a pledge of its assets.
Two Step Transfer
See also Note 14 for subsequent events regarding the two step transfer of common shares pursuant to the restructured merger agreement.
NOTE 17 - SEGMENT INFORMATION
SFAS No. 131 (ASC280) requires that the Company disclose information about its operating segments. The Company has two strategic business units, one
which sells Dubli Credits through the web sites for use on its online auctions and the second that offers an online shopping experience from which the
Company earns rewards on products and services from participating merchants. In October 2010 the Company rolled out Dubli Entertainment, a music
sharing service. All of these services are offered through the same website and share the same synergies. Currently the Company accounts for these services in
separate accounts but within one set of financial statements. Evaluation procedures are performed on the Company as a whole.
Geographically, the Company revenues are segmented in the following markets:
European Union
North America
Australia & New Zealand
Worldwide

$

$
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5,628,958
6,118,433
10,278,967
2,447,373
24,473,731

23%
25%
42%
10%
100%

Exhibit 10.15
PROMISSORY GRID NOTE
Up to $5,000,000.00

March __, 2011

FOR VALUE RECEIVED , the undersigned, MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “Borrower”), hereby promises to pay
to the order of Michael Hansen, an individual with an address of The Palm Jumeirah, P.O. Box 283612, Dubai, U.A.E. (the “Lender”), the principal sum of up
to Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000.00), or such lesser amount as is loaned by the Lender under this Note at the request of the Borrower and is outstanding at
the time when payment is due hereunder, together with simple interest accruing at the rate of six percent (6%) per annum, computed based on the actual
number of days elapsed and a 365-day year. The entire unpaid principal amount and all accrued interest shall be fully due and payable on the first
anniversary hereof, unless such date is extended by the Lender in his sole discretion. All references to “dollars” or “$” are to United States dollars.
The amount of this Note equals an existing outstanding balance of One Million Two Hundred Sixty Six Thousand Nine Hundred Fifty Three Dollars
($1,266,953) owed to the Lender by the Borrower and additional indebtedness owed to the Lender by the Borrower as described below. This Note is issued in
replacement of the Promissory Note dated August 23, 2010 in the principal amount of Three Hundred Ninety-Nine Thousand Three Hundred Fifty-Six and
00/100. Dollars ($399,356) made by the Borrower in favor of the Lender (the “Original Note”). Upon execution of this Note by the Borrower, the Original
Note shall be void in its entirety, be of no further force or effect and is hereby replaced with this Note. For the avoidance of doubt, interest on the existing
outstanding principal amount of no Dollars ($0.00) for the loan originated on August 23, 2010 will be calculated from March 31, 2011, and interest on the
additional indebtedness will be calculated from the date advanced.
Lender has as of the date hereof loaned the Borrower One Million Two Hundred Sixty Six Thousand Nine Hundred Fifty Three Dollars ($1,266,953)
and may hereafter in the Lender’s sole and absolute discretion hereafter (at the Borrower’s request) loan up to an aggregate of Five Million Dollars
($5,000,000.00) to the Borrower at any given time. The Borrower and the Lender shall record and initial on the grid schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A
and incorporated herein (the “Grid Schedule”) appropriate notations evidencing the date and amount of each additional loan, if any, to the Borrower by the
Lender after the date hereof, and the date and amount of any payment by the Borrower to the Lender; provided, however, that the failure to make any such
entry shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligations of the Borrower hereunder, including, without limitation, the obligation to repay any unpaid principal
amount outstanding or due hereunder. The aggregate unpaid principal amount set forth from time to time on the Grid Schedule, or any continuation thereof,
shall be rebuttable presumptive evidence of the unpaid principal amount hereunder.
Payments of both principal and interest as required hereunder shall be made in lawful money of the United States of America in immediately
available funds at the address of the Lender set forth above or at such other place as the Lender may direct in writing. Any payments received on this Note
shall be applied first to any unpaid fees or expenses incurred in connection with the enforcement of this Note, next to accrued but unpaid interest and then to
principal amounts outstanding. This Note may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time without prior notice or penalty.
If the entire amount of any required payment is not paid in full within ten (10) days after the same is due, the Borrower shall pay overdue interest on
any delinquent payment or other obligation due from the due date thereof through the date of payment at a rate equal to one percent (1%) per month. This
charge shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedy the Lender may have and is in addition to any fees and charges of any agents or attorneys
which the Lender is entitled to employ, whether authorized herein or by law.
This Note and all payment obligations of the Borrower hereunder are guaranteed by DubLi Properties, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company(the “Guarantor”), pursuant to the Guaranty of even date herewith (the “Guaranty”) between the Lender and the Guarantor, and the Lender is entitled
to the benefits of the Guaranty (the performance of which is secured by the “Collateral” pursuant to and as defined in the Security Agreement of even date
herewith between the Lender and the Guarantor).

The Borrower hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, presentment for payment, protest and demand, notice of protest, demand and/or dishonor
and nonpayment of this Note, and all other notices or demands otherwise required by law that the Borrower may lawfully waive.
No waiver of any provision of this Note, or consent to any departure therefrom, shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed
by the Lender, and then such modification, waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance, and for the purpose, for which given. Neither
any failure nor delay on the part of the Lender in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver, nor shall a single or partial
exercise thereof preclude any other or future exercise, or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege.
Nothing herein contained, nor any transaction related hereto, shall be construed or so operate to require the Borrower to pay interest at a greater rate than is
now lawful in such case to contract for, or to make any payment, or to do any act contrary to law. Should any interest or other charges in connection with the
loan payable evidenced hereby result in the computation or earning of interest in excess of the maximum rate of interest which is legally permitted under
applicable laws, then any and all of such excess shall be and the same is hereby waived by the Lender, and any and all such excess paid shall be
automatically credited against and in reduction of the principal balance due under this Note or, at the option of the Lender, paid directly by the Lender to the
Borrower. If any clause or provision in this Note shall be unenforceable under applicable law, in whole or in part, then such clause or provision or part
thereof shall be inoperative as though not contained herein and the remainder of this Note shall remain operative and in full force and effect.
All notices, requests, demands, consents or other communications given hereunder or in connection herewith shall be in writing and sent by certified or
registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or by nationally recognized overnight courier service (signature required) addressed at the
addresses set forth above. The Borrower or the Lender may, by notice given as aforesaid, change its address for all subsequent notices. Notices shall be
deemed given when mailed as aforesaid.
If this Note shall not be paid when due and shall be placed by the Lender hereof in the hands of any attorney for collection, through legal proceedings or
otherwise, the Borrower will pay all reasonable costs and expenses of collection incurred, including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs.
This Note may not be amended or modified (other than notations made by the Lender on Exhibit A to reflect advances and repayments) except by an
instrument in writing executed by the Lender and the Borrower. This Note shall not be assigned by the Borrower without the Lender’s prior written consent,
and any attempted assignment without such consent shall be null and void.
This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Florida without regard to choice of law principles. Any action brought to
enforce payment of this Note shall be brought in the State of Florida.
THE BORROWER HEREBY WAIVES TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM BROUGHT BY LENDER TO ENFORCE
ANY RIGHT UNDER THIS NOTE.
MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc.
By:
Mark Mroczkowski, Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT A
GRID SCHEDULE OF ADVANCES MADE
Loan Made
or (Principal Payment)

Date
3/ /2011

$

1,266,953

Balance of Principal
Outstanding
$

1,266,953

Borrower’s and
Lender’s Initials

GUARANTY
THIS GUARANTY is made as of March __, 2011, by DubLi Properties, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Guarantor”), for the benefit of
Michael Hansen, an individual having a residence address at The Palm Jumeirah, P.O. Box 283612, Dubai, U.A.E. (the “Lender”). All references to
“dollars” or “$” are to United States dollars.
RECITALS
A.
MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc., a Nevada corporation having a business address at 5200 Town Center Circle, Suite 601, Boca Raton, FL
33486 (the “Debtor”), has received from the Lender a loan (the “Loan”) in the principal amount of up to Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000.00), evidenced by
a Promissory Grid Note dated March __, 2011 (the “Note”), evidencing its indebtedness in that amount; and
B.
The Lender is unwilling to make the Loan unless the Guarantor guaranties the payment of one hundred percent (100%) of the aggregate principal
and interest and any other charges provided for in the Note; and
C.

The Guarantor desires to give such guaranty to Lender in order to induce Lender to make the Loan.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants stated above and herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, and
for the purpose of inducing the Lender to make the aforementioned Loan to the Debtor, the Guarantor:
1.
Unconditionally and absolutely guaranties the due and the punctual payment of one hundred percent (100%) of the aggregate principal required to
be paid pursuant to the Note, the interest thereon and any other moneys due or which may become due thereon, whether according to the present terms
thereof, at any earlier or accelerated date or dates as provided therein, or pursuant to any extension of time or to any change or changes in the terms,
covenants, and conditions thereof now or at any time hereafter made or granted.
2.
Waives diligence, presentment, protest, notice of dishonor, demand for payment, extension of time of payment, notice of acceptance of this Guaranty,
non-payment at maturity and indulgences and notices of every kind, and consents to any and all forbearances and extensions of the time of payment as set
forth in the Note, and to any and all changes in the terms, covenants and conditions thereof hereafter made or granted; it being the intention hereof that the
Guarantor shall remain liable as principal until the full amount of the principal owed pursuant to the Note, with interest, and any other sums due or to become
due thereon, shall have been fully paid, and the terms and conditions therein set forth have been performed and observed by the Debtor, notwithstanding any
act, omission or thing which might otherwise operate as a legal or equitable discharge of the Guarantor.
3.
Agrees that this Guaranty may be enforced by the Lender without first having recourse to the Note executed by Debtor in favor of Lender; provided,
however that nothing herein contained shall prevent the Lender from suing on such Note or from exercising any other rights thereunder and if other remedy is
availed of only the net proceeds therefrom, after deduction of all charges and expenses of every kind and nature whatsoever, shall be applied in reduction of
the amount due on such Note and the Lender shall not be required to institute or prosecute proceedings to recover any deficiency as a condition of payment
hereunder or enforcement hereof.
4.
Agrees that in the event there should be any litigation or claim between the Lender or the Guarantor arising out of this Guaranty, the prevailing party
shall be entitled to recover all attorney’s fees and costs, and if the matter is appealed to a higher court, such attorney’s fees include appellate court costs and
attorney’s fees.

5.
Agrees that this Guaranty shall inure to the benefit of and may be enforced by the Lender and any subsequent holder of the Note, and shall be binding
upon and enforceable against the Guarantor and the Guarantor's successors and assigns.
6.
Acknowledges that this Guaranty and the Guarantor’s obligations under this Guaranty are and shall at all times continue to be absolute and
unconditional in all respects and shall at all times be valid and enforceable irrespective of any other agreements or circumstances of any nature whatsoever
which might otherwise constitute a defense to this Guaranty and the obligations of the Guarantor under this Guaranty or the obligations of any other person
or party (including, without limitation, the Debtor) relating to this Guaranty or the obligations of the Guarantor hereunder. This Guaranty and the Security
Agreement of even dated herewith by and between the Guarantor and the Lender set forth the entire agreement and understanding of the Lender and the
Guarantor and the Guarantor absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably waives any and all right to assert any defense, set-off, counterclaim or cross-claim
of any nature whatsoever with respect to this Guaranty or the obligations of any other person or party (including, without limitation, the Debtor) relating to
this Guaranty or the obligations of the Guarantor under this Guaranty in any action or proceeding brought by the Lender to collect the indebtedness
represented by the Note or any portions thereof or to enforce the obligations of the Guarantor under this Guaranty.
7.
Lender may (a) bring suit against Guarantor and any other guarantor jointly and severally, or against any one or more of them; (b) compromise or
settle with Guarantor, and any other guarantor, for such consideration as Lender may deem proper; (c) release Guarantor or any other guarantor from liability;
and (d) otherwise deal with Guarantor and any other guarantor, or any one or more of them, in any manner, and no such action shall impair the rights of
Lender to collect from Guarantor any amount guaranteed by Guarantor under this Guaranty. Nothing contained in this paragraph shall in any way affect or
impair the rights or obligations of Guarantor with respect to any other guarantor.
8.
Acknowledges that no oral or other agreements, understandings, representations or warranties exist with respect to this Guaranty or with respect to the
obligations of the Guarantor under this Guaranty, except as specifically set forth in the Security Agreement of even dated herewith by and between the
Guarantor and the Lender or in this Guaranty.
9.
This Guaranty is made in the State of Delaware and shall be governed, construed and interpreted, as to validity, enforcement and in all other respects,
in accordance with the law of the State of Delaware, without regard to conflicts of laws principles. The Lender shall have the right to assign and transfer this
Guaranty in whole or part to any assignee of the Loan, or any portion thereof. The Lender’s distributees, executors, administrators, successors and assigns
shall have all of the rights, elections, remedies, privileges, discretions and powers granted hereunder to the Lender; and shall have the right to rely upon this
Guaranty in the same manner and with the same force and effect as if they were specifically named as the Lender herein. This Guaranty cannot be changed or
terminated orally.
10.
The Guarantor hereby submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the State of Florida for any action or claim brought by the Lender pursuant to this
Guaranty. This clause shall be construed as requiring the Lender to bring any action in the State of Delaware, and the Lender shall not have the option of
bringing such action in any other jurisdiction.
11.
If any provision of this Guaranty shall be unenforceable in whole or part for any reason whatsoever then such provision to the extent it is
unenforceable shall be ineffective and the balance of this Guaranty shall be deemed valid and enforceable and construed as if the offending provision had
been deleted therefrom.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Guarantor has executed this instrument as of the day and year first above written.
GUARANTOR:
DubLi Properties, LLC
By:
Name:
Title:

SECURITY AGREEMENT
THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT is made as of March __, 2011, by and between DubLi Properties, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the
"Guarantor"); and Michael Hansen, an individual having a residence address at The Palm Jumeirah, P.O. Box 283612, Dubai, U.A.E. (the "Secured Party").
WITNESSETH THAT:
A.
MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc., a Nevada corporation having a business address at 5200 Town Center Circle, Suite 601, Boca Raton,
FL 33486, has received from the Secured Party a loan (the “Loan”) in the principal amount of up to Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000.00), evidenced by a
Promissory Grid Note dated March __, 2011 (the “Note”), evidencing its indebtedness in that amount;
B.
The Secured Party is unwilling to make the Loan unless the Guarantor guaranties the payment of one hundred percent (100%) of the
aggregate principal and interest and any other charges provided for in the Note, and secures such payment as provided herein; and
C.
by the Note.

The Guarantor has agreed to enter into this Security Agreement in order to induce Secured Party, inter alia, to make the loan to be evidenced

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby
agree as follows:
Section 1.

The Security Interests.

(A)
In order to secure the due and punctual payment and performance of all obligations of the Guarantor to the Secured Party, whether direct or
indirect, absolute or contingent, now existing or hereafter arising or incurred, due or to become due, otherwise secured or unsecured and howsoever
evidenced, incurred or arising, under (i) the Note; (ii) this Security Agreement; and (iii) in all other agreements executed or delivered by the Guarantor in
connection with or as contemplated by the Note, including, without limitation, any amendments, amendment and restatements, supplements, modifications,
extensions, substitutions and renewals thereof, and whether for principal, interest, fees, premiums, penalties, costs, expenses or otherwise (all such documents
referred to in clauses (i) through (iii) above being the "Related Agreements" and all such obligations being collectively called the "Obligations"), the
Guarantor hereby grants to the Secured Party a continuing security interest in all of the Guarantor's right, title and interest in and to the following:
Agreement for Purchase and Sale date November 27, 2009 between Crowne Acquisitions Worldwide Ltd. and DubLi.com and all rights of the
Guarantor as “Purchaser” thereunder (hereinafter collectively called the “Collateral”).
The Secured Party shall hold the Collateral as collateral security for the payment of the Obligations, and shall not encumber or dispose of the
Collateral except in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement.
(B)
The security interests granted pursuant to this Section 1 (the "Security Interests") are granted as security only and shall not subject the Secured Party
to, or transfer to the Secured Party, or in any way affect or modify, any obligation or liability of the Guarantor under any of the Collateral or any transaction
which gave rise thereto.

Section 2.

Filing; Further Assurances.

The Guarantor will, at its expense, execute, deliver, file and record (in such manner and form as the Secured Party may require), or permit the Secured
Party to file and record, any mortgage, financing statements, any carbon, photographic or other reproduction of a mortgage, financing statement or this
Security Agreement (which the parties hereto agree shall be sufficient as a financing statement hereunder), any specific assignments or other paper that may
be reasonably necessary or desirable, or that the Secured Party may request, in order to create, confirm, preserve, perfect or validate any Security Interest or to
enable the Secured Party to exercise and enforce its rights and remedies hereunder or under applicable law with respect to any of the Collateral. The
Guarantor hereby appoints the Secured Party as the Guarantor’s attorney-in-fact to execute in the name and on behalf of the Guarantor such additional
mortgages or financing statements as the Secured Party may at any time request or require in respect of the Collateral.
Section 3.

Guarantor's Representations and Warranties.

The Guarantor hereby represents and warrants to the Secured Party that the Guarantor is, or to the extent that certain of the Collateral is to be
acquired after the date hereof, will be, the owner of the Collateral free from any adverse lien, security interest, transfer restrictions, rights of first refusal, rights
of first offer, co-sale rights, drag-along rights, tag-along rights, options, warrants, purchase rights, adverse claims or any other restriction of any type,
including, without limitation, any restriction on the voting, transfer, receipt of income or other exercise of any attributes of ownership, other than any
restrictions on transfer imposed under applicable securities law.
Section 4.

Guarantor's Covenants.

The Guarantor hereby covenants and agrees with the Secured Party that the Guarantor will:
(a)

defend the Collateral against all claims and demands of all persons at any time claiming any interest therein;

(b)
immediately notify the Secured Party of any event causing a substantial loss or diminution in the value of all or any material part
of the Collateral and the amount or an estimate of the amount of such loss or diminution;
(c)
the Collateral and any interest therein shall not be offered for sale or otherwise assigned, transferred or disposed, for so long as the
Security Interests shall exist, without the Secured Party's prior written consent;
(d)

keep the Collateral free from any adverse lien, security interest or encumbrance;

(e)
At the Secured Party's request, execute, acknowledge and deliver such further documents and instruments as the Secured Party may
from time to time reasonably request or require to confirm the Secured Party's Security Interests;
Section 5.

Events of Default.

The Guarantor shall be in default under this Security Agreement upon the occurrence of any one or more of the following events (each such event is
herein referred to as an "Event of Default"):
(a)
default by the Guarantor in the payment, observance or performance of any of the Obligations or any covenant or agreement herein
contained, including, without limitation, the Guarantor's obligations to pay when due any and all amounts owed to the Secured Party pursuant to the
Related Agreements, or breach by the Guarantor of any representation or warranty herein contained or therein; or

(b)
the occurrence of any default or "Event of Default" as defined in any other Related Agreement, or under the provisions of any
agreement now or hereafter securing the Note, or in any agreement now or hereafter evidencing or securing any of the Obligations.
Section 6.

Remedies Upon Event of Default.

(a)
If any Event of Default shall have occurred, the Secured Party may exercise all the rights and remedies of a secured party under the Uniform
Commercial Code, and, in this connection, the Secured Party may, and without liability for any diminution in price which may have occurred, sell all of the
Collateral, or any portion thereof, in such manner and for such a price as the Secured Party may determine in its sole discretion. At any bona fide public sale,
the Secured Party shall be free to purchase all or any portion of the Collateral for its own account, and no conflict of interest shall be deemed to arise by any
such purchase.
(b)
All rights and remedies contained herein shall be separate and cumulative and in addition to all other rights and remedies available to a
secured party under applicable law, and the exercise of one shall not in any way limit or prejudice the exercise of any other such rights or remedies.
Section 7.

Application of Collateral and Proceeds.

The proceeds of any sale of, or other realization upon, all or any part of the Collateral shall be applied in the following order of priorities:
(a)
first, to pay the expenses of such sale or other realization, including reasonable commission to the Secured Party's agent, and all
expenses, liabilities and advances incurred or made by the Secured Party in connection therewith, and any other unreimbursed expenses for which
the Secured Party is to be reimbursed pursuant to Section 8 hereof;
(b)

second, to the payment of the Obligations in such order and manner as the Secured Party, in its sole discretion, shall determine;

and
(c)
finally, unless applicable law otherwise provides, to pay to the Guarantor, or its successors or assigns, or as a court of competent
jurisdiction may direct, any surplus then remaining from such proceeds.
Section 8.

Expenses; Secured Party's Lien.

The Guarantor will forthwith upon demand pay to the Secured Party:
(a)
the amount of any taxes which the Secured Party may at any time be required to pay by reason of the Security Interests (including
any applicable transfer taxes and taxes payable in connection with the filing of financing statements to perfect the Security Interests) or to free any
of the Collateral from any lien thereon, and

(b)
the amount of any and all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees and the reasonable fees and
disbursements of any agents not regularly in its employ, which the Secured Party may incur in connection with (i) the preparation and administration
of this Security Agreement, (ii) the collection, sale or other disposition of any of the Collateral, (iii) the exercise by the Secured Party of any of the
powers, rights or remedies conferred upon it hereunder, or (iv) any default on the Guarantor's part hereunder.
Section 9.

Termination of Security Interests; Release of Collateral.

Upon the repayment and performance in full of all the Obligations and of the Note, the Security Interests shall terminate and all rights to the
Collateral shall revert to the Guarantor. Upon any such termination of the Security Interests or release of the Collateral, the Secured Party will, at the
Guarantor's expense to the extent permitted by law, execute and deliver to the Guarantor such documents as the Guarantor shall reasonably request to
evidence the termination of the Security Interests or the release of such Collateral, as the case may be.
Section 10.

Notices.

All notices, communications and demands hereunder shall be in writing and sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, or by
overnight delivery service, with all charges prepaid, to the applicable party or parties at the addresses set forth below, or by facsimile transmission (including,
without limitation, computer generated facsimile), promptly confirmed in writing sent by first class mail, to the facsimile numbers and addresses set forth
below:
(i)

If to Guarantor, to it at:

DubLi Properties, LLC
5200 Town Center Circle, Suite 601
Boca Raton, FL 33486
(ii)

If to Secured Party, to it at:

Michael Hansen,
The Palm Jumeirah
P.O. Box 283612
Dubai, U.A.E.
or, as to each party, at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a written notice to the other parties complying as to delivery with the terms
of this Section. All such notices and correspondence shall be deemed given upon the earliest to occur of (i) actual receipt, (ii) if sent by certified or registered
mail, three (3) business days after being postmarked, (iii) if sent by overnight delivery service, when received or when delivery is refused, or (iv) if sent by
facsimile, when receipt of such transmission is acknowledged.

Section 16.

Waivers; Non-Exclusive Remedies.

(a)
Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, the Guarantor hereby waives demand, notice, protest, notice of acceptance of this Security
Agreement, notice of loans made, credit extended, collateral received or delivered or other action taken in reliance hereon (and all other demands and notice
of any description). With respect to both the Obligations and the Collateral, the Guarantor hereby assents to any extension or postponement of the time of
payment or any other indulgence, to any substitution, exchange or release of the Collateral, to the addition or release of any party or person primarily or
secondarily liable, to the acceptance of partial payment thereon and the settlement, compromising or adjusting of any thereof, all in such manner and at such
time or times as the Secured Party may deem advisable.
(b)
Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, the Secured Party shall not have any duty as to the collection or protection of the
Collateral or any income thereon, nor as to the preservation of rights against prior parties, nor as to the preservation of any rights pertaining thereto. Except
as otherwise provided by applicable law, the Secured Party may exercise its rights with respect to the Collateral without resorting or regard to other collateral
or sources of reimbursement for liability. Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, the Secured Party shall not be required to marshal any present or
future security for (including, but not limited to, this Security Agreement and the Collateral subject to the Security Interests created hereby), or guaranties of,
the Obligations or any of them, or to resort to such security or guarantees in any particular order; and all of its rights hereunder and in respect of such security
and guarantees shall be cumulative and in addition to all other rights, however existing or arising. To the extent that it lawfully may do so, the Guarantor
hereby agrees that it will not invoke any law relating to the marshalling of collateral which might cause delay in or impede the enforcement of the Secured
Party's rights under this Security Agreement or under any other instrument evidencing any of the Obligations or under which any of the Obligations is
outstanding or by which any of the Obligations is secured or guaranteed, and to the extent that it lawfully may do so, the Guarantor hereby irrevocably
waives the benefits of all such laws.
(c)
No failure on the part of the Secured Party to exercise, and no delay in exercising, and no course of dealing with respect to, any right, power
or remedy under this Security Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise by the Secured Party of any right, power or
remedy under this Security Agreement preclude any other right, power or remedy. The remedies in this Security Agreement are cumulative and are not
exclusive of any other remedies provided by law, including any rights of setoff in favor of the Secured Party.
(d)
The Guarantor, to the extent it may lawfully do so, hereby consents to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Delaware and the United
States District Courts situate therein, as well as to the jurisdiction of all courts to which an appeal may be taken or other review sought from the aforesaid
courts, for the purpose of any suit or proceeding brought in connection with or with respect to this Security Agreement.
Section 17.

Waiver of Jury Trial.

EACH OF THE GUARANTOR AND THE SECURED PARTY HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION
BROUGHT ON OR WITH RESPECT TO THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT.
Section 18.

Changes in Writing.

Neither this Security Agreement nor any provision hereof may be changed, waived, discharged or terminated orally but only by a statement in
writing signed by the party against which enforcement of the change, waiver, discharge or termination is sought.
Section 19.

Florida Law.

This Security Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the state of Delaware applicable to contracts made and
performed in said state, except to the extent that remedies provided by the laws of any state other than Delaware or territory are governed by the laws of such
state or territory.

Section 20.

Severability.

If any provision hereof is invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, the other provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect in such
jurisdiction and shall be liberally construed in favor of the Secured Party.
Section 21.

Successors and Assigns.

This Security Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, including,
without limitation, any subsequent holders of the Note or any of the Obligations, each of whom shall, without further act, become a party hereto by becoming
a holder of the Note or such Obligations.
Section 22.

Headings.

The headings in this Security Agreement are for the purposes of reference only and shall not limit or otherwise affect the meaning hereof.
Section 23.

Counterparts.

This Security Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which
when so executed and delivered shall be an original, but all of which shall together constitute one and the same agreement.
(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.
Please see next two (2) pages for all signatures.)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Guarantor has executed this instrument as of the day and year first above written.
Signed, sealed and delivered

GUARANTOR:

in the presence of:
DubLi Properties, LLC
By:
Name:
Title:
STATE OF ___________________
COUNTY OF _________________
I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this day, before me, an officer duly authorized in the State and County aforesaid to take acknowledgments, personally
appeared _________________________________________, the _______________________________ of DubLi Properties, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company, and that she/he acknowledged executing the same voluntarily under authority duly vested in her/him by said limited liability company.
WITNESS my hand and official seal in the County and State last aforesaid, this March __, 2011.

(Notary Signature)

(Please affix Notary Seal)

(Print Name of Notary)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Secured Party has executed this instrument as of the day and year first above written.
SECURED PARTY:
WITNESSES:

Print Name:

Print Name:

Michael Hansen

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the use of our report dated March 30, 2011 related to financial statements of Media Group Technologies, Inc. for the years ended
September 30, 2010 and 2009, which appear in this Form 10-K.
/s/ Lake & Associates, CPA’s, LLC
Lake & Associates, CPA’s, LLC
Schaumburg, Illinois
March 30, 2011

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Michael Hansen, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
/s/ MICHAEL HANSEN
Michael Hansen
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: March 30, 2011

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Mark Mroczkowski, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
/s/ MARK MROCZKOWSKI
Mark Mroczkowski
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
Date: March 30, 2011

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, in connection with the filing of the Annual Report on
Form 10-K of MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned officer of the Company certifies that, to his knowledge:
the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as
of the dates and for the periods expressed in the Report.
/s/ MICHAEL HANSEN
Michael Hansen
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: March 30, 2011

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, in connection with the filing of the Annual Report on
Form 10-K of MediaNet Group Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned officer of the Company certifies that, to his knowledge:
the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of
the dates and for the periods expressed in the Report
/s/ MARK MROCZKOWSKI
Mark Mroczkowski
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
Date: March 30, 2011

